
Please note:  Certain or all items on this agenda may be recorded on tape 

 
Agenda compiled by: 
Governance Services 
Civic Hall 
LEEDS LS1 1UR 
Telephone No: 
 

 
Maria Lipzith 
 
 
 
247 4353 

Principal Scrutiny Adviser: 
Steven Courtney 
Telephone No:   247 4707 
 
 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

 
A 

 

 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (ENVIRONMENT AND NEIGHBOURHOODS) 
 

 
Meeting to be held in the Civic Hall, Leeds on 
Wednesday, 21st November, 2007 at 10.00 am 

 
A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board  

in a Committee Room at 9.30 am 
 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
Councillors 

 
B Anderson (Chair) - Adel and Wharfedale 

C Beverley - Morley South 

A Blackburn - Farnley and Wortley 

D Coupar - Middleton Park 

Mrs R Feldman - Alwoodley 

A Gabriel - Beeston and Holbeck 

D Hollingsworth - Burmantofts and 
Richmond Hill 

G Hyde - Killingbeck and 
Seacroft 

R Lewis - Pudsey 

A Ogilvie - Beeston and Holbeck 

L Rhodes-Clayton - Hyde Park and 
Woodhouse 

F Robinson - Calverley and 
Farsley 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

B 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 25 of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded.) 
 

 

2   
 

  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 
To identify items where resolutions may be moved 
to exclude the public. 
 

 

3   
 

  LATE ITEMS 
 
To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration. 
 
(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes.) 
 

 

4   
 

  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
To declare any personal / prejudicial interests for 
the purpose of Section 81 (3) of the Local 
Government Act 2000 and paragraphs 8 to 12 of 
the Members Code of Conduct. 
 

 

5   
 

  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

 

6   
 

  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
To receive and approve the minutes of the 
previous meeting held on 24th October 2007. 
 
 

1 - 6 



 

 
C 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

7   
 

  MINUTES OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 
 
To receive and note the minutes of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee Meeting held on 19th 
October 2007. 
 
 

7 - 12 

8   
 

  MINUTES OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 
To receive and note the minutes of the Executive 
Board meeting held on 11th September and 17th 
October 2007. 
 
 

13 - 
30 

9   
 

  PERFORMANCE REPORT QUARTER 2 2007/08 
 
To consider a report by the Head of Policy, 
Performance and Improvement presenting the key 
areas of under performance at the end of Quarter 2 
(1st July to 30th September 2007). 
 
 

31 - 
48 

10   
 

  OUTCOMES OF RESEARCH INTO THE 
HOUSING MARKET IN LEEDS 
 
To receive and note a report by the Head of 
Scrutiny and Member Development  on the 
outcomes of research into the housing market in 
Leeds. 
 
  
 

49 - 
62 

11   
 

  RODENT CONTROL IN LEEDS 
 
To receive and note the contents of the report 
regarding population of rats and mice in Leeds, the 
Pest Control Service, the contract with Rentokil, 
the current performance data and the 
improvements which are underway and proposed 
to be completed in the future. 
  
 

63 - 
76 



 

 
D 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

12   
 

  CO2 EMISSIONS 
 
To consider a report by the Head of Scrutiny and 
Member Development with regard to the recent 
Working Group meeting on the inquiry into the 
Council’s  own COs emissions and the associated 
reduction targets. 
 
 

77 - 
86 

13   
 

  WORK PROGRAMME 
 
To consider a report of the Head of Scrutiny and 
Member Development on the Board’s work 
programme. 
 
 

87 - 
96 

14   
 

  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 
Wednesday, 19th December 2007 at 10.00 a.m. 
(Pre-meeting for Board Members at 9.30 a.m.) 
 
 

 

 



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st November, 2007 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (ENVIRONMENT AND NEIGHBOURHOODS) 
 

WEDNESDAY, 24TH OCTOBER, 2007 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor B Anderson in the Chair 

 Councillors C Beverley, A Blackburn, 
D Coupar, Mrs R Feldman, R Lewis, 
A Ogilvie and F Robinson 

 
 
 

34 Declarations of Interest  
 

That the following personal interests were declared:  
 

• Councillor B Anderson in his capacity as Chair of West/North West 
Homes (Agenda Items 9, 10 & 11 – Minutes 40, 41 & 42 refers) 

• Councillor A Blackburn in her capacity as a Director of  West/North West 
Homes and a Director of Leeds Groundwork (Agenda Items 9, 10 & 11 – 
Minutes 40, 41 & 42 refers). 

• Councillor D Coupar in her capacity as a Member of Belle Isle Tenants 
Management Organisation. (Agenda Items 9, 10 & 11 – Minutes 40, 41 & 
42 refers). 

• Councillor D Hollingsworth in his capacity as a Director of East/North 
East Homes (Agenda Items 9, 10 & 11 – Minutes 40, 41 & 42 refers). 

• Councillor C Beverley in his capacity as a Member of Clean Morley 
Campaign (Agenda Item 10 – Minute 41 refers).  

 
 

35 Apologies for Absence  
 

An apology for absence was received on behalf of Councillor A Gabriel. 
 

36 Minutes of the Previous Meeting - 19th September 2007  
 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the last Scrutiny Board (Environment and 
Neighbourhoods) held on 19th September 2007 be confirmed as a correct 
record, subject to the inclusion of the word ‘proposed’ in one of the bullet 
points on Minute 26 as follows: 
 

• The Board requested the original full list of proposed sites for the 
proposed energy from waste plant. 

 
37 Matters Arising from the Minutes  
 

Members expressed concern that they had still not received a list of the 
original sites considered for the proposed energy from waste plant as 
requested at the last meeting of this Board. 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 1



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st November, 2007 

 

RESOLVED:-   That the Principal Scrutiny Adviser pursue this matter with the 
Executive Board Member for Environmental Services. 
 

38 Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Minutes  
 

RESOLVED -  That the minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
meeting held on 11th September 2007 be received and noted. 
 

39 Consultation on Strategic Outcomes and Improvement Priorities for the 
Leeds Strategic Plan  

 
The Board considered a report and presentation by the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Planning, Policy and Improvement) on the strategic outcomes and 
improvement priorities for the Leeds Strategic Plan. 
 
At Appendix 1 to the report a draft strategic outcomes and improvement 
Priorities for the Leeds Strategic Plan was also submitted. 
 
Dylan Griffiths, Project Manager (Policy) gave an overview of the Strategic 
Plan and, together with Neil Evans, Director of Environment and 
Neighbourhoods responded to Members’ questions and comments. 
 
The following issues were raised: 
 

• The need for more green spaces and floral work especially in the City 
Centre. 

• The need to concentrate on the educational needs of those children in 
deprived areas who often leave school being unable to read or write. 

• The need to concentrate more on narrowing the gap and how the Council 
intends to promote regeneration of the inner city areas.   

 
The Chair thanked Dylan Griffiths for the informative presentation. 
 
RESOLVED –  That the report and presentation be noted and that the Board’s 
comments be incorporated into the report to be submitted to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 
  
(Note:  Councillor A Ogilvie arrived at the meeting during consideration of the 
above item at approximately 10.10 a.m.). 
 

40 Voids and Empty Properties Update  
 

The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development and the Director of 
Environment and Housing submitted reports describing the current position 
with void properties within the ALMOs and empty properties within the private 
sector. 
 
Mandy Dove, ALMO Monitoring and Support Officer presented the Voids 
report and, together with Neil Evans, Director of Environment and 
Neighbourhoods, responded to Members’ questions and comments. 

Page 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st November, 2007 

 

 
In brief, the main issues raised were:- 
 

• Members were informed that the void figures in the report were a snapshot 
of the current position . 

• Members were informed that the average re-let time for void ALMO 
properties was approximately 38 days and that this figure had been much 
higher in 2006 as the average re-let time had then been 53 days. 

• Members were informed that the 531 void properties included in the 
planned regeneration scheme including Little London Private Finance 
Initiative (PFI) did not include tower block properties that are down for 
demolition.  

 
Members thanked officers for the information on the amount of void properties 
in the Middleton area and requested further details of the void properties on 
the Manor Farm estate.     
 
The Chair thanked Mandy Dove for her presentation. 
 
Andy Beattie, Deputy Chief Environmental Health Officer presented the report 
on the Empty Property Strategy – position update and, together with Neil 
Evans, Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods, responded to Members’ 
questions and comments. 
 
The following issues were raised: 
 

• The changing housing market and the effect this had on the incidence of 
empty properties in the private sector. 

• The need to lobby Central Government to encourage planning applications 
for bringing commercial buildings such as empty factories etc back into 
residential use. 

• The need for the Local Empty Property Forum to look at planning 
legislation. 

• The response from private landlords when asked to bring empty properties 
back into use. 

• Multiple occupation accommodation and buy to let properties that are 
currently affected by the changes in student accommodation provision. 

• The need to investigate how the Council might assist those needing bonds 
for private rented accommodation.   

• Pro-active work on empty properties in super output areas. 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the reports be received and the contents noted. 
(b) That Members be furnished with the figures for void properties in the 
 Manor Farm Estate.  
(c ) That further information on the schemes for empty properties in the 
 Cross Green and East End Park areas be circulated to members   
 
 

Page 3



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st November, 2007 

 

41 Street Cleansing and Britain's Cleanest City Award Update  
 

The Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods submitted a report outlining 
the progress being made with Streetscene Services and the progress on the 
Britain’s Cleanest City Awards. 
 
Graham Hollings, Streetscene Services, presented the report and, together 
with Neil Evans, Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods responded to 
Members’ questions and comments. 
 
In summary, the main issues raised were: 
 

• The need for more Enforcement action on people dropping litter to 
increase people’s awareness of on the spot fines.  

• The need for teaching about the dangers of dropping litter and the effect 
this has on animals. 

• The need for a co-ordinated and clear action plan to be developed for the 
cleaner city in the run up to the awards in 2009. 

• An explanation of the Council’s bid for the European Cleaner City Award 
and an indication of which areas of the City are to be considered for the 
next round of awards.  

• The Department’s current position with regard to the problem of dog 
fouling and what was being done with regard to enforcement issues to 
combat this problem. 

• The need to recognise from the experience gained during the Britain in 
Bloom competition where the City won a silver award for City in Bloom.   

• The Board requested an explanation of the core services and what 
changes are to be put in place in delivering those core services.   

• Members questioned the Department’s timetable for street gully 
cleansing as it seems to be an ongoing problem in every area of the city. 

• The need for both Streetscene and the ALMOs to work together in 
developing smaller cleaning teams to be responsible for their own area.  

 
The Chair thanked Graham Hollings for presenting the report at short notice. 
 
RESOLVED -   That the contents of the report be noted. 
 
 

42 Housing Letting Pressures - Terms of Reference  
 

The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report on the 
Inquiry into Housing Letting Pressures Draft Terms of Reference. 
 
Sharon Winfield, Principal Scrutiny Adviser presented the report and 
responded to Members’ questions and comments. 
 
The Chair informed the meeting that following discussions it was agreed that 
the inquiry should take into account factors that are wider than the Choice 
Based Lettings system, particularly the links between issues around 

Page 4



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st November, 2007 

 

affordable housing, the pressures on council-provided housing and the 
lettings process in general.  
 
RESOLVED -   
(a) That approval be given to the Terms of Reference for the Housing 
 Letting Pressures inquiry. 
(b) To agree that an invitation be extended to Yvette Cooper, Minister for 
 Housing. 
(c ) That the following Members be appointed to the Working Group: 
 
 Councillors B Anderson, A Gabriel, A Blackburn, D Hollingsworth and 
 R Lewis. 
 

43 Work Programme  
 

The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report on the 
Board’s current work programme and the Forward Plan of Key Decisions for 
October 2007 to January 2008. 
 
RESOLVED –   That the report and appendices be received and noted. 
 

44 Chair's Closing Remarks  
 

The Chair announced that this will be the last meeting of this Scrutiny Board 
for Sharon Winfield, Principal Scrutiny Adviser as she will leaving the employ 
of the Authority at the end of October.   
 

45 Date and Time of Next Meeting  
 

Wednesday, 21st November 2007 at 10.00 a.m. in the Civic Hall, Leeds (Pre-
meeting for Board Members at 9.30 a.m.). 
  
 
 
The Chair thanked everyone for their attendance.  The meeting concluded at 
approximately 11.45 a.m.  
 
 
 

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



Final minutes - approved at the meeting  
held on Tuesday, 6th November, 2007 

 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

TUESDAY, 9TH OCTOBER, 2007 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor P Grahame in the Chair 

 Councillors B Anderson, S Bentley, 
S Golton, T Hanley, A Harrison, W Hyde, 
E Minkin and R Pryke 

 
APOLOGIES Councillor  B Gettings 

 
 

39 Declaration of Interests  
 

The following Member declarations of interest were made: 
 
Agenda Item 9 (Minute No. 43 refers) – Planning Performance – Councillors 
Golton and Minkin – personal interests in their capacity as Members of Plans 
Panels. 
 
(NB: See also later Minute Nos 44 and 45) 
 

40 Minutes - 11th September 2007 and Matters Arising  
 

The draft minutes of the meeting held on 11th September 2007 were 
submitted for confirmation. 
 
(a) Debt Rescheduling (Minute No 29 refers) 
 Councillor Hanley requested that OSC Members be supplied as soon 

as possible with the additional information requested at the last 
meeting regarding an explanation of the dates that loans were taken 
out, paid off or rescheduled, and how this had led to accumulated 
savings of some £21.8m. The Head of Scrutiny and Member 
Development undertook to pursue this. 

 
(b) Work Programme and Draft Terms of Reference for Proposed Inquiries 

(Minute No 37 refers) 
 The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development confirmed that further 

names had been received to join the working group, the purpose of 
which would be to consider terms of reference for an Inquiry into 
ALMOs. The working group now comprised the Chair and Councillors 
Anderson,Bentley,Hanley,Harrison and Pryke. 

  
It was agreed that the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development would 
arrange for information supplied by the Chief Democratic Services Officer to 
Councillor Hanley when he was Labour Whip, relating to the operating costs 
of the Group Offices, to be circulated to all OSC Members. 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 7



Final minutes - approved at the meeting  
held on Tuesday, 6th November, 2007 

 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 11th September 2007 
be confirmed as a correct record. 
 

41 Minutes - Executive Board,11th September 2007  
 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the Executive Board meeting held on 11th 
September 2007 be received and noted. 
 

42 Leeds Strategic Plan  
 

Further to Minute No 33, 11th September 2007, the Committee considered a 
report submitted by the Assistant Chief Executive (Planning, Policy and 
Improvement) relating to the draft strategic outcomes and proposed 
improvement priorities outlined in the Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-2011.  The 
Committee also received a presentation on this subject. 
 
Steve Clough, Head of Policy, Performance and Improvement, and Dylan 
Griffiths, Chief Executive’s Department, attended the meeting and responded 
to Members’ queries and comments.  In brief summary, the main issues 
raised were:- 
 

• The need to link the budget process and the allocation of resources to the 
priorities and outcomes identified in the Plan and how this might be 
achieved; 

• The importance of ‘selling’ the plan to the public, not just the Council and 
its partner agencies, and how the public could get involved and feel part of 
the process; 

• The importance of the City’s transport infrastructure seemed to be 
downplayed. The need for greater influence at national level was remarked 
upon, but also the scope for doing relatively small initiatives locally, which 
cumulatively would make an impact; 

• A lack of reference to several issues which Members regarded as vital 
components of such a Strategic Plan was commented upon – pedestrians, 
children (too adult orientated?), tackling obesity and the link to diabetes, 
heart disease and strokes, substance abuse, the impact of refugees and 
asylum seekers on Council services; 

• The role of Members in the process – not merely as so-called ‘Community 
Champions’ but as leaders of change in terms of, for instance, planning 
matters and the design and quality of the built environment 

• Housing – the vast, unmet demand for social housing was commented 
upon.  The view was expressed that this would not be addressed by 
proposals to build 450 so-called ‘affordable’ homes per annum. 

 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That subject to the above broad comments and concerns expressed 

today, the report on the draft strategic outcomes and proposed 
improvement priorities for inclusion in the Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-
2011 be received and noted. 

Page 8



Final minutes - approved at the meeting  
held on Tuesday, 6th November, 2007 

 

(b) That the matter be referred back to OSC at its November meeting for 
further comment, following consideration of the Plan by all other 
Scrutiny Boards in the October cycle of meetings. 

(c) That a further report on the proposed targets and performance 
indicators to support the improvement priorities contained in the Plan 
be submitted to the January OSC meeting. 

 
43 Planning Performance  
 

Further to the Committee’s Inquiry into this area carried out during the 
2006/07 municipal year, culminating in the approval of a final report and 
recommendations at its meeting on 5th March 2007 (Minute No 87 refers), the 
Chief Planning Officer submitted a report updating the Committee on progress 
in implementing those recommendations. 
 
Phil Crabtree,  Chief Planning Officer, and Helen Cerrotti, City Development 
Department, attended the meeting and responded to Members’ queries and 
comments. In brief summary, the main issues discussed were:- 
 

• The Chief Planning Officer was congratulated on the content of the report 
and the progress which was being made to improve planning performance; 

• The Action Plan appended to the report and the make-up of the proposed 
cross-party Members’ and officers Working Group to oversee the process 
and the implementation of the Action Plan. The need for the involvement 
of the Party Whips in establishing this Working Group was emphasised, as 
was the need for OSC to still be involved in the monitoring process;  

• The need for greater consultation with Ward Members regarding what was 
regarded as a ‘significant’ matter which warranted referral to a Plans Panel 
– small, but sensitive, applications could still be regarded as significant at 
local level; 

• The importance of developing a digital model of the City in order that the 
likely impact of planning proposals could be more easily understood by 
Members and the public; 

• The greater emphasis on pre-application presentations, and the 
development of a protocol in this regard, were welcomed; 

• The employment of ‘community planning officers’ at Area Committee level, 
such as in the North West Area, was regarded as a good investment in 
terms of advising local Members, developers and the public; 

• The Government’s perception of Leeds as a Planning Authority, and 
whether or not this was influencing the outcome of appeals against 
planning decisions; 

• Whether the current balance of items referred to Plans Panels and those 
delegated to officers was in need of review? 

• The need to improve the administration of Plans Panel meetings in terms 
of the timing of items, venues, monitoring Members’ comings and goings 
and customer advice and information; 

 
RESOLVED –  

Page 9



Final minutes - approved at the meeting  
held on Tuesday, 6th November, 2007 

 

(a) That the report and Action Plan, together with the Committee’s 
comments, be referred to the Plans Panel Members for discussion and 
comment 

(b) That subject to the submission of regular update reports to OSC, the 
proposal to establish a joint cross-party Member and officer working 
group to monitor the Action Plan be endorsed 

(c) That OSC receive a further report in 6 months time. 
 
(NB: Councillor Anderson left the meeting at 12 noon, towards the end of this 
item) 
 

44 Direct Payments  
 

Further to Minute No 9, 4th June 2007 and Minute No 32, 11th September 
2007, the Committee received a briefing on direct payments from Mike Evans, 
Chief Officer - Adult Services, to assist the Committee in reaching a decision 
regarding whether or not to conduct an Inquiry into this issue. 
 
In brief summary, the main issues discussed were: 
 

• An explanation of how the current system of direct benefit payments to the 
public worked, which services the money could be used to purchase and 
why take-up in Leeds was currently low; 

• Police CRB checks in relation to carers employed by recipients of direct 
benefit payments and the monitoring arrangements for private firms 
providing these kind of services; 

• The current Improvement Plan introduced in April 2007 and a recent 
Internal Audit report on the service – OSC to receive this report and the 
Department’s Action Plan in response to the report; 

• The need for the Council to perhaps provide greater support and 
assistance for people wishing to claim direct payments, and the work 
carried out by the Armley Centre for Integrated Living to assist direct 
payment claimants; 

• Whether the payments could be used to pay for adaptations? It was stated 
that more usually the payments were used to purchase pieces of 
equipment, rather than adaptations. 

 
RESOLVED – That the Committee consider the Internal Auditor’s recent 
report, and the Department’s response, before deciding whether any further 
action is required and, if so, whether OSC or the Scrutiny Board (Health and 
Adult Social Care) should carry out an Inquiry. 
 
(NB: 1 Councillors Hanley and Pryke declared personal interests in this item 

in their capacity as members of Bramley Elderly Action and Leeds 
Care and Repair respectively; 

 
 2 Councillor Harrison left the meeting at 12.30 pm at the conclusion of 

this item) 
 

Page 10



Final minutes - approved at the meeting  
held on Tuesday, 6th November, 2007 

 

45 Scrutiny of the Budget - Financial Health Monitoring 2007/08 - Quarter 1 
Report  

 
The Committee considered the 2007/08 Quarter 1 Financial Monitoring report 
of the Director of Resources, submitted to the Executive Board on 22nd August 
2007. The purpose of this was to ascertain whether any areas required further 
scrutiny. 
 
Doug Meeson, Chief Officer – Financial Management, was present at the 
meeting and responded to Members’ queries and comments.  In brief 
summary, the main issues discussed were: 
 

• The net projected shortfall of £6m at this early stage of the financial year, 
and the projected savings to offset this; 

• The on-going efforts to ensure that OSC’s recommendations regarding the 
budget being linked to achieving the Council’s objectives and priorities are 
realised; 

• Disappointment was expressed at the need for the invocation of penalty 
clauses to the amount of £300,000 in respect of the PFI street lighting 
contract, due to non-compliance with agreed implementation timescales, 
so soon into this important project; 

• The Housing Revenue Account situation, incentive payments to ALMOs in 
relation to the quick reletting of void properties and the redistribution to 
ALMOs of savings generated  through a reduction in disrepair claims and 
bad debt costs in 2006/07. The former, void levels, had been the subject of 
a previous Board Inquiry, and this should be reviewed to ensure that 
ALMOs were reaching agreed targets. It was suggested that perhaps both 
these issues could be picked up as part of OSC’s proposed Inquiry into 
ALMO related areas; 

• The performance in respect of the prompt repayment of undisputed 
invoices. Councillor Hanley requested details of the number of disputed 
invoices be circulated to OSC Members – prompt payment was vital to 
many small local businesses; 

• The Local Authority Business Growth Incentive scheme, which allowed 
local authorities to benefit to a degree from business expansion in their 
area.  The current scheme was due to end in December; 

• In terms of the write-off of bad debts, Mr Meeson accepted the need to 
produce future evidence of a downward trend in this area; 

• The Council’s contingency plans for meeting its commitments under the 
equal pay claims currently being processed, and the Government’s 
agreement to allow local authorities to capitalise the costs and pay it back 
over 25 years. 

 
RESOLVED – That subject to the above comments, the report of the Director 
of Resources be received and noted. 
 
(NB: 1 Councillor Grahame declared a personal interest in respect of the 

discussion of PFI related issues in her capacity as a member of the 
Swardale Swarcliffe Eastwood Residents Association; 

Page 11



Final minutes - approved at the meeting  
held on Tuesday, 6th November, 2007 

 

 2 Councillor W Hyde left the meeting at 13.10 at the conclusion of this 
item) 

 
46 Recommendation Tracking  
 

The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report providing 
the Committee with an overview regarding the implementation of the 
recommendations of previous Inquiries carried out by Scrutiny Boards and 
highlighting any possible areas of concern (none on this occasion). 
 
A discussion ensued regarding the need to ensure that reports detailing 
progress on implementing Scrutiny Inquiry recommendations, whether by 
internal Departments or partner public sector organisations, gave clear and 
meaningful information. It was acknowledged that for their part, Scrutiny 
Boards should be ensuring that their recommendations were specific, 
measurable, achievable, realistic and time-bound. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

47 Work Programme  
 

The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a copy of the 
Committee’s work programme, updated to reflect decisions taken at previous 
meetings, together with a relevant extract from the Council’s Forward Plan of 
Key Decisions for the period 1st October 2007 to 31st January 2008. 
 
In response to Members’ queries  on the Forward Plan, the Head of Scrutiny 
and Member Development undertook to circulate to OSC Members further 
details relating to a future decision regarding lamppost advertising  and further 
information on the proposed formation of the Garforth Schools Trust. 
 
RESOLVED – That subject to the above, and any other changes necessary 
as a result of today’s meeting, the Committee’s work programme be 
approved. 
 

48 Dates and Times of Future Meetings  
 

Tuesday 6th November 2007 
Tuesday 11th December 2007 
Tuesday 8th January 2008 
Tuesday 5th February 2008 
Tuesday 11th March 2008 
Tuesday 8th April 2008 
 
All at 10.00 am (Pre-meetings at 9.30 am) 
 
 
 

Page 12



Minutes approved at the meeting  
held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2007 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 

TUESDAY, 11TH SEPTEMBER, 2007 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor M Harris in the Chair 

 Councillors A Carter, R Brett, J L Carter, 
R Finnigan, R Harker, P Harrand, J Procter, 
S Smith and K Wakefield  

 
   Councillor J Blake – Non voting advisory member 
 
 

61 Exclusion of Public  
RESOLVED  - That the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the agenda designated as exempt on 
the grounds that it is likely, in the view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of proceedings, that if members of the public were 
present there would be a disclosure to them of exempt information so 
designated as follows: 
 
(a) The appendix to the report referred to in minute 68 under the terms of 

Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) and on the grounds that 
the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information as disclosure would, or would be 
likely to, prejudice the commercial interest of the Council, in relation to 
the disposal of this property or other similar transactions about the 
nature and level of offers which may prove acceptable to the Council. 

 
 It is considered that whilst there may be a public interest in disclosure, 

much of this information would be publicly available from the Land 
Registry following completion of this transaction and consequently the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the public 
interest in disclosing the information at this point in time. 

 
(b) The appendix to the report referred to in minute 83 under the terms of 

Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) and on the grounds that 
the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information as disclosure of the shortlisted 
partners may be prejudicial to the competitive process resulting in a 
reduced income to the Council. 

 
62 Declaration of Interests  

Councillor Brett declared a personal interest in the item relating to the 
Children’s Services and Children’s Trust arrangements update (minute 70 
refers) as the Chair of the Children Leeds Partnership. 
 
Councillor J L Carter declared a personal interest in the item relating to the 
Development Proposals for Elland Road (minute 66 refers) as a member of 
the West Yorkshire Police Authority. 

Agenda Item 8

Page 13



Minutes approved at the meeting  
held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2007 

 

Councillor Harrand declared a personal interest in the item relating to the 
Future Ownership and Management of the Council’s Small Industrial Unit 
Portfolio (minute 83 refers) as an unpaid Director of a company managing a 
group of small industrial units. 
 
Councillor Harris declared personal interests in the items relating to Harehills 
Middle School and Hillside School, Beeston – Allocation of Grant to Tiger 11 
(minutes 81 and 82 refer) as a Fellow of Leeds School of Entrepreneurship. 
He also declared a personal and prejudicial interest in the item relating to the 
Development Proposals for Elland Road (minute 66 refers) in relation to his 
business interests. 
 
A further declaration of interest made during the meeting is referred to in 
minute 70 (Councillor Harker). 
 

63 Minutes  
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 22nd August 2007 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 
CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
 

64 Governing Body Proposal to Close St Gregory's Catholic Primary 
School in August 2008 Following the Publication of Statutory Notices  
The Chief Executive of Education Leeds submitted a report on the proposal 
by the Governing Body of St Gregory’s Catholic Primary School to close the 
school. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the changes to the legal requirements for the determination of 

proposals on school organisation be noted. 
(b) That the Governing Body proposal on the closure of St Gregory’s 

Catholic Primary School be referred to the schools adjudicator for 
determination. 

(c) That a further report be produced to determine the new arrangements 
for the determination of proposals on school reorganisation. 

 
65 Vacation and Occupation of Chair  

Councillor M Harris having declared a personal and prejudicial interest in the 
following minute vacated the Chair and left the room. 
 
Councillor A Carter assumed the Chair. 
 
DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 

66 Development Proposals for Elland Road  
Further to minute 215 of the meeting held on 14th March 2007 the Director of 
City Development submitted a report on the outcome of public consultation on 
the development proposals for the Elland Road site, presenting a proposed 
informal planning statement as a guide to future development proposals and 
on initial proposals for progress. 

Page 14



Minutes approved at the meeting  
held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2007 

 

RESOLVED –  
(a) That the outcome of the public consultation process on the 

development proposals for the Elland Road site be noted. 
(b)  That the informal planning statement presented as a guide to future 

development proposals for the Elland Road site be approved and note 
that it may be necessary to review the content of the information 
planning statement dependent upon the outcome of the major leisure 
interest shown in the site. 

(c) That the exploration of the potential and the implications for the 
provision of a park and ride facility on the site be approved. 

(d) That in principle the sale of the former Greyhound Stadium site at open 
market value to the West Yorkshire Police Authority as a site for their 
new Divisional HQ, subject to the final terms being agreed by the 
Director of City Development be approved. 

(e) That a proportion of the receipt from the Greyhound Stadium site and 
others arising from the Council disposals in the area covered by the 
informal planning statement may be required to facilitate the 
reconfiguration of car parking and the implementation of any 
infrastructure proposals required to facilitate the comprehensive 
redevelopment of the Elland Road site be noted. 

 
67 Re-Occupation of the Chair  

Councillor Harris re-entered the meeting and resumed the Chair 
 

68 The Former Headingley Primary School  
The Director of City Development and the Director of Environment and 
Neighbourhoods submitted a report on the request made by the Headingley 
Development Trust to transfer the former Headingley Primary School site to 
the Trust for less than best consideration for development as an enterprise 
and arts centre. 
 
Following consideration of the appendix to the report designated as exempt 
under Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) which was considered in 
private at the conclusion of the meeting, it was 
 
RESOLVED – That consideration of the request from Headingley 
Development Trust to transfer the former Headingley Primary School to the 
Trust be deferred to the November meeting of the Board. 
 
 
CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
 

69 Proposal to Make a Prescribed Alteration at Harehills Primary School  
The Chief Executive of Education Leeds submitted a report on the outcome of 
a formal consultation undertaken to make a prescribed alteration to 
permanently increase the admission number at Harehills Primary School from 
60 to 90 reception places. 
 
RESOLVED – That the publication of statutory notices to make a prescribed 
alteration to Harehills Primary School by permanently increasing the 

Page 15



Minutes approved at the meeting  
held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2007 

 

admission number from 60 to 90 reception places with effect from September 
2009 be approved. 
 

70 Children's Services and Children's Trust Arrangements Update  
Further to minute 182 of the meeting held on 9th February 2007 the Director of 
Children’s Services submitted a report on the development, implementation 
and impact of new children’s trust arrangements for Leeds 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the progress made in the implementation and impact of the 

children’s trust arrangements in Leeds since the February 2007 report 
be noted. 

(b) That the forthcoming challenges and opportunities in progressing these 
arrangements, particularly in relation to preparations for the 
forthcoming Joint Area Review in Leeds be noted. 

 
(Councillor Harker declared a personal interest in this matter as a member of 
the Children Leeds Partnership) 
 
 
NEIGHBOURHOODS AND HOUSING 
 

71 Lease at Less Than Best Consideration - Agreement to Lease 23 
Miscellaneous Properties to CANOPY on a 25 Year Lease Agreement  
The Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods submitted a report on a 
proposal to grant a long lease at less than best consideration of 23 Council 
owned miscellaneous properties to Canopy, for the purpose of refurbishment 
and improvement for accommodation for vulnerable tenants. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the contents of the report be noted. 
(b) That the lease of the 23 properties listed in the report to Canopy 

Housing Project at a peppercorn rent for a 25 year period at less than 
best consideration be approved. 

(c) That formal negotiations commence to complete the leasing 
arrangements with Legal and Democratic Services and Canopy. 

 
72 Update on the Regeneration of the Beverleys Area of Beeston  

Further to the minute 182 of the meeting held on 19th January 2005 the 
Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods submitted a report on the 
progress made on the Beverleys acquisition and demolition scheme. 
 
RESOLVED – That the expenditure of £5,960,000 of Regional Housing Board 
grant funding be authorised in order to continue the regeneration of the 
Beverleys area as planned. 
 

73 Gipton Home Buy Scheme  
Further to minute 212 of the meeting held on 17th February 2006 the Director 
of Environment and Neighbourhoods submitted a report on a proposed private 
equity model to fund an equity stake of up to 50% of the purchase price of a 

Page 16



Minutes approved at the meeting  
held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2007 

 

property, dependent upon the applicant being able to fund a conventional 
mortgage of at least 50% of the market price to purchase a home on the new 
development on the former Amberton Road/Lower Gipton Crescent site. 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That an injection of £1,308,014 fully funded by the sale of the land at 

Amberton Road/Lower Gipton Crescent to Gladesdale Homes be 
approved. 

(b) That expenditure of £1,308,014 be authorised. 
 
LEISURE 
 

74 Deputation to Council - Action Against Ragwort Group Regarding the 
Control of Ragwort  
The Chief Recreation Officer submitted a report in response to the above 
deputation to Council on 18th July 2007. 
 
RESOLVED – That the contents of the report be noted and the action taken to 
date to manage Ragwort and other invasive weeds on Leeds City Council 
land be approved. 
 

75 The London 2012 Olympics - Opportunities for Leeds  
The Director of City Development and Director of Leeds Initiative submitted a 
joint report outlining how Leeds can benefit from the London 2012 Olympic 
and Paralympic Games and detailing the structure and resource implications 
of developing and implementing the proposals. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the Council’s role in maximising the benefits for Leeds that the 

London 2012 Olympic and Paralmypic Games present be supported 
and approved. 

(b) That the additional financial requirements included in the report be 
noted, and that a source of funding will need to be identified from 
2008/09 be noted. 

(c) That the future arrangements detailed in the report to take forward this 
project be supported and approved. 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 
 

76 Waste Strategy  
Further to minute 96 of the meeting held on 18th October 2006 the Director of 
Environment and Neighbourhoods submitted a report on the Waste Strategy 
with particular reference to service developments proposed to enable Leeds 
to meet the combined recycling and composting rate of 50% by 2020. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That increasing the recycling target included in the Waste Strategy to 

‘greater than 50% by 2020’ be approved. 
(b) That the proposed recycling service developments, in particular the 

commitment to weekly collections of food waste be supported. 

Page 17



Minutes approved at the meeting  
held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2007 

 

(c) That the projected financial implications of the strategy be noted and 
that provision be included within the City Council’s future financial 
plans, commencing in 2008/09 financial year, subject to regular review. 

(d) That the Outline Business Case for a residual waste treatment facility 
currently being developed be noted and that the approval for its 
submission to DEFRA will be sought from Members at their next 
meeting on 17th October. 

 
NEIGHBOURHOODS AND HOUSING 
 

77 WykeBECC (Built Environment and Catalyst Centre) - Seacroft  
The Director of City Development and Director of Environment and 
Neighbourhoods submitted a joint report on a proposal to establish a Wyke 
Built Environment and Catalyst Centre on the site of the East Leeds Family 
Learning Centre and seeking to inject £1,295,000 into the City Development 
capital programme from the Local Enterprise Growth Initiative programme to 
cover the expenditure. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That an injection of an additional £1,295,000 into the City Development 

capital programme from the existing £15,600,000 LEGI programme be 
approved. 

(b) That the scheme as detailed in the report, at an estimated total cost of 
£1,295,000 be approved. 

(c) That the incurring of expenditure of £1,295,000 towards the purchase 
of the modular building, site preparation, fit out costs and associated 
fees to be met from the LEGI be authorised. 

 
LEISURE 
 

78 The Potential of Leeds Town Hall to become a First Class Concert Hall: 
Outcomes of feasibility study  
The Chief Libraries, Arts and Heritage Officer submitted a report outlining the 
findings of the study into the feasibility of developing Leeds Town Hall into a 
first class concert hall and to identify next steps. 
 
RESOLVED – That officers investigate the potential of putting together a 
mixed funding package to upgrade Leeds Town Hall to a first class concert 
hall and report back to Executive Board with the outcome of the 
investigations. 
 
 
DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 

79 Aire Valley Action Plan preferred options  
The Director of City Development submitted a report on plans to consult on 
the Preferred Options for the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan. 
 
 
 

Page 18



Minutes approved at the meeting  
held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2007 

 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Preferred Options for 

publication along with its Sustainability Appraisal and other supporting 
documents be approved. 

(b) That representations between 5th October and 16th November 2007 be 
formally invited. 

 
80 Proposed Refurbishment of City Centre Public Realm  

The Director of City Development submitted a report on the need for major 
investment in the city centre pedestrian area and adjacent streets on 
proposals for a co-ordinated strategy of refurbishment and maintenance. 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the contents of the report be noted. 
(b) That the principle of a co-ordinated programme of maintenance and 

improvements for street and public space refurbishment in the city 
centre pedestrian area as indicated in the report be agreed. 

(c) That officers work up a detailed programme of works, and progress 
funding proposals in accordance with the Council’s Financial 
Procedure Rules 

(d) That officers ascertain the costs and possible sources of funding of an 
enhanced maintenance and cleansing regime and an increased city 
centre patrol of uniformed Liaison Officers and report back to Executive 
Board on the outcome of these investigations. 

 
81 Harehills Middle School  

The Director of City Development submitted a report on a proposal to spend 
an additional £500,000 of the £4,700,000 of Local Enterprise Grown Initiative 
funding already included in the approved capital programme for a grant to 
allow Harehills Community Interest Company to refurbish Harehills Middle 
School. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the scheme, as detailed in the report, at a revised estimated total 

cost of £900,000 (£400,000 previously approved) be approved. 
(b) That the incurring of expenditure of £500,000 towards refurbishment of 

Harehills Middle School to be met from LEGI scheme 13303 in the 
approved capital programme be authorised. 

 
82 Hillside School, Beeston - Allocation of Grant to Tiger 11  

The Director of City Development submitted a report on a proposal to release 
an additional £400,000 of Local Enterprise Growth Initiative funding already 
included in the approved capital programme for a grant to allow Tiger 11 
(Together in Growth and Economic Regeneration in Leeds 11) to purchase 
and refurbish Hillside School to provide workspace and meeting rooms in 
Beeston. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the scheme as detailed in the report, at a revised estimated total 

cost of £600,000 (£200,000 previously approved) be approved. 

Page 19



Minutes approved at the meeting  
held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2007 

 

(b) That the incurring of expenditure of £400,000 towards purchase and 
refurbishment of Hillside school to be met from the LEGI scheme 
number 13303 in the approved capital programme be authorised. 

 
83 The Future Ownership and Management of the Council's Small Industrial 

Unit Portfolio  
Further to minute 57 of the meeting held on 21st September 2005, the Director 
of City Development submitted a report on the outcome of the marketing 
exercise that was undertaken  to establish the level of interest in the Council’s 
small industrial unit portfolio with a view to forming a partnership with the 
public, private or voluntary sectors, for the future ownership and management 
of the portfolio. 
 
Following consideration of the appendix to the report designated as exempt 
under Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) which was considered in 
private at the conclusion of the meeting it was 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That officers report back to Executive Board with a recommendation for 

a preferred and reserve bidder. 
(b) That the outcome of the marketing exercise be noted and the three 

short listed organisations detailed in the confidential Appendix II be 
approved. 

(c) That the list of properties for inclusion in the portfolio as detailed in 
Appendix III be agreed and that the Council will reserve the right to 
remove or add further properties to the list where appropriate. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
DATE OF PUBLICATION:  13TH SEPTEMBER 2007 
LAST DATE FOR CALL IN: 21ST SEPTEMBER 2007 
 
 
(Scrutiny Support will notify Directors of any items called in by 12 noon on 
Monday 24th September 2007) 
 
 
 

Page 20



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 14th November, 2007 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY, 17TH OCTOBER, 2007 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor M Harris in the Chair 

 Councillors A Carter, R Brett, J L Carter, 
R Finnigan, R Harker, P Harrand, J Procter, 
S Smith and K Wakefield  
 
Councillor J Blake – Non-voting Advisory Member 

 
 
 

84 Exclusion of Public  
RESOLVED – That the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the agenda designated as exempt on 
the ground that it is likely, in the view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of proceedings, that if members of the public were 
present there would be a disclosure to them of exempt information so 
designated as follows: 
 
(a) Appendix 1 to the report referred to in minute 90 under the terms of 

Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) and on the grounds that 
the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information as the information relates to the 
financial or business affairs of a third party and of the Council and the 
release of such information would be likely to prejudice the interests of 
both parties. 

 
(b) The annexe to the report referred to in minute 91 under the terms of 

Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) and on the grounds that 
the information relates to the financial or business affairs of the 
Council.  It is considered that the release of such information could 
prejudice the Council’s commercial interests in relation to the disposal 
of this property or other similar transactions about the nature and level 
of offers which may prove acceptable to the Council.  It is considered 
that whilst there may be a public interest in disclosure, much of this 
information will be publicly available from the Land Registry following 
completion of this transaction and consequently the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing 
this information at this point in time. 

 
(c) The final appendix to the report referred to in minute 101 under the 

terms of Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(1) and (2) and on 
the ground that the public interest in maintaining this appendix as 
exempt outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information 
because it refers to matters at a preliminary stage which may at some 
future point have a significant impact on certain schools. Disclosure of 
the information at this time could lead to speculation prejudicial to the 

Page 21



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 14th November, 2007 

 

duty of Education Leeds to secure improvement and increased 
confidence in schools which would be prejudicial to the public interest. 

 
(d) Appendices 1 and 2 to the report referred to in minute 88 under the 

terms of Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) and on the 
grounds that the information relates to the financial or business affairs 
of a particular person and of the Council. This information is not 
publicly available from the statutory registers of information kept in 
respect of certain companies and charities.  It is considered that since 
this information was obtained through inviting offers for the property/ 
land then it is not in the public interest to disclose this information at 
this point in time as this could lead to random competing bids which 
would undermine this method of inviting bids and affect the integrity of 
disposing of property/land by this process. Also it is considered that the 
release of such information would or would be likely to prejudice the 
Council’s commercial interests in relation to other similar transactions 
in that prospective purchasers of other similar properties could obtain 
information about the nature and level of offers which may prove 
acceptable to the Council.  It is considered that whilst there may be 
public interest in disclosure, much of this information will be publicly 
available from the Land Registry following completion of this 
transaction and consequently the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing this information at 
this point in time. 

 
85 Declaration of Interests  

Councillors Blake, Harrand and J Procter declared personal interests in the 
item relating to City Varieties Music Hall (minute 90) as members of the Grand 
Theatre Board of Management. 
 
Councillors Blake and Harrand declared personal interests in the item relating 
to Local Implementation of the National Framework for Continuing NHS Care 
(minute 89) as a PCT member and as a governor of Leeds Mental Health 
Trust respectively. 
 
Councillor Wakefield declared a personal interest in the item relating to 
Secondary and Post 16 Provision in Leeds (minute 101) as a member of the 
Learning and Skills Council and Councillor Finnigan a personal interest in the 
same item as a governor of Joseph Priestley College. 
 

86 Minutes  
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 11th September 2007 
be approved. 
 
DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 

87 Holt Park District Centre and Tinshill Recreation Ground  
Referring to minute 34 of the meeting held on 6th July 2005 the Director of City 
Development submitted a report on public consultation on the Holt Park 
District Centre regeneration proposals, proposed progression of the 

Page 22



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 14th November, 2007 

 

proposals, issues with regard to the proposed fencing of 2 pitches at Tinshill 
Recreation Ground in association with the new Ralph Thoresby High School, 
including a response to the deputation to Council and seeking endorsement to 
the fencing of the pitches. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the development of regeneration options at Holt Park District 

Centre be progressed on the basis of the inclusion of the former Ralph 
Thoresby High School site within the overall redevelopment area 

(b) That the outcome of public consultation on the proposed regeneration 
of Holt Park District Centre and the fencing of two pitches at Tinshill 
Recreation Ground be noted 

(c) That a 1.8 metre high, steel mesh fence with four gates to the two 
pitches at Tinshill Recreation Ground adjacent to Farrar Lane, be 
procured and erected. 

(d) That a report be brought back to this Board detailing the terms for 
access to the two fenced pitches both for organised sport and general 
public access. 

 
           (Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5 Councillor 

Wakefield required it to be recorded that he voted against this decision) 
 
LEISURE 
 

88 The Mansion, Roundhay Park - Offers for Redevelopment Opportunity  
The Director of City Development submitted a report on the outcome of the 
marketing exercise of the Roundhay Mansion seeking a third party operator 
for the café/restaurant/bar/function rooms at the property. 
 
The report gave detail in relation to the following options: 
 
1 Do nothing 
2 Accept an offer from one of the offerors, subject to agreement on the 

lease 
3 Repeat the marketing exercise for a third party operator 
4 Expend further Council capital on stripping out and providing a shell for 

the commercial element of the development and then repeat the 
marketing exercise for a third party operator 

5 Consider and pursue alternative uses for the Mansion 
6 Consider the remarketing of the opportunity on the basis that the 

Council will make a contribution towards the cost of the initial capital fit 
out works. 

 
Following consideration of appendices 1 and 2 (appendix 2 being circulated at 
the meeting) designated as exempt under Access to Information Procedure 
Rules 10.4(3), which were considered in private at the conclusion of the 
meeting, it was 
 
RESOLVED – That the site be remarketed on the basis of option 6 as referred 
to above and as set out in the report, following further investigation of costs of 

Page 23



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 14th November, 2007 

 

refurbishment and that a further report on offers received be brought to this 
Board at the appropriate time. 
 
ADULT HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE 
 

89 Local Implementation of the National Framework for Continuing NHS 
Care  
The Director of Adult Social Services submitted a report on the adoption of the 
new national framework by the Health and Social Care Community in Leeds 
with effect from 1st October 2007. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted and that the formal local adoption of 
the National NHS Continuing Care Policy with effect from 1st October 2007 be 
endorsed. 
 
DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 

90 City Varieties Music Hall  
Further to minute 178 of the meeting held on 9th February 2007 the Director of 
City Development submitted a report on the successful Stage 1 bid to the 
Heritage Lottery Fund for £3,000,000 to assist with funding the refurbishment 
of the City Varieties Music Hall and on proposals to progress the scheme. 
 
Following consideration  of appendix 1 to the report designated as exempt 
under Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in 
private at the conclusion of the meeting, it was 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the successful £3,000,000 Stage 1 bid to the Heritage Lottery 

Fund be noted and that preparation of the Stage 2 application be 
commenced. 

(b) That work on the project be continued during the Stage 2 application 
assessment period. 

(c) That the issues with regard to the acquisition of third party property be 
noted and that agreement be given to the principle of making a 
Compulsory Purchase Order should progress on outstanding matters 
be not satisfactory, subject to a report being brought back to this Board 
should it become necessary for the Council to pursue such a course of 
action. 

(d) That the Leeds Grand Theatre and Opera House Ltd Board of 
Management be invited to commence their fundraising campaign. 

 
(The urgent need to progress the Stage 2 bid to the HLF precluded this 
decision from eligibility for Call In). 
 

91 Otley Civic Centre  
The Director of City Development submitted a report on the alternatives 
available to address the future of Otley Civic Centre and offering a proposal 
as to how the City Council could support the Town Council in the 
implementation of the Town Council’s preferred option. 

Page 24



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 14th November, 2007 

 

 
The report outlined a number of options: 
 
1 To do nothing 
2 To undertake repairs to the external fabric of the Civic Centre 

independent of any action by the Town Council 
3 To progress one of the following options identified in the feasibility 

study: 

• Refurbishment of the existing Civic Centre in its present form 

• Refurbishment and expansion of capacity of the existing Civic 
Centre (the Town Council’s preferred option) 

• Building a new Civic Centre on an, as yet unidentified site 

• Partial conversion and new build of a property at North Parade 

• To split the existing centre and construct a new hall at North 
Parade 

 
Following consideration of the annexe to the report designated as exempt 
under Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in 
private at the conclusion of the meeting, it was 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the Director of City Development make a formal approach to Otley 

Town Council with an offer from the City Council to transfer the 
freehold of the Civic Centre following its refurbishment on the basis of 
the costs of the refurbishment programme being shared by the two 
Councils as set out in the confidential annexe to the submitted report. 

(b) That the Director of City Development report back to this Board with 
the outcome of that approach and, if appropriate, submit a request for a 
fully funded injection into the Capital Programme for the refurbishment 
works. 

(c) That approval be given to the ring-fencing of the capital receipt from 
the disposal of the North Parade site towards the implementation of the 
refurbishment works subject to the Town Council agreeing to share this 
cost as set out in the confidential annexe to the report. 

 
CENTRAL AND CORPORATE 
 

92 Creation of the Leeds Award  
The Chief Democratic Services Officer submitted a report on the proposed 
creation of the ‘Leeds Award’ to recognise people who have brought credit to 
the City. 
 
RESOLVED – That the creation of the ‘Leeds Award’ be approved and that 
the administration of the Award be as detailed in the submitted report. 
 

93 A Memorials Policy  
The Director of City Development submitted a report on the proposed 
adoption of a policy on honouring citizens of Leeds with a memorial. 
 
 

Page 25



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 14th November, 2007 

 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That a Memorial Panel as described in paragraph 4.1 of the submitted 

report be established to agree the criteria for honouring Leeds citizens 
with a memorial and to consider applications for memorials. 

(b) That all memorials take the form of a suitable inscription engraved in 
the flagstones of Merrion Gardens. 

(c) That these arrangements should not preclude an alternative memorial 
in the specific circumstances of a given case. 

 
94 Single Managed Fraud Team  

The Director of Resources submitted a report on a proposal to establish a 
single-managed Counter-fraud Service for Leeds in conjunction with Job 
Centre Plus and in relation to the full range of benefits administered by the 
two organisations. 
 
RESOLVED – That approval be given to the establishment of a single 
managed fraud team that will see operational management provided by Job 
Centre Plus and strategic management provided by a Joint Management 
Board. 
 

95 Progress Report on the PPP/PFI Programme in Leeds  
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report giving a 6 monthly update on 
progress of PPP/PFI project and programmes and the implementation of the 
governance framework. 
 
RESOLVED – That the current status of PPP/PFI projects and programmes 
together with the information on management of attendant risks be noted. 
 
NEIGHBOURHOODS AND HOUSING 
 

96 Burley Lodge Group Repair  
The Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods submitted a report on the  
Burley Lodge Group Repair external enveloping scheme intended to extend 
the life of 52 properties by 30 years.  The report further indicated that it was 
also anticipated that 11 miscellaneous ALMO properties within the area would 
also be similarly improved subject to approval by the West North West 
Housing Ltd Board. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the injection into the Capital Programme of £2,311,163 of 

Regional Housing Board funding and £256,959 from owner occupiers 
be approved. 

(b) That Scheme Expenditure to the amount of £2,567,959 be authorised. 
(c) That a report on progress of the scheme be brought to a future meeting 

of this Board. 
 

97 Home Improvements  
The Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods submitted a report on 
progress to help homeowners to improve their homes and on a proposal to 

Page 26



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 14th November, 2007 

 

spend £1,300,000 government grant for the remaining elements of the 
scheme. 
 
RESOLVED – That expenditure of £1,300,000 of Regional Housing Grant 
funding for this scheme be authorised. 
 
CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
 

98 Time for Change White Paper  
The Director of Children’s Services submitted a report on the significant 
reforms proposed for Looked After Children in the White Paper and on the 
current position in Leeds in terms of both current work and work planned for 
the future in response to this. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report, tabulation of impact assessment and proposed 
future actions be noted. 
 
CENTRAL AND CORPORATE 
 

99 Arrangements Post the Abolition of the Schools Organisation 
Committee  
The Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate Governance) submitted a report on 
options available to the Council to decide upon proposals formerly dealt with 
by the School Organisation Committee. 
 
The report presented the options of 
 

• Executive Board to make the decision 

• Executive Board to make the decision following recommendation of an 
Advisory Board 

• An officer to whom the authority has been delegated to make the 
decision or 

• An officer to whom authority has been delegated to make the decision 
following recommendation of an Advisory Board 

 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the Executive Board makes decisions on all statutory proposals 

where they have the responsibility to do so as set out in appendix A to 
the report. 

(b) That where there are objections to proposals they be first referred to an 
Advisory  Board for a recommendation to be made to the Executive 
Board. 

(c) That an Advisory Board be set up to advise the authority on proposals 
(d) That the draft Standing Orders at appendix B of the report be adopted 

as the Standing Orders for the Advisory Board. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 14th November, 2007 

 

CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
 

100 Annual Report on the September 2007 Admission Round for Community 
and Controlled Schools  
The Chief Executive of Education Leeds submitted a report giving statistical 
information in relation to the admissions process and highlighting issues 
which need to be addressed for the 2008 admission round. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

101 Transforming Secondary and Post-16 Provision in Leeds  
The Director of Children’s Services and the Chief Executive of Education 
Leeds submitted a joint report on proposed consultation on an approach to 
the transformation of secondary and post-16 provision in Leeds. 
 
A four page appendix, circulated with the agenda as exempt, was circulated at 
the meeting in a revised form which included two pages of open information 
and two pages of exempt information.  In introducing the item the Executive 
Member (Learning) indicated that all references to “The Central Leeds School 
Improvement and Learning Alliance” should be amended to read “The Leeds 
Learning Alliance”. 
 
Following consideration of the two page final appendix to the report 
designated as exempt under Access to Information Procedure Rules 10.4(1) 
and (2), which was considered in private at the conclusion of the meeting it 
was 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That consultation be undertaken on the following: 

• The Transforming Secondary and Post-16 Provision in Leeds 
paper 

• The Academies in Leeds paper 
(b) That the publication of the Central Leeds School Improvement and 

Learning Alliance prospectus be approved. 
(c) That the progress being made with the Learning and Skills Council 

Review be noted and that a further report be brought to this Board in 
November commenting as part of the formal consultation on the 
Learning and Skills Council preferred way forward. 

(d) That further reports be brought to this Board outlining the outcome of 
consultation and expressions of interest in joining the Alliance and 
sponsoring any Academies in Leeds. 

 
102 Progress of South Leeds High School, October 2007  

The Chief Executive of Education Leeds submitted a report summarising the 
recent progress of South Leeds High School. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
(a) That the report and the need for continued support for the school be 

noted. 

Page 28



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 14th November, 2007 

 

(b) That the Scrutiny Board (Children’s Services) be requested to examine 
the processes whereby Key Stage Four results are initially published 
with a view to ensuring that the level of risk that incorrect results may 
be published are minimised. 

 
 
DATE OF PUBLICATION:  19TH OCTOBER 2007 
LAST DATE FOR CALL IN: 26TH OCTOBER 2007 (5.00 PM) 
 
 
(Scrutiny Support will notify Directors of any items called in by 12 noon on 
Monday 29th October 2007) 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



Page 30

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 
Report of the Head of Policy, Performance and Improvement 
 
Meeting: Environment and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Board 
 
Date:  21st November 2007 
 
Subject:  Performance Report Quarter 2 2007/08 
 

        
 
 
1 Executive Summary  

1.1 This report discusses the key performance issues considered to be of corporate significance 

identified for the Environment and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Board as at end September 2007.  

In addition, the report also includes a predicted CPA score for 2007/08 and a performance table 

detailing all PI’s for this Board. 

2 Purpose of the Report 
 
2.1 The purpose of this report is to present the key areas of under performance at the end of 

Quarter 2 (1st July to 30th Sept 2007). 
 
3 Background Information 
 
3.1 This ‘highlight report’ has been prepared in readiness for the Accountability process, which 

includes the CLT meeting on 30th October 2007, Leader Management Team on 1st November 
2007 and Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 6th November; separate reports will be 
prepared for each of the scrutiny boards in readiness for the November cycle of meetings. 

 
3.2 The issues discussed in this report have been identified because performance in these areas 

impacts upon one or more of the following; the delivery of effective services, the delivery of our 
corporate priorities; our CPA score; or our ability to deliver efficiency savings.  This report is 
supported by detailed PI information.  

 
3.3 Any improvement in assessment scores should potentially have a positive impact on the 

council’s Direction of Travel assessment and overall CPA Star Rating. 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
 

 

 

Originator: 
Steve Clough 
Tel:  74582 

Agenda Item 9

Page 31



 2 

4 CPA Performance issues 
 
4.1 The table below summarises our predicted CPA scores for February 2008.  
 
    Level 1 Services Level 2 Services 

 Direction 
of Travel 

Star 
Category 

Corporate 
Assessment 

Use of 
Resources 

Children 
& 
Young 
People 

Social 
Care 
(Adults) 

Benefits Culture 
Service 
Assessment 

Environment 
Service 
Assessment 

Housing 
Service 
Assessment 

CPA 2006 
 

Improving 
Adequately 

3 star 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 

CPA 2007 
(provisional) 

 3 star 3 
 

3 3 3 3 2 3 3 

 
4.2 The CPA 2007 provisional score is based on, the category scores allocated in 2006, and our 

best informed judgement of our performance over the last year.  This information will be 
updated as and when assessment scores are confirmed during 2007/08. Scores highlighted in 
grey have been confirmed. 

 
4.3 The provisional CPA 2007 Service Assessment scores for Culture, Environment and Housing 

are included in each Accountability report.  These are mainly based on 2006/07 year-end 
performance indicator returns, however there are a number of instances where other methods 
are used.   

 
4.4 The Audit Commission have confirmed the PIs which are to be included in the 2007  CPA 

Service Assessments and the thresholds to be used to calculate the scores.  The above scores 
have been updated to reflect this.  The Culture score is still giving us some concern as we 
hover between a 2/3 score. The eventual outcome on this will depend on the results of specific 
PIs, for which we are still waiting.  

 
4.5 At this stage we are unable to make an informed judgement as to our predicted Direction of 

Travel score. 
 
4.6 For a more detailed breakdown of the CPA service assessment scores please see Appendix 1. 
 

5 Scrutiny Board Performance Issues 
5.3 Environment and Neighbourhoods 
5.3.1 Abandoned Vehicles (BV218a and BV218b)  
The council is working in partnership with the Police on abandoned vehicles and a police officer has 
been seconded to the council to work on this project until March 2008. However, in the year to date, 
there have been issues on performance through the unavailability of police resources (sickness and 
retirement) which look set to continue. For this reason, the annual predicted performance has been 
changed to 90%. 
 
It should be noted that prior to these resourcing issues, the partnership with the police was working 
well and the number of days that an abandoned vehicle is on the street has fallen from an average of 
8 days to just 3.5 hours. As this partnership is funded by NRF (which runs out in March 2008), there 
may be an adverse effect on performance in future years.  
 
With regard to part b of this indicator, the council uses a contractor based in Doncaster (Doncaster 
Motor Spares) for the removal of abandoned vehicles. 
 
Performance has deteriorated in the first five months of the year due to the effects of the flooding 
experienced in June and July. The contractor was unable to maintain its level of performance due to 
their premises being flooded and the need to provide assistance to local priorities.  
 
This resulted in a minor number of vehicles being picked up outside the 24 hour time window.  
Although performance is expected to improve over the coming months it is unlikely that the service 
will achieve its year end target. As such, the annual predicted performance figure has been revised to 
86%. 
 

Page 32



 3 

5.3.1 Street Lighting (BV215a and BV215b)  
The Street Lighting Contract started on 1st July 2006 and SEC is the contractor appointed to deliver 
the street lighting PFI on behalf of the council. 
 
The data quality concerns highlighted in the previous report have been eased somewhat. Further 
auditing of the data used to calculate performance show that the quality of data is improving and we 
can have greater confidence in the figures presented. Also, system improvements have been made 
to make the process of calculating this PI easier and further developments are expected, which 
should further improve our confidence in the data provided. As a result, our data quality concerns 
have reduced from ‘significant’ in quarter 1 to ‘some’ in quarter 2. 
 
In terms of maintenance work, the average number of days taken to repair a street lighting fault has 
improved markedly on the previous year. However, performance is still below the target set for the 
year. This is as a result of staff being shifted from maintenance to the core investment programme 
leading to a backlog of maintenance jobs. This has been addressed by the recruitment of additional 
staff. These measures are part of the SEC Improvement Plan and the Plan has been presented to 
and agreed by the council (including CLT and LMT). 
 
In addition, in the first few months of the year, there were still a small number of jobs that had been in 
the system for some time and were only closed off in this quarter. This significantly increased the 
number of days used in the calculation of this PI. This issue has been raised with SEC and they are 
developing processes to improve the management of maintenance work. 
 
The core investment programme continues on target with the achievement of the milestone to install 
8,788 columns within the first year of the project, although the target date was postponed by 10 days 
due to the severe weather experienced in June and July. 
 
The Director of City Services will continue to closely monitor and manage the contract and keep the 
Executive Member for Development and Regeneration and the City Services PFI Board appraised of 
progress. 
 
 
 
5.3.2 Graffiti (BV199b)  
Levels of graffiti have increased compared to the same period last year. An explanation for this is the 
timings of the surveys and the areas surveyed. Both Hyde Park & Woodhouse and Headingly were 
surveyed in the early part of the year. Traditionally, as recognised by ENCAMS, graffiti levels are 
prevalent in areas with a high student population. In order to combat these problems, a hot spot team 
is operational in the inner North West area but the team often find that as quickly as they remove 
graffiti in these areas, it reappears.  
 
However, although our performance has deteriorated, further analysis shows that our performance 
only narrowly fell below an acceptable level. In addition, a task group is in the process of being set up 
with the aim of using the wider DLEQS survey (a more extensive survey which uses multiple 
indicators of cleanliness from which BV199 is derived) to identify issues that need addressing, such 
as this. 
 
It is expected that our score will improve in future surveys but we have adjusted the predicted year 
end result to 8%.  
 
5.3.3 Crime  
In the case of crime, comparisons with the All England top quartiles are not particularly appropriate or 
helpful as we are not comparing like with like.  A better comparison is with core cities, but even then 
local differences tend to distort the picture.  It is better then to look at the reductions in crime 
achieved over time compared with other crime and disorder reduction partnership areas prioritised by 
the Home Office for crime reduction activity (CDRPs). The Police set an ambitious target to reduce 
overall crime levels by 35% between 2003/4 and 2007/8, whereas the Government requirement was 
only a 20% reduction for CRDP areas and, whilst we are unlikely to achieve the 35% reduction 
target, a 27.9% reduction so far (and a predicted year end position of 29.7%) reduction is a 

Page 33



 4 

significant achievement, equivalent to 21,938 fewer offences.  This means we have had the second 
highest reduction out of the 44 priority CDRP areas. 
 
 
5.3.4 Drugs 
We continue to help a significant number of adult drug misusing offenders get out of crime and into 
treatment and through a multi-agency approach ensuring that they get other wrap-around support 
they need.  At the end of August we had 3014 adult drug misusing offenders in treatment and current 
predictions are that this will increase to 3700 by the end of the year which is in line with our target.  At 
the end of August, 79% were in treatment for twelve weeks or more which equals last year’s 
performance and current predictions are that 82% will be retained by the year end, slightly below our 
target of 85%. Taking this approach continues to be cost effective – it is estimated that for every £1 
spent on treatment, at least £9.50 is saved in crime and health costs.   We have also been improving 
our case management and are beginning to make a greater impact on some of the causes as well as 
the symptoms of their offending behaviour.   Users who were already on our caseload but who were 
continuing to commit crimes and record more than three positive drug tests over a three month 
period are elevated to High Crime Causing User status (HCCU) and we provide them with more 
intensive support from designated workers.  By June 2007 we were working with approximately 24 
HCCU clients and analysis of the offending patterns of this client group has shown that there has 
been an 81.7% reduction in arrests for trigger offences compared to the situation in the six months 
prior to them becoming HCCU clients. 
   
5.3.5  Housing Decency 
At the end of quarter two this year, 66% of Council homes met the Decent Homes Standard, and 
ALMOs are working towards achieving 100% decency by the end of 2010/11.  Of the remaining 
capital resources of £365m up to the end of 2010/11, 46% of these resources are available in 
2007/08. However, due to the elemental approach taken by ALMOs to completing decency work, it is 
unlikely that there will be significant increase in the number of properties becoming decent until 
2008/09 and 2009/10. On this basis Leeds’ is currently projecting 75% decency at the end of 
2007/08, 85% at the end of 2008/09, 93% at the end of 2009/10 and 100% at the end of 2010/11.  
 
 
6 Recommendations 

6.3 It is recommended that the Environment and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Board considers the 
Quarter 2 performance information and highlight any areas for further scrutiny. 

 
 
 

Page 34



1 

Accountability Reporting Guidance 
  

 

 
Column No. 

 
Column Title Key Description Colour Code 

1 Reference 

An indicator can have multiple references allowing it to be identified for different purposes. E.G. indicators included 
in the CPA assessment are prefixed with CPA. 
 
Listed below are the prefixes used to identify the different indicators types. 
 
CPA – The indicator is included in the CPA Assessment 
BV – The indicator is part of the Best Value suit of indicators 
LKI – This indicator is one of Leeds Local Key Indicators 
CP – This indicator supports objects within the Corporate Plan 
LAA – This indicator is part of the Local Area Agreement. 

4 Frequency and Measure 
This column identifies how frequently the performance information is collected, E.G. Annually. 
This column also identifies if the data is a % a Number (No.) or collected in days etc…  

5 Good Performance 
This column identifies if the performance information in columns 6,7 and 8 should increase or decrease if the service 
is performing well. You may also see yes or no in this column. There are a number of performance indicators where 
the audit commission do not specify if the results should rise or fall, for these indicators good performance is N/A.  

 
8 

 
Current position 

The blue shading identifies that data is not available, this will be for one of two 
reasons. 

1. The indicator is reported annually, this can be identified by checking 
the frequency column 

2. The information was not available by the reporting deadline, in this 
case there will be an explanation in the comments column. 

 

 
Predicted Full year result Will meet target 
 

 

 
Although the full year result Will Not meet target, a tolerance has been set 
which scores the indicator as amber. 
 

 
 
9 

 
Predicted Full Year Result 

 
Predicted Full year result Will Not meet target 
 

 

 
Improvement in performance year on year 
 

↑ 

 
Decline in performance year on year 
 

↓  
10 
 

 
Year on Year Improvement 

 
No improvement or decline in performance year on year 
 

↔ 

 
Leeds performance = Top Quartile 
 

 

 
Leeds performance = Median Quartiles 
 

  
11 
 

 
All England Top Quartile  
Based on 2005/06 Year 
end data 
 
Satisfaction indicators are 
based on the 2006/07 
quartile information. 
 
(Will be updated for 
2006/07 in January 2008) 

 
Leeds performance = Bottom Quartile 
 

 

12 
Core Cities Average (Based 
on 2005/06 Year End Data) 

Core Cities comparison are taken from our following benchmarking partners – Birmingham, Bristol, Leeds, Liverpool, 
Manchester, Newcastle, Nottingham and Sheffield. To ensure data quality we only compare audited and verified 
information supplied by the Audit Commission. 

13 

Core City position 
1 = Top - 8 = Bottom 
(Based on 2005/06 Year-
End data) 

This column details where the 2005/06 result is ranked in the results of the 8 Core Cities, with 1= top and 8 = 
bottom. This is currently based on 05/06 year-end data, we anticipate receiving the 06/07 year end data by February 
2008. 

Significant Concerns  

Some Concerns  14 

Data Quality Issues – 
Together with projected 
performance, data quality 
issues are part of the risk 
assessment process that is 
undertaken for each PI 
included in this report. 

No Concerns  

Page 35



Page 36

This page is intentionally left blank



E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 2
0
0
7
/0
8

0
7
/0
8
 R
e
s
u
lt
 

to
 D
a
te

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 o
f 

in
d

ic
a

to
rs

 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 t
a
rg
e
t 

a
t 

y
e

a
r 

e
n

d
 -

 

b
a

s
e

d
 o

n
 P

re
d

ic
a

te
d

 F
u

ll 
Y

e
a

r 
R

e
s
u

lt
7

0
%

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 o
f 

in
d

ic
a

to
rs

 s
h

o
w

in
g

 a
 y

e
a

r 
o

n
 y

e
a

r 

im
p

ro
v
e

m
e

n
t 

b
a

s
e

d
 o

n
 P

re
d

ic
a

te
d

 F
u

ll 
Y

e
a

r 
R

e
s
u

lt
*

7
2

%

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 o
f 

in
d

ic
a

to
rs

 s
h

o
w

in
g

 a
 y

e
a

r 
o

n
 y

e
a

r 
d

e
c
lin

e
 

b
a

s
e

d
 o

n
 P

re
d

ic
a

te
d

 F
u

ll 
Y

e
a

r 
R

e
s
u

lt
*

2
2

%

P
le
a
s
e
 n
o
te
 p
re
d
ic
te
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 c
a
n
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 e
a
c
h
 q
u
a
rt
e
r*

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
1
0

1
1

1
1
a

1
2

1
3

1
4

R
e
fe

re
n

c
e

T
it
le

S
e
rv

ic
e

F
re

q
u
e
n
c
y

&
 

M
e
a
s
u
re

G
o
o
d
 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

2
0
0
6
/0

7
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d

2
0
0
7
/0

8
 

T
a
rg

e
t

C
u
rr

e
n
t 

P
o

s
it
io

n
 a

s
 

a
t 
3
0
th

 

S
e

p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
7

P
re

d
ic

te
d
 

F
u
ll 

Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

Y
e
a
r 

o
n
 Y

e
a
r 

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

T
re

n
d
 

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q

u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

B
o
tt

o
m

 

Q
u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0

0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

A
v
e
ra

g
e
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d
 

d
a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

p
o
s
it
io

n

1
 =

 T
o
p

8
 =

 B
o
tt

o
m

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0

5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a

r-
E

n
d
 

d
a

ta
)

D
a
ta

 Q
u
a
lit

y
 

Is
s
u
e
s

B
V

-1
2
6

D
o
m

e
s
ti
c
 b

u
rg

la
ri
e
s
 p

e
r 

1
,0

0
0

 h
o
u
s
e
h

o
ld

s
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe

ty

M
o
n
th

ly

N
u
m

e
ri
c
a
l

F
a
ll

2
5
.4

2
2
.3

1
2
.3

2
4
.7

↑
6
.4

1
3
.7

2
7
.5

4
N

o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

B
V

-1
2
7

 a

V
io

le
n
t 

c
ri
m

e
 p

e
r 

y
e
a
r,

 1
0
0
0
 p

o
p
u
la

ti
o

n
 i
n
 t
h
e

 L
o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 a
re

a
.

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe

ty

M
o
n
th

ly

N
u
m

e
ri
c
a
l

F
a
ll

2
3
.8

2
2
.9

1
1
.3

2
2
.5

↑
1
2
.5

2
2
.9

3
3
.5

3
N

o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

B
V

-1
2
7

 b

R
o
b

b
e
ri
e
s
 p

e
r 

y
e
a
r,

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
0

 p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e

 L
o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 a
re

a
.

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe

ty

M
o
n
th

ly

N
u
m

e
ri
c
a
l

F
a
ll

2
.3

2
.2

1
.0

2
.3

↔
0
.3

1
.3

3
.9

3
N

o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

Y
T

D
=

3
9

9
0
 d

o
w

n
 2

.3
%

 a
g
a
in

s
t 
p
re

v
io

u
s
 y

e
a
r,

 e
q
u
iv

a
le

n
t 
to

 9
6
 f
e
w

e
r 

o
ff
e
n
c
e
s
. 
T

h
e

 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 c

a
n
 b

e
 a

tt
ri
b
u
te

d
, 
in

 p
a
rt

, 
to

 t
h
e
 m

a
n
a

g
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
o
ff
e
n

d
e
rs

 i
n
 t

h
e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 b

y
 t

h
e
 P

o
lic

e
 a

n
d
 P

ro
b
a
ti
o
n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
.

Y
T

D
=

8
1

3
7
 d

o
w

n
 1

2
.4

%
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
p
re

v
io

u
s
 y

e
a
r,

 e
q
u
iv

a
le

n
t 
to

 1
1
5
0

 f
e
w

e
r 

o
ff
e
n
c
e
s
. 

V
io

le
n
t 
c
ri
m

e
 i
s
 r

e
d
u
c
in

g
, 
ill

u
s
tr

a
te

d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 e

ff
e
c
t 
o
f 
th

e
 p

o
lic

e
 p

o
lic

y
 f
o
r 

e
a
rl
y
 i
n
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n

 t
o
 p

re
v
e
n
t 

lo
w

 l
e
v
e
l 
v
io

le
n
c
e
 e

s
c
a
la

ti
n
g
 t

o
 m

o
re

 s
e
ri
o
u
s
 a

tt
a
c
k
s
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 w

o
rk

 o
f 

th
e
 T

a
c
k
lin

g
 V

io
le

n
t 
C

ri
m

e
 P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c

it
y
 c

e
n
tr

e
.

Y
T

D
=

7
5

6
 u

p
 6

.2
%

 a
g

a
in

s
t 
p
re

v
io

u
s
 y

e
a
r,

 e
q
u

iv
a
le

n
t 
to

 4
4
 m

o
re

 o
ff

e
n
c
e
s
. 
C

u
rr

e
n
t 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 c

a
n
 b

e
 p

a
rt

ia
lly

 e
x
p

la
in

e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
f 
th

e
 N

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
C

ri
m

e
 R

e
c
o
rd

in
g
 S

ta
n
d
a
rd

 w
h
ic

h
 i
s
 h

a
v
in

g
 a

n
 a

d
v
e

rs
e
 e

ff
e
c
t 

o
n
 t

h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

ro
b
b

e
ri
e
s
 r

e
c
o
rd

e
d
. 

 

T
h
is

 i
s
 b

e
c
a
u
s
e
, 
in

 a
c
c
o
rd

a
n
c
e
 w

it
h
 H

o
m

e
 O

ff
ic

e
 c

o
u
n

ti
n
g
 r

u
le

s
, 
to

 d
e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
te

 a
n
 o

ff
e
n
c
e
 o

f 
ro

b
b

e
ry

 i
s
 n

o
w

 w
id

e
r 

th
a
n
 p

re
v
io

u
s
ly

 a
n
d
 a

s
 a

 c
o
n
s
e

q
u
e
n
c
e
 t

h
e
 P

o
lic

e
 n

o
w

 r
e
c
o
rd

 m
o
re

 o
ff

e
n
c
e
s
 a

s
 r

o
b
b
e
ry

 a
n
d
 f

e
w

e
r 

o
ff

e
n
c
e
s
 a

s
 t

h
e
ft

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e
 p

e
rs

o
n
. 

In
 

a
d
d

it
io

n
, 
th

e
re

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

 g
ro

w
in

g
 t
re

n
d
 o

f 
y
o

u
n
g
 p

e
o

p
le

 o
n
 y

o
u
n

g
 p

e
o
p
le

 r
o
b
b
e
ri
e
s
 (

m
o
b
ile

 p
h
o
n

e
s
 a

n
d
 p

o
rt

a
b
le

 e
le

c
tr

o
n
ic

 g
o
o
d
s
).

  
T

h
e
 Y

o
u
th

 O
ff
e
n
d
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 a

n
d
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 L

e
e
d
s
 a

re
 w

o
rk

in
g
 o

n
 e

m
b
e
d
d
in

g
 a

 c
o
m

m
o
n
 p

o
lic

y
. 

In
 a

d
d
it
io

n
, 

a
 Y

o
u
th

 

C
ri
m

e
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 i
s
 b

e
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 R
e
s
u
lt

4
9

%

6
7

%

3
0

%

Page 37



E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 2
0
0
7
/0
8

R
e
fe

re
n

c
e

T
it
le

S
e
rv

ic
e

F
re

q
u
e
n
c
y

&
 

M
e
a
s
u
re

G
o
o
d
 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

2
0
0
6
/0

7
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d

2
0
0
7
/0

8
 

T
a
rg

e
t

C
u
rr

e
n
t 

P
o

s
it
io

n
 a

s
 

a
t 
3
0
th

 

S
e

p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
7

P
re

d
ic

te
d
 

F
u
ll 

Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

Y
e
a
r 

o
n
 Y

e
a
r 

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

T
re

n
d
 

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q

u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

B
o
tt

o
m

 

Q
u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0

0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

A
v
e
ra

g
e
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d
 

d
a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

p
o
s
it
io

n

1
 =

 T
o
p

8
 =

 B
o
tt

o
m

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0

5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a

r-
E

n
d
 

d
a

ta
)

D
a
ta

 Q
u
a
lit

y
 

Is
s
u
e
s

B
V

-1
2
8

V
e
h

ic
le

 c
ri
m

e
s
 p

e
r 

1
,0

0
0
 p

o
p
u

la
ti
o
n

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe

ty

M
o
n
th

ly

N
u
m

e
ri
c
a
l

F
a
ll

1
7
.3

1
6
.5

7
.1

1
4
.7

↑
7
.3

1
4
.6

2
5
.3

2
N

o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

B
V

-1
7
4

C
P

-C
S

1
T

h
e

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
ra

c
ia

l 
in

c
id

e
n
ts

 r
e
c
o
rd

e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e

 a
u
th

o
ri
ty

 p
e
r 

1
0
0

,0
0
0

 p
o
p
u

la
ti
o
n

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe

ty

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

N
u
m

e
ri
c
a
l

R
is

e
1
8
3
.5

1
2
5
6
.9

4
7
2
.1

2
4
0
.1

↑
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
.0

0
S

o
m

e
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

B
V

-1
7
5

C
P

A
-H

1
9

T
h
e

 p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
ra

c
ia

l 
in

c
id

e
n
ts

 t
h
a

t 
re

s
u
lt
e

d
 i
n
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

a
c
ti
o
n

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe

ty

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
R

is
e

9
3
.9

7
9
8
.0

0
9
7
.4

9
7
.0

↑
1
0
0
.0

0
1
0
0
.0

0
8
4
.8

0
2

S
o
m

e
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

B
V

-2
2
5

A
c
ti
o
n
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
d
o
m

e
s
ti
c
 v

io
le

n
c
e
 (

D
V

) 
p
ro

v
is

io
n
 a

n
d
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 

o
f 
L

A
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 d

e
s
ig

n
e
d
 t
o
 h

e
lp

 v
ic

ti
m

s
 o

f 
D

V
 a

n
d
 p

re
v
e
n
t 

D
V

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe

ty

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
R

is
e

1
0
0
.0

1
0
0
.0

1
0
0
.0

1
0
0
.0

↑
0
.0

0
0

0
0

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

C
P

-C
S

5
0

L
A

A
-S

S
C

8
 

P
S

A
1

R
e
d

u
c
e

 o
v
e
ra

ll 
c
ri
m

e
 l
e
v
e
ls

 i
n

 L
e
e
d
s
 b

y
 3

5
%

 b
y
 2

0
0
8

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe

ty

M
o
n
th

ly

%
F

a
ll

-2
3
.6

0
-3

5
.0

0
-2

7
.9

0
-2

9
.7

0
↑

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

L
K

I-
C

S
6

L
A

A
-S

S
C

2
9

a
T

o
ta

l 
n
u

m
b
e
r 

o
f 
d
ru

g
 u

s
e
rs

 i
n

 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe

ty

M
o
n
th

ly

N
u
m

e
ri
c
a
l

R
is

e
3
,8

7
9

3
,7

2
7

S
e
e
 

C
o

m
m

e
n
ts

S
e
e
 

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

L
K

I-
C

S
7

L
A

A
-S

S
C

2
9

b
P

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
d
ru

g
 u

s
e
rs

 r
e
ta

in
e
d
 i
n
 t

re
a
tm

e
n

t 
fo

r 
1
2
 w

e
e

k
s
 o

r 

m
o
re

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe

ty

M
o
n
th

ly

%
R

is
e

7
9
.0

0
8
5
.0

0
S

e
e
 

C
o

m
m

e
n
ts

S
e
e
 

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

L
K

I-
C

S
8
a

L
A

A
-S

S
C

1
3

 

L
P

S
A

2

A
d
d

re
s
s
in

g
 d

o
m

e
s
ti
c
 v

io
le

n
c
e

 b
y
: 
  
 a

) 
in

c
re

a
s
e
 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o
f 

re
p
o

rt
e
d

 i
n
c
id

e
n
ts

 o
f 
d

o
m

e
s
ti
c
 v

io
le

n
c
e

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe

ty

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

N
u
m

e
ri
c
a
l

R
is

e
1
1
1
8
0

1
2
5
0
0

4
9
2
1

9
8
5
0

↓
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
S

o
m

e
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

W
a

it
in

g
 f
o

r 
fi
g

u
re

s
 t
o
 b

e
 s

u
p
p

lie
d
 f
ro

m
 N

a
ti
o
n
a

l 
T

re
a
tm

e
n
t 
A

g
e
n
c
y
. 
A

s
 a

t 
e
n
d
 o

f 
A

u
g
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 3

0
1
4
 w

it
h
 a

 Y
e
a

r 
e
n
d
 p

re
d
ic

ti
o
n

 o
f 
3
7
0
0
. 
 S

e
e
 c

o
v
e
r 

re
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

a
 b

ro
a
d
e
r 

e
x
p
la

n
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
d
ru

g
s
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
.

Y
T

D
=

5
1

1
5
 d

o
w

n
 1

5
.8

%
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
p
re

v
io

u
s
 y

e
a
r,

 e
q
u
iv

a
le

n
t 
to

 9
6
1
 f

e
w

e
r 

o
ff
e
n
c
e
s
. 
T

h
e
ft
 o

f 
M

o
to

r 
V

e
h
ic

le
=

1
4
4
4
 -

1
7
.2

%
 (

3
0
0
 f
e
w

e
r 

o
ff
e
n
c
e
s
) 

T
h
e
ft
 f
ro

m
 M

o
to

r 
V

e
h
ic

le
=

3
6
7
1

 -
1
5
.3

%
 (

6
6
1
 f

e
w

e
r 

o
ff

e
n
c
e
s
).

N
O

T
 A

 F
U

L
L
 R

E
T

U
R

N
 -

 Y
T

D
 (

A
p
ri
l-
S

e
p
t)

 C
E

D
=

8
7
, 
C

it
y
S

=
6
8
, 
C

o
rp

S
=

0
, 
D

e
v
=

4
, 
L

&
L
=

9
, 
N

&
H

=
3
, 
S

S
=

1
, 
W

e
s
t 
N

o
rt

h
 H

o
m

e
s
=

2
0
, 
E

a
s
t 
N

o
rt

h
 H

o
m

e
s
=

4
6
, 
A

ir
e
 V

a
lle

y
 H

o
m

e
s
=

2
, 

D
e
p
t.

u
n
k
n
o
w

n
=

4
  

T
o
ta

l 
o
f 

2
4

4
 i
n
c
id

e
n
ts

.

L
a
s
t 
u
p

d
a

te
 f
ro

m
 E

d
u

c
a
ti
o
n
 L

e
e
d
s
 (

Q
1
 s

u
b
m

is
s
io

n
) 

s
h

o
w

e
d
 r

e
tu

rn
s
 f
ro

m
 j
u
s
t 
4
0
%

 o
f 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

 w
h
ic

h
 r

e
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 -

 2
9

7
 i
n
c
id

e
n
ts

. 
E

d
u

c
a
ti
o
n
 L

e
e
d
s
 r

e
p
o
rt

 b
y
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
te

rm
 t

im
e

s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 Q

u
a
rt

e
rs

.

N
O

T
 A

 F
U

L
L
 R

E
T

U
R

N
 -

 L
a
s
t 

u
p
d
a
te

 f
ro

m
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 L

e
e
d

s
 (

Q
1
 s

u
b
m

is
s
io

n
) 

re
p
o

rt
e
d
 -

 2
9
7
 i
n
c
id

e
n
ts

 o
f 
w

h
ic

h
 2

8
3

 (
9
5
.3

%
) 

re
s
u
lt
e

d
 i
n
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

a
c
ti
o

n
. 
T

h
is

 w
a
s
 r

e
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
v
e
 o

f 
o
n
ly

 4
0
%

 o
f 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

.

A
ll 

a
c
ti
o

n
s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n

 a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
 -

 b
y
 t
h

e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
2
0
0
6
/0

7

Y
T

D
=

-2
7
.9

%
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o

n
 o

n
 0

3
/0

4
 b

a
s
e

lin
e
, 
e
q
u

iv
a
le

n
t 

to
 2

1
,9

3
8
. 
 D

o
w

n
 1

1
.4

%
 a

g
a

in
s
t 
p
re

v
io

u
s
 y

e
a
r,

 e
q
u
iv

a
le

n
t 
to

 3
4
0
1
 f
e
w

e
r 

o
ff
e

n
c
e
s
. 
C

ri
m

in
a
l 
d

a
m

a
g
e
 i
s
 r

e
d
u
c
in

g
, 

p
a
rt

ic
u
la

rl
y
 o

ff
e
n
c
e
s
 c

o
m

m
it
te

d
 t

o
 h

o
u
s
e
s
 a

n
d
 p

re
m

is
e
s
. 

 V
io

le
n
t 

c
ri
m

e
 i
s
 r

e
d
u
c
in

g
, 

p
a
rt

ia
lly

 d
u
e
 t

o
 t
h
e
 T

a
c
k
lin

g
 V

io
le

n
t 
C

ri
m

e
 P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 i
n
 t

h
e
 c

it
y
 c

e
n
tr

e
. 
S

a
fe

r 
L
e
e

d
s
  
s
e
t 
a
n
 i
n
te

rn
a
l 
ta

rg
e
t 
o
f 
-2

7
.5

%
 f
o
r 

0
7
/0

8
 w

h
ic

h
 h

a
s
 c

u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 b

e
e
n
 e

x
c
e
e
d
e
d
.

W
a

it
in

g
 f
o

r 
fi
g

u
re

s
 t
o
 b

e
 s

u
p
p

lie
d
 f
ro

m
 N

a
ti
o
n
a

l 
T

re
a
tm

e
n
t 
A

g
e
n
c
y
. 
A

s
 a

t 
e
n
d
 o

f 
A

u
g
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 7

9
 w

it
h
 a

 Y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
 p

re
d
ic

ti
o
n
 o

f 
8
2
. 
 S

e
e
 c

o
v
e
r 

re
p
o
rt

 f
o

r 
a
 b

ro
a
d
e
r 

e
x
p
la

n
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
d
ru

g
s
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
.

Y
T

D
=

4
9

2
1
 d

o
w

n
 2

0
.2

%
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
p
re

v
io

u
s
 y

e
a
r,

 e
q
u
iv

a
le

n
t 
to

 1
2
4
9

 f
e
w

e
r 

in
c
id

e
n
ts

. 
T

re
n
d
s
 i
n
 r

e
p
o
rt

in
g
 d

o
m

e
s
ti
c
 v

io
le

n
c
e
 h

a
v
e
 f
a
lle

n
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 r

e
g

io
n
. 
 A

 r
e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
L
e
e
d
s
 d

o
m

e
s
ti
c
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
. 

 A
 s

ta
k
e
h
o
ld

e
rs

 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 i
s
 t

o
 b

e
 h

e
ld

 i
n
 N

o
v
 

0
7
 t

o
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 

th
e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
 a

n
d
 w

h
ic

h
 p

ri
o

ri
ti
e
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 t
a
k
e
n
 f
o
rw

a
rd

. 
 I
n
 t
h
e
 m

e
a
n
ti
m

e
, 
a
 p

u
b
lic

 a
w

a
re

n
e
s
s
 c

a
m

p
a
ig

n
 w

ill
 t
a
k
e
 p

la
c
e
 i
n

 N
o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

a
n
d
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
7
.

Page 38



E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 2
0
0
7
/0
8

R
e
fe

re
n

c
e

T
it
le

S
e
rv

ic
e

F
re

q
u
e
n
c
y

&
 

M
e
a
s
u
re

G
o
o
d
 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

2
0
0
6
/0

7
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d

2
0
0
7
/0

8
 

T
a
rg

e
t

C
u
rr

e
n
t 

P
o

s
it
io

n
 a

s
 

a
t 
3
0
th

 

S
e

p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
7

P
re

d
ic

te
d
 

F
u
ll 

Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

Y
e
a
r 

o
n
 Y

e
a
r 

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

T
re

n
d
 

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q

u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

B
o
tt

o
m

 

Q
u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0

0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

A
v
e
ra

g
e
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d
 

d
a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

p
o
s
it
io

n

1
 =

 T
o
p

8
 =

 B
o
tt

o
m

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0

5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a

r-
E

n
d
 

d
a

ta
)

D
a
ta

 Q
u
a
lit

y
 

Is
s
u
e
s

L
K

I-
C

S
8
b

L
A

A
-S

S
C

1
4

 

L
P

S
A

2

A
d
d

re
s
s
in

g
 d

o
m

e
s
ti
c
 v

io
le

n
c
e

 b
y
: 
b
) 

re
d
u
c
e
 r

e
p
e
a
t 
v
ic

ti
m

is
a
ti
o
n
 a

s
 

a
 p

ro
p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
re

p
o
rt

e
d
 d

o
m

e
s
ti
c
 v

io
le

n
c
e
 i
n
c
id

e
n
ts

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe

ty

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
F

a
ll

4
8

4
5

4
7

4
7

↑
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
S

o
m

e
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

L
K

I-
C

S
8
c

L
A

A
-S

S
C

1
5

 

L
P

S
A

2

A
d
d

re
s
s
in

g
 d

o
m

e
s
ti
c
 v

io
le

n
c
e

 b
y
: 
 c

) 
in

c
re

a
s
e

 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

re
p
o

rt
e
d

 i
n
c
id

e
n
ts

 o
f 
d

o
m

e
s
ti
c
 v

io
le

n
c
e
 t
h
a
t 
re

s
u
lt
 i
n
 a

 s
a
n
c
ti
o
n
e
d
 

d
e
te

c
ti
o

n

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe

ty

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
R

is
e

1
6
.2

0
1
6
.0

0
2

3
.3

0
2
1
.0

0
↑

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

S
o
m

e
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

B
V

-2
1
7

C
P

-E
N

5
1

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
p
o
llu

ti
o

n
 c

o
n
tr

o
l 
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 

in
s
ta

lla
ti
o

n
s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 o

n
 t
im

e
.

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n

ta
l 

H
e
a
lt
h

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
R

is
e

9
9

9
0

1
0
0

9
0

↓
1
0
0

8
3

8
2

2
N

o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

L
K

I-
E

H
3

T
h
e

 p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
fo

o
d
 p

re
m

is
e
s
 i
n
s
p

e
c
ti
o
n
s
 t

h
a
t 
s
h
o

u
ld

 h
a
v
e
 

b
e
e

n
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 
th

a
t 

w
e
re

 c
a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 

fo
r 

h
ig

h
-r

is
k
 p

re
m

is
e
s

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n

ta
l 

H
e
a
lt
h

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
R

is
e

5
2
.0

1
0
0
.0

9
0
.0

1
0
0
.0

↑
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

L
K

I-
E

H
8

C
P

A
-H

1
8

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
p
ri
v
a
te

 s
e
c
to

r 
h

o
m

e
s
 v

a
c
a
n
t 
fo

r 
m

o
re

 t
h

a
n
 6

 m
o
n
th

s
E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n

ta
l 

H
e
a
lt
h

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
F

a
ll

2
.3

9
2
.6

9
2
.4

3
2
.5

5
↓

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

S
o
m

e
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

B
V

-1
8
3

b

C
P

A
-H

1
5

T
h
e

 a
v
e

ra
g
e
 l
e
n
g
th

 o
f 
s
ta

y
 i
n
 h

o
s
te

l 
a

c
c
o
m

m
o

d
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
h
o

u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 

w
h
ic

h
 i
n

c
lu

d
e

 d
e
p
e
n
d

a
n
t 
c
h
ild

re
n
 o

r 
a

 p
re

g
n
a

n
t 
w

o
m

a
n
 w

h
o
 a

re
 

u
n
in

te
n

ti
o

n
a
lly

 h
o
m

e
le

s
s
 a

n
d
 i
n
 p

ri
o
ri
ty

 n
e
e
d

H
o
m

e
le

s
s
 a

n
d
 

A
d
v
is

o
ry

 

S
e
rv

ic
e

M
o
n
th

ly

W
e
e
k
s

F
a
ll

0
0

0
0

↑
0

1
7

8
1

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

B
V

-2
1
3

C
P

A
-H

2
4

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
h
o

u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 w

h
o
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 t
h
e
m

s
e
lv

e
s
 a

s
 h

o
m

e
le

s
s
, 

w
h
o

 a
p
p

ro
a
c
h

e
d
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
h
o
u

s
in

g
 a

u
th

o
ri
ty

's
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 a

d
v
ic

e
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
(s

),
 a

n
d
 f
o
r 

w
h

o
m

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 a

d
v
ic

e
 c

a
s
e

w
o
rk

 i
n
te

rv
e

n
ti
o
n
 

re
s
o

lv
e
d

 t
h
e
ir
 s

it
u
a
ti
o
n

.

H
o
m

e
le

s
s
 a

n
d
 

A
d
v
is

o
ry

 

S
e
rv

ic
e

M
o
n
th

ly

N
u
m

e
ri
c
a
l

R
is

e
1

3
1

4
↑

5
1

5
5

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 i
s
 a

ff
e
c
te

d
 b

y
 t
h

e
 f
a
ili

n
g
 s

tu
d
e
n
t 

m
a
rk

e
t 
in

 N
W

 L
e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 l
o
n
g
 t
e
rm

 e
m

p
ty

 'i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n

t' 
p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 i
n
 n

e
w

 c
it
y
 c

e
n
tr

e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

. 
M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

lo
n
g
 t

e
rm

 e
m

p
ty

 p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 i
n
 t

h
e
 t

ra
d
it
io

n
a
l 
a
re

a
s
 o

f 
lo

w
 d

e
m

a
n
d
 h

a
s
 

h
o
w

e
v
e

r 
b

e
e
n

 r
e
la

ti
v
e

ly
 s

u
c
c
e

s
s
fu

l 
s
in

c
e
 t
h
e
 i
n
tr

o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
E

m
p
ty

 P
ro

p
e
rt

y
 C

h
a
m

p
io

n
s
 a

n
d
 a

n
 E

m
p
ty

 P
ro

p
e
rt

y
 E

n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 
T

e
a
m

.

N
o
 t

e
m

p
o

ra
ry

 a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

 f
o
r 

fa
m

ili
e
s
 m

e
e
ts

 t
h
e
 d

e
fi
n

it
io

n
 o

f 
h

o
s
te

l 
a
c
c
o
m

m
o

d
a
ti
o
n
. 
  
N

o
 p

la
n

s
 u

n
d
e
r 

th
e
 S

u
p

p
o
rt

in
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 t
o
 c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 n

e
w

 o
r 

re
c
o
n
fi
g
u
re

 e
x
is

ti
n
g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 t

h
a
t 

m
e
e
ts

 t
h
e
 d

e
fi
n
it
io

n
.

In
 Q

1
 a

 9
.5

%
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e

 t
o
 t
h
e
 S

tr
a
ig

h
t 

L
in

e
 P

ro
je

c
ti
o
n
 q

u
a
rt

e
rl
y
 f
ig

u
re

 a
t 
th

e
 s

ta
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 y

e
a
r 

w
a
s
 o

b
s
e
rv

e
d
. 
T

h
is

 c
o

rr
e
s
p
o
n
d
s
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 1

0
%

 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o

n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

a
c
c
e
p

ta
n
c
e
s
 i
n
d
ic

a
ti
n
g
 a

 g
re

a
te

r 
s
h
if
t 

to
w

a
rd

s
 p

re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
 w

o
rk

. 
In

 Q
2

 t
h
e
 f

ig
u
re

 

in
c
re

a
s
e

d
 b

y
 2

0
%

. 
A

 S
tr

a
ig

h
t 

L
in

e
 P

ro
je

c
ti
o
n
 i
n
d
ic

a
te

s
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 y

e
a

r 
e
n
d
 t
a
rg

e
t 
w

ill
 b

e
 e

x
c
e
e
d
e
d
 b

y
 2

0
%

 a
t 
a
ro

u
n
d

 3
.6

2
 b

a
s
e
d
 o

n
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 
in

c
re

a
s
e
s
. 
T

h
e
 s

h
if
t 

to
w

a
rd

s
 p

re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
 s

o
lu

ti
o
n
s
 c

o
u
p
le

d
 w

it
h
 a

 s
tr

in
g
e
n
t 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 h

o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 

a
c
c
e
p
ta

n
c
e
 c

ri
te

ri
a
 h

a
s
 e

n
a
b
le

d
 t
h
is

 r
e
s
u
lt
 t
o
 b

e
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d

. 
T

h
e
 H

N
G

 S
ta

ti
s
ti
c
a
l 
R

e
le

a
s
e
 h

a
s
 s

h
o
w

n
 t
h
a
t 
L
e
e
d
s
 h

a
s
 t
h
e
 3

 l
o
w

e
s
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta

n
c
e
 r

a
te

 o
f 

th
e
 7

 c
o

re
 c

it
ie

s
 f

o
r 

Q
2
. 

C
u
rr

e
n
t 

p
re

v
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 t

h
a
t 

a
re

 m
e

a
s
u
re

d
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 A

s
s
u
re

d
 S

h
o
rt

h
o

ld
 T

e
n
a
n
c
ie

s
, 

S
a
n

c
tu

a
ry

 i
n
s
ta

lla
ti
o
n

s
 a

n
d
 A

rc
h
w

a
y
 /

 Y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
rs

o
n
 m

e
d
ia

ti
o
n
s
.

C
e
n

tr
a
l 
G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
s
e
t 
a
 t
a
rg

e
t 
o
f 
a
c
h
ie

v
in

g
 9

0
%

 p
o
llu

ti
o
n
 c

o
n
tr

o
ls

, 
w

h
ic

h
 L

e
e
d
s
 a

d
o
p
ts

 a
s
 i
ts

 t
a
rg

e
t.
 C

u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 w

e
 a

re
 p

e
rf

o
rm

in
g

 a
b
o
v
e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
a
n

d
 e

x
p
e
c
t 

to
 p

e
rf

o
rm

 w
e
ll 

a
g
a
in

 t
h
is

 y
e
a
r,

 h
o
w

e
v
e
r,

 Q
3
 i
s
 p

a
rt

ic
u
la

rl
y
 d

e
m

a
n
d
in

g
 i
n
 t

e
rm

s
 o

f 
th

e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

a
n
d
 

ty
p
e

s
 o

f 
in

s
ta

lla
ti
o
n
s
 t

o
 b

e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
. 

T
h
e
re

fo
re

 t
h
e
 y

e
a
r 

e
n
d
 p

re
d

ic
ti
o
n
 i
s
 r

e
m

a
in

in
g
 a

t 
9
0
%

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 d

u
ri
n
g
 Q

2
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 g

o
o

d
 w

it
h
 s

ig
n
if
ic

a
n

t 
c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n

s
 f
ro

m
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
to

rs
.

Y
T

D
=

4
6

.5
%

, 
4
9
2
1
 i
n
c
id

e
n
ts

 2
2
8
8
 r

e
p

e
a
ts

. 
T

h
e
 r

e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
d

o
m

e
s
ti
c
 v

io
le

n
c
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 w

ill
 a

s
s
e
s
s
 t
h

e
 i
m

p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 a

n
d
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e
 o

f 
im

p
le

m
e
n
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 C

o
-o

rd
in

a
te

d
 A

c
ti
o
n
 A

g
a

in
s
t 

D
o
m

e
s
ti
c
 A

b
u
s
e
 (

C
A

A
D

A
) 

m
o
d
e
l 
in

 f
u
ll 

a
c
ro

s
s
 L

e
e
d
s
. 

T
h
e
 r

e
v
ie

w
 h

a
s
 

h
ig

h
lig

h
te

d
 a

 s
h
o
rt

fa
ll 

in
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 
re

s
o
u

rc
e
s
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
d
e
m

a
n
d
 a

n
d
 t
o

 m
a
n
a
g
e
 t
h
e
 v

o
lu

m
e
 o

f 
v
ic

ti
m

s
 a

n
d
 w

ill
 t
h
e
re

fo
re

 b
e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 

a
s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 s

ta
k
e

h
o
ld

e
rs

 e
v
e
n
t 

in
 N

o
v
 0

7
.

Y
T

D
=

2
1

.0
%

Page 39



E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 2
0
0
7
/0
8

R
e
fe

re
n

c
e

T
it
le

S
e
rv

ic
e

F
re

q
u
e
n
c
y

&
 

M
e
a
s
u
re

G
o
o
d
 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

2
0
0
6
/0

7
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d

2
0
0
7
/0

8
 

T
a
rg

e
t

C
u
rr

e
n
t 

P
o

s
it
io

n
 a

s
 

a
t 
3
0
th

 

S
e

p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
7

P
re

d
ic

te
d
 

F
u
ll 

Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

Y
e
a
r 

o
n
 Y

e
a
r 

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

T
re

n
d
 

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q

u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

B
o
tt

o
m

 

Q
u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0

0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

A
v
e
ra

g
e
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d
 

d
a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

p
o
s
it
io

n

1
 =

 T
o
p

8
 =

 B
o
tt

o
m

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0

5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a

r-
E

n
d
 

d
a

ta
)

D
a
ta

 Q
u
a
lit

y
 

Is
s
u
e
s

C
P

-H
A

S
5
0

R
e
d

u
c
e

 t
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
h
o
m

e
le

s
s
 p

e
o
p

le
 i
n
 L

e
e
d
s
 p

e
r 

1
0
0
0
 

h
o
u

s
e
h

o
ld

s
, 
a

s
 d

e
fi
n
e

d
 b

y
 t
h
e

 C
o
u
n
c
il.

H
o
m

e
le

s
s
 a

n
d
 

A
d
v
is

o
ry

 

S
e
rv

ic
e

M
o
n
th

ly

N
u
m

e
ri
c
a
l

F
a
ll

5
.3

0
5
.2

3
1
.0

6
5
.0

0
↑

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

L
K

I-
H

A
S

4
T

h
e

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
h
o
m

e
le

s
s
 a

c
c
e

p
ta

n
c
e
s
 m

a
d
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 y

e
a
r 

(c
u
m

u
la

ti
v
e
)

H
o
m

e
le

s
s
 a

n
d
 

A
d
v
is

o
ry

 

S
e
rv

ic
e

M
o
n
th

ly

N
u
m

e
ri
c
a
l

F
a
ll

1
7
2
2
.0

0
1
7
0
0
.0

0
3

4
4
.0

0
1
6
0
0
.0

0
↑

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

L
K

I-
H

A
S

5

L
A

A
-S

S
C

2
6

T
h
e

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
h
o
m

e
le

s
s
 a

c
c
e

p
ta

n
c
e
s
 r

e
s
u
lt
in

g
 f
ro

m
 p

a
re

n
ta

l 

e
v
ic

ti
o
n

 (
c
u
m

u
la

ti
v
e
)

H
o
m

e
le

s
s
 a

n
d
 

A
d
v
is

o
ry

 

S
e
rv

ic
e

M
o
n
th

ly

N
u
m

e
ri
c
a
l

F
a
ll

2
5
4
.0

2
1
0
.0

2
7
.0

1
2
0
.0

↑
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

L
K

I-
H

A
S

1
1

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
s
a

n
c
tu

a
ry

 i
n
s
ta

lla
ti
o
n
s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

H
o
m

e
le

s
s
 a

n
d
 

A
d
v
is

o
ry

 

S
e
rv

ic
e

M
o
n
th

ly

N
u
m

e
ri
c
a
l

R
is

e
1
7
4
.0

0
2
5
0
.0

0
1

5
1
.0

0
3
0
2
.0

0
↑

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

B
V

-1
8
4

a

C
P

-H
M

5
1
 C

P
A

-

H
1

T
h
e

 p
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
lo

c
a

l 
a
u
th

o
ri
ty

 h
o
m

e
s
 w

h
ic

h
 w

e
re

 n
o

n
-d

e
c
e
n
t 
a
t 

1
s
t 

A
p
ri
l 
0

7
.

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

M
o
n
th

ly

%
F

a
ll

3
9

3
3

3
6

3
4

↑
1
6

4
7

5
6

3
N

o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

B
V

-1
8
4

b

C
P

A
-H

2
T

h
e

 p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 c

h
a
n

g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e

 p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n
 o

f 
n
o

n
-d

e
c
e
n

t 
L
A

 h
o
m

e
s
 

w
h
ic

h
 a

re
 n

o
t 

d
e
c
e
n
t 

b
e
tw

e
e
n

 1
s
t 
A

p
ri
l 
2
0
0
7
 a

n
d
 1

s
t 
A

p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

M
o
n
th

ly

%
R

is
e

1
4
.1

4
0
.0

4
.3

2
6
.5

↑
2
8
.3

4
.1

9
.6

3
N

o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

B
V

-2
1
2

C
P

A
-H

8
A

v
e

ra
g
e

 t
im

e
 t

a
k
e
n
 t
o

 r
e
-l
e
t 
lo

c
a
l 
a
u
th

o
ri
ty

 h
o

u
s
in

g
.

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

M
o
n
th

ly

D
a
y
s

F
a
ll

4
1

3
2

3
3

3
4

↑
2
9
.0

5
1

5
9

5
S

o
m

e
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

S
lo

w
 i
n
 y

e
a
r 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 i
s
 l
a
rg

e
ly

 d
u
e
 t
o

 A
L
M

O
 R

e
v
ie

w
 a

n
d
 n

e
w

 A
L

M
O

s
  
ta

k
in

g
 l
o
n
g

e
r 

to
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 c

a
p
it
a
l 
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
s
 f
o
r 

0
7
/0

8
. 
 A

t 
th

is
 s

ta
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e

 y
e
a
r,

 i
t 

is
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 t

h
a
t 

m
o
s
t 

p
la

n
n
e
d
 s

c
h
e
m

e
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
, 

a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 i
t 

is
 u

n
lik

e
ly

 t
h
a
t 

th
e
 t

a
rg

e
t 

w
ill

 

b
e
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d
. 

A
t 
th

e
 q

u
a
rt

e
r 

2
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
, 
A

L
M

O
s
 w

ill
 p

ro
v
id

e
 u

p
d
a
te

s
 o

n
 p

ro
je

c
te

d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 t
o
 y

e
a

r 
e
n
d
. 
S

e
e
 c

o
v
e

r 
re

p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

a
 b

ro
a
d
e
r 

e
x
p
la

n
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
d
e
c
e
n
c
y
.

1
5
1

 S
a
n

c
tu

a
ry

 i
n
s
ta

lla
ti
o
n
s
 b

y
 t
h
e
 e

n
d

 o
f 
S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r.

 R
e
la

te
s
 t
o
 a

n
 L

P
S

A
2
 t
a
rg

e
t 

o
n
 r

e
d
u
c
in

g
 h

o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
. 
Q

u
a

lif
ic

a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

re
w

a
rd

 g
ra

n
t 
d
e
p
e
n
d

e
n
t 
o
n
 t

o
ta

l 
h
o
m

e
le

s
s
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

n
c
e
s
 n

o
t 

e
x
c
e
e
d
in

g
1
8
0
0
 a

n
d
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

n
c
e
s
 r

e
la

ti
n
g
 t

o
 v

io
le

n
c
e
 o

r 
h
a
te

 c
ri
m

e
 

n
o
t 

e
x
c
e

e
d
in

g
 5

5
0
 i
n
 2

0
0
8
/0

9
.7

2
4
 h

o
m

e
le

s
s
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

n
c
e
s
 i
n
 Q

1
/2

 o
f 
w

h
ic

h
 2

0
1
 r

e
la

te
d
 t
o
 d

o
m

e
s
ti
c
 v

io
le

n
c
e
 o

r 
h
a
te

 c
ri
m

e
. 
A

ll 
ta

rg
e

ts
 r

e
la

ti
n
g
 t
o
 L

P
S

A
2
 r

e
d
u
c
in

g
 h

o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 (

D
O

M
E

S
T

IC
 V

IO
L
E

N
C

E
) 

a
re

  
tr

a
ff

ic
 l
ig

h
t 

g
re

e
n
. 

S
p
e
n
d
 j
u
s
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

8
0
k
 a

t 
th

e
 

o
f 
Q

2
.B

u
d

g
e
t 

o
f 
2
0
0
k
. 
S

e
t 
a
s
id

e
 2

5
k
  

fo
r 

c
a
re

 r
in

g
 a

la
rm

s
.

T
h
e

 S
tr

a
ig

h
t 
L

in
e
 P

ro
je

c
ti
o
n
 f
o

r 
th

e
 y

e
a
r 

e
n
d
 i
s
 n

o
w

 1
,4

4
8
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

n
c
e
s
. 
T

h
is

 t
ra

n
s
la

te
s
 t
o
 a

 2
0
%

 d
e
c
re

a
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 S

L
P

 t
a
rg

e
t 
in

 Q
2

. 
It
 f
o
llo

w
s
 o

n
 f
ro

m
 a

 1
0
%

 d
e
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 Q

1
 u

n
d
e
r 

th
e
 s

tr
a
ig

h
t 

lin
e
 p

ro
je

c
ti
o

n
 m

o
n
th

ly
 f

ig
u
re

 f
o
r 

th
a
t 

q
u
a
rt

e
r.

 T
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

a
c
c
e
p
ta

n
c
e
s
 f

o
r 

S
e
p
t 

fo
llo

w
s
 a

 m
o
n
th

 o
n
 m

o
n

th
 d

e
c
re

a
s
e

 i
n
 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
a
c
c
e
p
ta

n
c
e
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 l
a
s
t 
th

re
e
 m

o
n
th

s
. 

T
h
is

 i
s
 t
h
e
 l
o
w

e
s
t 
n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
a
c
c
e
p
ta

n
c
e
s
 f

o
r 

th
e
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 

y
e
a
r 

to
 d

a
te

. 
B

a
s
e
d
 o

n
 a

 p
u
re

 s
tr

a
ig

h
t 

lin
e
 p

ro
je

c
ti
o
n
 t

h
e
 y

e
a
r 

e
n

d
 t

a
rg

e
t 

s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

e
x
c
e
e
d
e

d
. 
H

o
w

e
v
e
r 

d
u
e
 t
o
 1

5
8
 C

a
s
e
 R

e
s
o
lu

ti
o
n
 c

a
s
e

s
 t
h
a
t 
w

ill
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
 p

re
v
e
n
ti
o
n

 a
n
d
 h

o
m

e
le

s
s
n

e
s
s
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

b
y
 y

e
a
r 

e
n
d
, 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
p
ro

je
c
ti
o

n
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 s

e
t 

a
t 

1
6
0
0
.

F
o
r 

lo
c
a

l 
re

p
o

rt
in

g
 p

u
rp

o
s
e
s
 a

n
 a

g
e
 f
ilt

e
r 

o
f 
1
6

 -
 2

5
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

p
p
lie

d
 t
o
 t
h
o
s
e
 a

c
c
e

p
te

d
 f
o
r 

p
a
re

n
ta

l 
e
v
ic

ti
o
n
. 
T

h
is

 c
o
rr

e
s
p
o
n
d
s
 t
o
 l
e

g
is

la
ti
o
n
 a

ro
u
n
d

 h
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
ili

ty
. 

It
 i
s
 a

ls
o
 a

p
p
lie

d
 a

s
 r

e
fe

rr
a
l 
c
ri
te

ri
a
 f

o
r 

th
e
 A

rc
h
w

a
y
 m

e
d
ia

ti
o
n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
. 

T
h
e

 P
1
E

 r
e
tu

rn
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 
a
p
p
ly

 a
n
 a

g
e

 f
ilt

e
r 

a
n

d
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
s
 a

n
y
o
n
e
 r

e
g
a
rd

le
s
s
 o

f 
a
g
e

 f
o
r 

w
h
o
m

 p
a
re

n
ta

l 
e
v
ic

ti
o
n
 i
s
 t
h

e
 m

a
in

 c
a
u
s
e
 o

f 
th

e
ir
 h

o
m

e
le

s
s
n

e
s
s
. 
T

h
e
 S

L
P

 i
n
d
ic

a
te

s
 t

h
a
t 

th
is

 f
ig

u
re

 w
ill

 b
e
 a

ro
u
n
d
 1

2
0
 f

o
r 

Y
e
a
r 

E
n
d
. 

T
a
rg

e
t 

is
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 t

o
 b

e
 e

x
c
e
e
d
e
d
.

1
 A

p
ri
l 
0

7
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 d

ip
p
e
d

 a
t 
th

e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
q
u

a
rt

e
r 

2
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 Q

1
 p

o
s
it
io

n
 o

f 
3
4
.9

7
. 
 C

u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 a

n
a

ly
s
in

g
 d

a
ta

 t
o
 i
d

e
n
ti
fy

 w
h
e
th

e
r 

th
is

 i
s
 a

 s
y
s
te

m
 o

r 
d
a
ta

 e
rr

o
r.

 D
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
s
 w

it
h
 K

P
M

G
 (

e
x
te

rn
a
l 
a
u
d
it
o
r)

 h
a

v
e
 t

a
k
e
n
 p

la
c
e
 i
n
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
 t

o
 t

h
e

 m
ig

ra
ti
o
n
 o

f 
d
a
ta

 

in
to

 t
h
e

 n
e

w
 d

e
c
e
n
c
y
 r

e
p
o
rt

in
g
 s

y
s
te

m
. 
T

h
is

 w
ill

 e
n
s
u
re

 t
h
e
re

 a
re

 n
o
 r

e
p
o
rt

in
g
 i
s
s
u

e
s
 a

t 
y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
. 

S
e
e
 c

o
v
e
r 

re
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

a
 b

ro
a
d
e
r 

e
x
p
la

n
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
d
e

c
e
n
c
y
.

C
P

-H
A

S
5

0
 e

x
p
re

s
s
e
s
 t
h
e
 s

a
m

e
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a

s
 t
h
a
t 
s
ta

te
d
 i
n
 L

K
I-

H
A

S
4
 e

x
c
e
p
t 
in

 t
e
rm

s
 o

f 
h
o
m

e
le

s
s
 h

o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 p

e
r 

1
0
0
0
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 i
n
d
iv

id
u
a
l 
c
a
s
e
s
 a

c
c
e
p
te

d
. 

F
o
r 

e
x
a
m

p
le

, 
3
4
4
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

n
c
e
s
 i
n
 S

e
p
t 

tr
a
n
s
la

te
s
 t

o
 1

.0
6
 h

o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 p

e
r 

1
0
0
0
 p

e
r 

q
u
a
rt

e
r.

 

(h
o
m

e
le

s
s
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

n
c
e

s
/ 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 i
n
 L

e
e
d
s
(3

2
,0

2
7
))

*1
0
0
 =

 1
.0

6
 f
o
r 

Q
2
. 
A

s
 a

 c
o

n
s
e
q
u
e
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 s

a
m

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a

n
a
ly

s
is

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

p
p

lie
d
, 
re

s
u
lt
in

g
 i
n
 a

 y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
 t

a
rg

e
t 

p
ro

je
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
5
.0

0
.

It
 i
s
 u

n
lik

e
ly

 t
h

a
t 
th

e
 t
a

rg
e
t 
w

ill
 b

e
 a

c
h

ie
v
e
d
, 
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 a

n
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
o
n
 0

6
/0

7
 i
s
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
. 
 I
s
s
u
e

s
 r

a
is

e
d
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t

h
e
 B

V
2
1
2
 e

x
te

rn
a
l 
a
u
d
it
 a

re
 c

u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 b

e
in

g
 d

is
c
u
s
s
e
d
 w

it
h
  

A
L
M

O
s
 a

n
d
 d

ia
lo

g
u
e
 w

ill
 b

e
 t

a
k
in

g
 p

la
c
e
 w

it
h
 a

u
d
it
 c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 t

h
e
 

in
te

rp
re

ta
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
d

e
fi
n
it
io

n
 t
o
 a

d
d
re

s
s
 a

 n
u

m
b
e
r 

o
f 
d
a
ta

 q
u
a
lit

y
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
.

Page 40



E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 2
0
0
7
/0
8

R
e
fe

re
n

c
e

T
it
le

S
e
rv

ic
e

F
re

q
u
e
n
c
y

&
 

M
e
a
s
u
re

G
o
o
d
 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

2
0
0
6
/0

7
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d

2
0
0
7
/0

8
 

T
a
rg

e
t

C
u
rr

e
n
t 

P
o

s
it
io

n
 a

s
 

a
t 
3
0
th

 

S
e

p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
7

P
re

d
ic

te
d
 

F
u
ll 

Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

Y
e
a
r 

o
n
 Y

e
a
r 

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

T
re

n
d
 

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q

u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

B
o
tt

o
m

 

Q
u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0

0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

A
v
e
ra

g
e
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d
 

d
a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

p
o
s
it
io

n

1
 =

 T
o
p

8
 =

 B
o
tt

o
m

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0

5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a

r-
E

n
d
 

d
a

ta
)

D
a
ta

 Q
u
a
lit

y
 

Is
s
u
e
s

B
V

-6
3

C
P

-H
M

5
2
  

L
A

A
-H

C
O

P
2
1

E
n
e

rg
y
 E

ff
ic

ie
n
c
y
 -

 t
h
e

 a
v
e
ra

g
e
 S

A
P

 r
a
ti
n
g
 o

f 
lo

c
a
l 
a
u

th
o
ri
ty

 o
w

n
e

d
 

d
w

e
lli

n
g

s

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

N
u
m

e
ri
c
a
l

R
is

e
6
5

6
7

6
6

6
7

↑
6
9
.0

6
3

6
2

4
N

o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

B
V

-6
6
a

C
P

A
-H

6
R

e
n

t 
c
o

lle
c
te

d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u

th
o
ri
ty

 a
s
 a

 p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n
 o

f 
re

n
ts

 o
w

e
d

 

o
n
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 A

c
c
o
u
n
t 

(H
R

A
) 

d
w

e
lli

n
g

s
.

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

M
o
n
th

ly

%
R

is
e

9
6
.6

9
9
7
.0

0
9

5
.6

1
9
6
.7

0
↑

9
8
.6

9
7
.0

7
9
5
.4

2
3

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

B
V

-6
6
b

T
h
e

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
lo

c
a
l 
a

u
th

o
ri
ty

 t
e
n
a
n
ts

 w
it
h
 m

o
re

 t
h
a
n
 s

e
v
e

n
 w

e
e
k
s
 

o
f 
(g

ro
s
s
) 

re
n

t 
a
rr

e
a
rs

 a
s
 a

 p
e

rc
e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
th

e
 t

o
ta

l 
n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

c
o
u

n
c
il 

te
n
a
n
ts

.

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

M
o
n
th

ly

%
F

a
ll

7
.2

9
7
.0

0
6
.7

9
7
.0

0
↑

4
.1

8
.5

3
1
0
.4

0
1

.0
0

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

B
V

-6
6
c

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
lo

c
a
l 
a
u

th
o
ri
ty

 t
e
n
a
n
ts

 i
n
 a

rr
e
a
rs

 w
h
o
 h

a
v
e
 h

a
d
 

N
o
ti
c
e
s
 S

e
e
k
in

g
 P

o
s
s
e
s
s
io

n
 s

e
rv

e
d

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

M
o
n
th

ly

%
F

a
ll

2
4
.9

3
2
3
.5

0
9
.8

5
2
0
.0

0
↑

1
7
.1

3
5
.1

8
3
3
.1

6
3

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

B
V

-6
6
d

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
lo

c
a
l 
a
u

th
o
ri
ty

 t
e
n
a
n
ts

 e
v
ic

te
d
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u

lt
 o

f 
re

n
t 

a
rr

e
a
rs

.

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

M
o
n
th

ly

%
F

a
ll

0
.2

9
0
.2

6
0
.1

4
0
.2

8
↑

0
.2

1
1

1
N

o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

L
K

I-
H

M
A

3
P

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
re

n
t 
lo

s
t 
th

ro
u
g

h
 L

o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 d
w

e
lli

n
g
s
 b

e
c
o
m

in
g
 

v
a
c
a
n
t

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

M
o
n
th

ly

%
F

a
ll

1
.6

0
1
.5

0
1
.3

4
1
.4

0
↑

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

L
K

I-
H

M
A

4

C
P

A
-H

5
T

h
e

 a
v
e

ra
g
e
 t

im
e
 t
a
k
e

n
 t
o
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 n

o
n
-u

rg
e

n
t 
re

s
p
o

n
s
iv

e
 r

e
p
a
ir
s

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

M
o
n
th

ly

D
a
y
s

F
a
ll

1
2
.7

0
1
1
.0

0
1

0
.0

0
1
1
.0

0
↑

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

L
K

I-
H

M
A

7

C
P

A
-H

4
T

h
e

 p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
u
rg

e
n
t 
re

p
a

ir
s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 w

it
h
in

 G
o

v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

ti
m

e
 l
im

it
s

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

M
o
n
th

ly

%
R

is
e

9
6
.7

2
9
7
.3

5
9

7
.8

6
9
7
.3

5
↑

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

L
K

I-
N

R
4

L
A

A
-S

S
C

3
2

A
P

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
lo

c
a
l 
a
u

th
o
ri
ty

 h
o
m

e
s
 w

h
ic

h
 m

e
e
t 
th

e
 g

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
ts

 

d
e
c
e
n
c
y
 s

ta
n
d

a
rd

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

M
o
n
th

ly

%
R

is
e

7
0
.2

2
8
0
.0

0
6

5
.9

9
7
5
.0

0
↑

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

S
o
m

e
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e

s
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
, 
a
n

d
 t
h
e
 t
a

rg
e
t 
s
h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d
 b

y
 y

e
a
r 

e
n
d

. 
C

P
A

 U
p
p
e
r 

th
re

s
h
o
ld

 b
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 y

e
a
r 

e
n
d
 p

re
d
ic

ti
o
n
.

T
h
is

 i
n
d

ic
a
to

r 
is

 t
h
e
 i
n

v
e
rs

e
 o

f 
B

V
1
8
4
a

. 
S

e
e
 c

o
m

m
e
n
ts

 f
o
r 

B
V

1
8
4

a
. 
S

e
e
 c

o
v
e
r 

re
p

o
rt

.

N
.A

.

B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 
e
v
ic

ti
o
n
 l
e
v
e

ls
 t
h
e
 y

e
a
r 

e
n
d
 t

a
rg

e
t 
w

ill
 n

o
t 
b
e
 r

e
a

c
h
e
d
. 
 T

h
is

 i
s
 b

e
c
a
u
s
e
 o

f 
a
c
ti
o
n

 b
e
in

g
 t
a
k
e
n
 i
n
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
 t
o
 a

rr
e
a
rs

 c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
n
g
 t
o
 B

V
6
6
a
.

N
.A

.

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e

s
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
, 
a
n

d
 t
h
e
 t
a

rg
e
t 
s
h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d
 b

y
 y

e
a
r 

e
n
d

. 
C

P
A

 U
p
p
e
r 

th
re

s
h
o
ld

 b
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 y

e
a
r 

e
n
d
 p

re
d
ic

ti
o
n
.

T
h
e

re
 i
s
 t

o
 b

e
 a

 c
h
a
n
g

e
 t
o
 S

A
P

 c
a
lc

u
la

ti
o
n
 i
n
 t

h
e
 n

e
a
r 

fu
tu

re
 w

h
e
re

b
y
 t
h
e
 r

e
p
o
rt

in
g
 s

c
a
le

 w
ill

 r
e
d
u

c
e
 f
ro

m
 1

-1
2
0
 t
o

 a
 s

c
a
le

 o
f 
1
-1

0
0

. 
 W

h
e
n
 t
h
is

 m
e

th
o
d
o
lo

g
y
 c

o
m

e
s
 i
n
 f

u
lly

  
it
 w

ill
 s

e
e
 m

a
n
y
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e

s
 l
o
o
s
in

g
 4

 t
o
 5

 S
A

P
 p

o
in

ts
. 

T
o
 o

ff
 s

e
t 

th
is

 

im
p

e
n
d

in
g

 n
e

g
a
ti
v
e
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 s

h
if
t 

B
V

6
3
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n

 c
a
lc

u
la

te
d
 u

s
in

g
 t
h
is

 n
e
w

 m
e
th

o
d
o
lo

g
y
 n

o
w

 t
o
 a

v
o
id

 a
 s

ig
n
if
ic

a
n
t 
im

p
a
c
t 
la

te
r 

in
 t
h
e
 y

e
a
r.

 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 a

t 
th

e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
Q

u
a
rt

e
r 

2
 i
s
 n

e
g
a
ti
v
e
ly

 i
m

p
a
c
te

d
 b

y
 d

ir
e

c
t 
d
e
b
it
 c

y
c
le

s
, 

a
n
d
 a

c
tu

a
l 
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 n

e
x
t 
w

e
e
k
 w

a
s
 9

6
.2

2
%

 w
h
ic

h
 i
s
 a

b
o

v
e
 t
h
e
 C

P
A

 l
o
w

e
r 

th
re

s
h

o
ld

. 
 H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 a
n
a
ly

s
is

 s
h
o
w

s
 t

h
a
t 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 s

lig
h
tl
y
 w

o
rs

e
 t

h
a
n
 l
a
s
t 

y
e
a
r 

(9
6
.6

9
).

 A
 B

V
6
6
a
 W

o
rk

in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 L
a
n
d
lo

rd
 a

n
d

 t
h
e
 A

L
M

O
s
 h

a
s
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 a

n
 a

c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
 t
o
 a

d
d

re
s
s
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 i
s
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

 o
n
 a

 m
o
n
th

ly
 b

a
s
is

. 
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 L
a
n
d
lo

rd
 h

a
s
 a

ls
o

 m
e
t 

w
it
h
 A

L
M

O
 

C
u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 D

ir
e
c
to

rs
 t

o
 r

a
is

e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 a

b
o
u
t 

s
lo

w
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
."

 C
P

A
 M

id
 t
h
re

s
h
o
ld

 b
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 y

e
a
r 

e
n
d
 p

re
d
ic

ti
o
n
.

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e

s
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
, 
a
n

d
 t
h
e
 t
a

rg
e
t 
s
h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d
 b

y
 y

e
a
r 

e
n
d

.

Page 41



E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 2
0
0
7
/0
8

R
e
fe

re
n

c
e

T
it
le

S
e
rv

ic
e

F
re

q
u
e
n
c
y

&
 

M
e
a
s
u
re

G
o
o
d
 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

2
0
0
6
/0

7
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d

2
0
0
7
/0

8
 

T
a
rg

e
t

C
u
rr

e
n
t 

P
o

s
it
io

n
 a

s
 

a
t 
3
0
th

 

S
e

p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
7

P
re

d
ic

te
d
 

F
u
ll 

Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

Y
e
a
r 

o
n
 Y

e
a
r 

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

T
re

n
d
 

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q

u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

B
o
tt

o
m

 

Q
u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0

0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

A
v
e
ra

g
e
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d
 

d
a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

p
o
s
it
io

n

1
 =

 T
o
p

8
 =

 B
o
tt

o
m

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0

5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a

r-
E

n
d
 

d
a

ta
)

D
a
ta

 Q
u
a
lit

y
 

Is
s
u
e
s

B
V

-6
4

C
P

-P
S

H
2
  

C
P

A
-H

2
3

T
h
e

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
p
ri
v
a
te

 s
e
c
to

r 
d
w

e
lli

n
g

s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re

 r
e
tu

rn
e
d
 i
n
to

 

o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o

n
 o

r 
d
e
m

o
lis

h
e
d
 a

s
 a

 d
ir
e
c
t 

re
s
u
lt
 o

f 
a
c
ti
o
n
 b

y
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 

a
u
th

o
ri
ty

P
ri
v
a
te

 S
e
c
to

r 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

S
tr

a
te

g
y

M
o
n
th

ly

N
u
m

e
ri
c
a
l

R
is

e
2
3
7
7
.0

0
1
5
0
0
.0

0
1
4

9
0
.0

0
2
4
0
0
.0

0
↑

7
6
.5

7
4
9
8
.8

8
1

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

T
S

-E
3
2

T
ra

d
in

g
 s

ta
n
d

a
rd

s
, 
v
is

it
s
 t
o
 h

ig
h
 r

is
k
 p

re
m

is
e
s

T
ra

d
in

g
 

S
ta

n
d
a
rd

s

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
R

is
e

1
0
0
.0

0
1
0
0
.0

0
2

8
.2

0
1
0
0
.0

0
↑

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

T
S

-E
3
3

a
T

ra
d
in

g
 S

ta
n
d

a
rd

s
 -

 l
e

v
e
ls

 o
f 

b
u
s
in

e
s
s
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 -

 h
ig

h
 r

is
k
 

p
re

m
is

e
s

T
ra

d
in

g
 

S
ta

n
d
a
rd

s

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
R

is
e

1
0
0
.0

0
9
5
.0

0
1

0
0
.0

0
9
5
.0

0
↓

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

T
S

-E
3
3

b
T

ra
d
in

g
 S

ta
n
d

a
rd

s
 -

 l
e

v
e
ls

 o
f 

b
u
s
in

e
s
s
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 -

 m
e
d
iu

m
 r

is
k
 

p
re

m
is

e
s

T
ra

d
in

g
 

S
ta

n
d
a
rd

s

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
R

is
e

1
0
0
.0

0
9
5
.0

0
9

8
.9

0
9
5
.0

0
↓

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

T
S

-E
3
3

c
T

ra
d
in

g
 s

ta
n
d

a
rd

s
 -

 l
e

v
e
ls

 o
f 
b

u
s
in

e
s
s
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 -

 l
o

w
 r

is
k
 

p
re

m
is

e
s

T
ra

d
in

g
 

S
ta

n
d
a
rd

s

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
R

is
e

9
7
.1

0
9
5
.0

0
1

0
0
.0

0
9
5
.0

0
↓

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

B
V

-8
2
a

(i
)

C
P

-R
C

5
0
 C

P
A

-

E
6

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
h
o
u
s
e
h

o
ld

 w
a
s
te

 a
ri
s
in

g
s
 w

h
ic

h
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n

 s
e
n
t 
b
y
 

th
e
 a

u
th

o
ri
ty

 f
o
r 

re
c
y
c
lin

g

R
e
fu

s
e
 

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 &

 

W
a
s
te

 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
R

is
e

1
5
.8

3
1
8
.0

7
1

7
.2

0
1
8
.3

0
↑

2
0
.8

7
1
4
.2

5
1
3
.7

5
1

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

B
V

-8
2
a

(i
i)

C
P

A
-E

6
T

o
ta

l 
to

n
n

a
g
e

 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

 w
a
s
te

 a
ri
s
in

g
s
 w

h
ic

h
 h

a
v
e

 b
e
e
n
 s

e
n
t 
b

y
 

th
e
 a

u
th

o
ri
ty

 f
o
r 

re
c
y
c
lin

g

R
e
fu

s
e
 

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 &

 

W
a
s
te

 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

N
u
m

e
ri
c
a
l

R
is

e
5
3
4
8
6
.0

0
6
1
4
3
5
.0

0
2
5

7
3
8
.0

0
6
1
4
3
5
.0

0
↑

1
5
1
2
6
.1

6
1
4
0
.1

4
3
2
3
3
0
.5

8
1

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

T
h
e

 f
ig

u
re

s
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 r

e
la

te
 t
o

 A
p
ri
l 
to

 A
u
g
u
s
t 

o
n
ly

, 
a
s
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r'
s
 f
ig

u
re

s
 w

e
re

 n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila

b
le

 a
t 
th

e
 t
im

e
 o

f 
ru

n
n
in

g
 t
h
is

 r
e
p
o
rt

. 

L
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 
re

c
y
c
lin

g
 r

e
m

a
in

 f
a
ir
ly

 c
o
n
s
ta

n
t.
 I
n
 A

p
ri
l 
th

ro
u
g
h
 t

o
 A

u
g
u

s
t,
 L

e
e
d
s
 h

a
s
 r

e
c
y
c
le

d
 1

7
.2

0
%

 o
f 
it
s
 w

a
s
te

 a
ri
s
in

g
s
 w

h
ic

h
 i
s
 a

n
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
o
n
 t

h
e
 s

a
m

e
 p

e
ri
o
d
 l
a
s
t 

y
e
a

r.
 B

a
s
e
d
 o

n
 t

h
is

, 
in

it
ia

l 
in

d
ic

a
ti
o
n

s
 a

re
 t

h
a
t 

w
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 a
c
h
ie

v
e
 a

 y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
 r

e
c
y
c
lin

g
 

ra
te

 o
f 
1

8
.3

0
%

, 
e
x
c
e
e

d
in

g
 o

u
r 

ta
rg

e
t.
 T

h
is

 i
s
 l
a
rg

e
ly

 d
u
e
 t
o
 a

n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 t
im

b
e
r,

 g
la

s
s
, 
a
n
d
 t
e
le

v
is

io
n
 t
o
n
n
a
g
e
s
. 
In

 a
d
d
it
io

n
, 
th

e
s
e

 f
ig

u
re

s
 n

o
w

 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 s

m
a
ll 

e
le

c
tr

ic
a
l 
it
e
m

s
, 

w
h
ic

h
 p

re
v
io

u
s
ly

, 
w

e
 d

id
 n

o
t 

re
c
y
c
le

.

T
h
is

 p
e

rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m

e
a

s
u
re

 i
d

e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 t

h
o
s
e
 p

re
m

is
e
s
 t

h
a
t 
a
re

 g
e
n
e

ra
lly

 c
o
m

p
lia

n
t 
w

it
h
 t
ra

d
in

g
 s

ta
n

d
a
rd

s
 l
e
g
is

la
ti
o
n

. 
N

o
n
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
t 

p
re

m
is

e
s
 a

re
 t
h

o
s
e
 w

h
e

re
 t

h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 m
a

jo
r 

in
fr

in
g
e
m

e
n
t.

 P
re

m
is

e
s
 t

h
a
t 

h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 b

ro
u
g
h
t 

b
a
c
k
 i
n
to

 c
o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 t

h
ro

u
g
h
 

a
d
v
ic

e
 a

n
d
 f
o

llo
w

 u
p
 e

n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 
v
is

it
s
 o

r 
w

h
e
re

 p
ro

s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 i
n
s
ti
g
a
te

d
 a

re
 d

e
e
m

e
d
 t
o

 b
e
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
t 
fo

r 
th

is
 m

e
a
s
u
re

. 
D

u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 
q

u
a
rt

e
r 

c
o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 l
e
v
e
ls

 w
e
re

 g
e
n
e
ra

lly
 l
o
w

. 
T

h
e
re

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

 s
u
b
s
ta

n
ti
a
l 
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t

h
e
 s

e
c
o
n
d
 

q
u
a

rt
e
r 

a
s
 f
o
llo

w
 u

p
 v

is
it
s
 t
o
 q

u
a
rt

e
r 

1
 n

o
n
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
t 
p

re
m

is
e
s
 w

ill
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 
d
u
ri
n
g
 q

u
a
rt

e
r 

2
. 
A

s
 t
h
e
 p

la
n
n
e
d
 h

ig
h
 r

is
k
 p

re
m

is
e
s
 w

ill
 a

ll 
h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 v

is
it
e
d
 b

y
 J

a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
8
 a

d
v
ic

e
 a

n
d
 f

o
llo

w
 u

p
 v

is
it
s
 c

a
n
 b

e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 i
n
 F

e
b

ru
a
ry

 a
n
d
 M

a
rc

h
 

2
0
0

8
 t
o

 e
n
s
u
re

 c
o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
s
 a

t 
le

a
s
t 
9

5
%

 a
t 
y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
.

T
h
is

 p
e

rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m

e
a

s
u
re

 i
d

e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 t

h
o
s
e
 p

re
m

is
e
s
 t

h
a
t 
a
re

 g
e
n
e

ra
lly

 c
o
m

p
lia

n
t 
w

it
h
 t
ra

d
in

g
 s

ta
n

d
a
rd

s
 l
e
g
is

la
ti
o
n

. 
N

o
n
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
t 

p
re

m
is

e
s
 a

re
 t
h

o
s
e
 w

h
e

re
 t

h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 m
a

jo
r 

in
fr

in
g
e
m

e
n
t.

 P
re

m
is

e
s
 t

h
a
t 

h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 b

ro
u
g
h
t 

b
a
c
k
 i
n
to

 c
o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 t

h
ro

u
g
h
 

a
d
v
ic

e
 a

n
d
 f
o

llo
w

 u
p
 e

n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 
v
is

it
s
 o

r 
w

h
e
re

 p
ro

s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 i
n
s
ti
g
a
te

d
 a

re
 d

e
e
m

e
d
 t
o

 b
e
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
t 
fo

r 
th

is
 m

e
a
s
u
re

. 
D

u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 
q

u
a
rt

e
r 

c
o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 l
e
v
e
ls

 w
e
re

 g
e
n
e
ra

lly
 l
o
w

. 
T

h
e
re

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

 s
u
b
s
ta

n
ti
a
l 
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t

h
e
 s

e
c
o
n
d
 

q
u
a

rt
e
r 

a
s
 f
o
llo

w
 u

p
 v

is
it
s
 t
o
 q

u
a
rt

e
r 

1
 n

o
n
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
t 
p

re
m

is
e
s
 w

ill
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 
d
u
ri
n
g
 q

u
a
rt

e
r 

2
. 
A

s
 t
h
e
 p

la
n
n
e
d
 h

ig
h
 r

is
k
 p

re
m

is
e
s
 w

ill
 a

ll 
h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 v

is
it
e
d
 b

y
 J

a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
8
 a

d
v
ic

e
 a

n
d
 f

o
llo

w
 u

p
 v

is
it
s
 c

a
n
 b

e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 i
n
 F

e
b

ru
a
ry

 a
n
d
 M

a
rc

h
 

2
0
0

8
 t
o

 e
n
s
u
re

 c
o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
s
 a

t 
le

a
s
t 
9

5
%

 a
t 
y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
.

T
h
is

 p
e

rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m

e
a

s
u
re

 i
d

e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 t

h
o
s
e
 p

re
m

is
e
s
 t

h
a
t 
a
re

 g
e
n
e

ra
lly

 c
o
m

p
lia

n
t 
w

it
h
 t
ra

d
in

g
 s

ta
n

d
a
rd

s
 l
e
g
is

la
ti
o
n

. 
N

o
n
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
t 

p
re

m
is

e
s
 a

re
 t
h

o
s
e
 w

h
e

re
 t

h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 m
a

jo
r 

in
fr

in
g
e
m

e
n
t.

 P
re

m
is

e
s
 t

h
a
t 

h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 b

ro
u
g
h
t 

b
a
c
k
 i
n
to

 c
o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 t

h
ro

u
g
h
 

a
d
v
ic

e
 a

n
d
 f
o

llo
w

 u
p
 e

n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 
v
is

it
s
 o

r 
w

h
e
re

 p
ro

s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 i
n
s
ti
g
a
te

d
 a

re
 d

e
e
m

e
d
 t
o

 b
e
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
t 
fo

r 
th

is
 m

e
a
s
u
re

. 
D

u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 
q

u
a
rt

e
r 

c
o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 l
e
v
e
ls

 w
e
re

 g
e
n
e
ra

lly
 l
o
w

. 
T

h
e
re

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

 s
u
b
s
ta

n
ti
a
l 
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t

h
e
 s

e
c
o
n
d
 

q
u
a

rt
e
r 

a
s
 f
o
llo

w
 u

p
 v

is
it
s
 t
o
 q

u
a
rt

e
r 

1
 n

o
n
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
t 
p

re
m

is
e
s
 w

ill
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 
d
u
ri
n
g
 q

u
a
rt

e
r 

2
. 
A

s
 t
h
e
 p

la
n
n
e
d
 h

ig
h
 r

is
k
 p

re
m

is
e
s
 w

ill
 a

ll 
h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 v

is
it
e
d
 b

y
 J

a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
8
 a

d
v
ic

e
 a

n
d
 f

o
llo

w
 u

p
 v

is
it
s
 c

a
n
 b

e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 i
n
 F

e
b

ru
a
ry

 a
n
d
 M

a
rc

h
 

2
0
0

8
 t
o

 e
n
s
u
re

 c
o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
s
 a

t 
le

a
s
t 
9

5
%

 a
t 
y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
.

Im
p

ro
v
e

m
e
n
t 

w
o
rk

 u
n

d
e
rt

a
k
e
n

 j
o
in

tl
y
 b

e
tw

e
e
n

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

T
a
x
 a

n
d
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
H

e
a
lt
h
 h

a
s
 r

e
s
u
lt
e
d

 i
n
 e

n
h
a
n
c
e
d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
. 
C

P
A

 U
p
p
e
r 

th
re

s
h
o
ld

.

H
ig

h
 r

is
k
 p

re
m

is
e
s
 a

re
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 u

s
in

g
 a

 n
a
ti
o

n
a
l 
s
c
h
e

m
a
. 

T
h
e
 t
o
p

 q
u
a
rt

ile
 f
ig

u
re

, 
ta

rg
e
t 
a
n
d
 p

ro
je

c
te

d
 y

e
a
r 

e
n
d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 1

0
0
%

. 
D

u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 f

ir
s
t 
2
 q

u
a
rt

e
rs

 1
9
%

 a
n
d
 2

8
.2

%
 o

f 
p
re

m
is

e
s
 w

e
re

 v
is

it
e
d
. 

T
h
is

 t
a
rg

e
t 

w
ill

 b
e
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
J
a
n
u
a
ry

 

2
0
0

8
 t
o

 e
n
s
u
re

 s
u
ff
ic

ie
n
t 
ti
m

e
 r

e
m

a
in

s
 i
n
 F

e
b
ru

a
ry

 a
n
d

 M
a
rc

h
 t
o
 r

e
v
is

it
 n

o
n
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
t 
p
re

m
is

e
s
 b

e
fo

re
 t
h
e
 y

e
a
r 

e
n

d
 (

s
e
e
 b

e
lo

w
).

 C
P

A
 U

p
p
e
r 

b
a
s
e
d

 o
n
 y

e
a

r 
e
n
d
 p

re
d
ic

ti
o
n

.

Page 42



E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 2
0
0
7
/0
8

R
e
fe

re
n

c
e

T
it
le

S
e
rv

ic
e

F
re

q
u
e
n
c
y

&
 

M
e
a
s
u
re

G
o
o
d
 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

2
0
0
6
/0

7
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d

2
0
0
7
/0

8
 

T
a
rg

e
t

C
u
rr

e
n
t 

P
o

s
it
io

n
 a

s
 

a
t 
3
0
th

 

S
e

p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
7

P
re

d
ic

te
d
 

F
u
ll 

Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

Y
e
a
r 

o
n
 Y

e
a
r 

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

T
re

n
d
 

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q

u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

B
o
tt

o
m

 

Q
u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0

0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

A
v
e
ra

g
e
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d
 

d
a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

p
o
s
it
io

n

1
 =

 T
o
p

8
 =

 B
o
tt

o
m

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0

5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a

r-
E

n
d
 

d
a

ta
)

D
a
ta

 Q
u
a
lit

y
 

Is
s
u
e
s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

B
V

-8
2
b

(i
)

C
P

-R
C

5
1
 C

P
A

-

E
6

T
h
e

 p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
h
o

u
s
e
h
o
ld

 w
a
s
te

 s
e
n
t 
b
y
 t
h

e
 a

u
th

o
ri
ty

 f
o
r 

c
o
m

p
o
s
ti
n

g
 o

r 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n
t 
b
y
 a

n
a
e
ro

b
ic

 d
ig

e
s
ti
o

n

R
e
fu

s
e
 

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 &

 

W
a
s
te

 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
R

is
e

6
.4

7
7
.3

9
9
.4

6
7
.7

8
↑

1
3
.0

5
3
.5

5
4
.2

2
5

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

B
V

-8
2
b

(i
i)

T
h
e

 t
o
n

n
a

g
e
 o

f 
h
o
u
s
e

h
o
ld

 w
a

s
te

 s
e
n
t 

b
y
 t
h
e
 a

u
th

o
ri
ty

 f
o
r 

c
o
m

p
o
s
ti
n

g
 o

r 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n
t 
b
y
 a

n
a
e
ro

b
ic

 d
ig

e
s
ti
o

n

R
e
fu

s
e
 

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 &

 

W
a
s
te

 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

N
u
m

e
ri
c
a
l

R
is

e
2
1
8
4
5
.0

0
2
5
1
2
5
.0

0
1
4

1
5
4
.0

0
2
5
9
9
3
.0

0
↑

8
7
7
0
.3

1
8
2
3
.3

1
9
7
6
7
.0

6
3

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

B
V

-8
2
c
(i
)

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
th

e
 t
o
ta

l 
to

n
n
a
g

e
 o

f 
h
o
u

s
e
h
o
ld

 w
a
s
te

 a
ri
s
in

g
s
 w

h
ic

h
 

h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n

 u
s
e
d
 t
o
 r

e
c
o
v
e
r 

h
e

a
t,
 p

o
w

e
r 

a
n
d
 o

th
e
r 

e
n
e

rg
y
 s

o
u
rc

e
s

R
e
fu

s
e
 

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 &

 

W
a
s
te

 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
R

is
e

0
.5

3
0
.0

2
0
.4

0
0
.4

2
↓

6
.7

2
0

2
4
.9

8
5

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

B
V

-8
2
c
(i
i)

T
o
n

n
a
g

e
 o

f 
h

o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

 w
a
s
te

 a
ri
s
in

g
s
 w

h
ic

h
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e

n
 u

s
e
d
 t
o
 

re
c
o

v
e
r 

h
e
a
t,
 p

o
w

e
r 

a
n
d
 o

th
e

r 
e
n
e
rg

y
 s

o
u
rc

e
s

R
e
fu

s
e
 

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 &

 

W
a
s
te

 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

N
u
m

e
ri
c
a
l

R
is

e
1
7
7
5
.0

0
7
2
.0

0
6

0
1
.0

0
1
3
8
9
.0

0
↓

1
3
1
7
4

0
7
3
2
6
5
.7

6
5

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

T
h
e

 f
ig

u
re

s
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 r

e
la

te
 t
o

 A
p
ri
l 
to

 A
u
g
u
s
t 

o
n
ly

, 
a
s
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r'
s
 f
ig

u
re

s
 w

e
re

 n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila

b
le

 a
t 
th

e
 t
im

e
 o

f 
ru

n
n
in

g
 t
h
is

 r
e
p
o
rt

. 

L
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 

re
c
y
c
lin

g
 r

e
m

a
in

 f
a
ir
ly

 c
o
n
s
ta

n
t.
 I
n
 A

p
ri
l 
th

ro
u
g
h
 t
o
 A

u
g
u

s
t,
 L

e
e
d
s
 h

a
s
 r

e
c
y
c
le

d
 1

7
.2

0
%

 o
f 
it
s
 w

a
s
te

 a
ri
s
in

g
s
 w

h
ic

h
 i
s
 a

n
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
o
n
 t

h
e
 s

a
m

e
 p

e
ri
o
d
 l
a
s
t 

y
e
a

r.
 B

a
s
e
d
 o

n
 t

h
is

, 
in

it
ia

l 
in

d
ic

a
ti
o
n

s
 a

re
 t

h
a
t 

w
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 a
c
h
ie

v
e
 a

 y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
 r

e
c
y
c
lin

g
 

ra
te

 o
f 
1

8
.3

0
%

, 
e
x
c
e
e

d
in

g
 o

u
r 

ta
rg

e
t.
 T

h
is

 i
s
 l
a
rg

e
ly

 d
u
e
 t
o

 a
n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 t
im

b
e
r,

 g
la

s
s
, 
a
n
d
 t
e
le

v
is

io
n
 t
o
n
n
a
g
e
s
. 
In

 a
d
d
it
io

n
, 
th

e
s
e

 f
ig

u
re

s
 n

o
w

 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 s

m
a

ll 
e
le

c
tr

ic
a
l 
it
e
m

s
, 

w
h
ic

h
 p

re
v
io

u
s
ly

, 
w

e
 d

id
 n

o
t 

re
c
y
c
le

.

T
h
e

 f
ig

u
re

s
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 r

e
la

te
 t
o

 A
p
ri
l 
to

 A
u
g
u
s
t 

o
n
ly

, 
a
s
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r'
s
 f
ig

u
re

s
 w

e
re

 n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila

b
le

 a
t 
th

e
 t
im

e
 o

f 
ru

n
n
in

g
 t
h
is

 r
e
p
o
rt

. 

L
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 

c
o
m

p
o
s
ti
n
g
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e

 t
o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
. 
In

 t
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 

fi
v
e
 m

o
n
th

s
 o

f 
th

e
 y

e
a
r,

 t
h
e
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 c

o
m

p
o
s
te

d
 9

.4
6
%

 o
f 

it
s
 w

a
s
te

, 
w

e
ll 

a
b
o
v
e
 i
ts

 t
a
rg

e
t 
o

f 
7
.3

9
%

. 
T

h
is

 c
a
n
 b

e
 a

tt
ri
b
u
te

d
 t

o
 t

h
e
 g

a
rd

e
n
 w

a
s
te

 c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 p

ilo
t 

a
n
d
 t

h
e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 l
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 

g
a
rd

e
n
 

w
a
s
te

 c
o
lle

c
te

d
 a

t 
h
o
u

s
e
h
o
ld

 w
a
s
te

 s
it
e
s
. 
T

h
is

 w
a
s
 h

e
lp

e
d

 b
y
 t
h
e
 w

e
t 
s
u
m

m
e
r 

e
x
p

e
ri
e
n
c
e
d
 w

h
ic

h
 p

ro
m

o
te

d
 g

ra
s
s
 g

ro
w

th
. 
Y

e
a
r 

e
n

d
 p

ro
je

c
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
d

ic
a
te

 t
h
a
t 

th
e
 t

o
n
n
a
g
e
 o

f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

 w
a
s
te

 c
o
m

p
o
s
te

d
 w

ill
 e

x
c
e
e
d
 t

h
e
 t

a
rg

e
t 

s
e
t 

a
n
d
 t

h
e
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
p
re

d
ic

te
d
 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 r

e
v
is

e
d

 a
c
c
o
rd

in
g
ly

 h
o

w
e
v
e
r,

 d
u
e
 t

o
 s

e
a
s
o

n
a
l 
v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n

 l
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 
c
o
m

p
o

s
ti
n
g
 i
t 
m

a
y
 n

o
t 

re
a
c
h
 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e
ls

 a
c
h
ie

v
e
d
 y

e
a
r 

to
 d

a
te

.

L
e
e

d
s
 i
s
 b

e
h
in

d
 s

o
m

e
 o

th
e
r 

c
o
re

 c
it
ie

s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a

m
o
u
n
t 

o
f 
w

a
s
te

 c
o
m

p
o
s
te

d
. 
H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 t
h
e
 c

it
y
w

id
e
 r

o
ll 

o
u
t 
o
f 
g
a
rd

e
n

 w
a
s
te

 c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n

s
 a

n
d
 f
o
o
d
 w

a
s
te

 c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
s
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 w

a
s
te

 s
tr

a
te

g
y
, 

a
g
re

e
d
 b

y
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B

o
a
rd

, 
w

ill
 s

e
e
 t

h
e
 c

o
m

p
o
s
ti
n
g
 r

a
te

 r
is

e
 s

ti
ll 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

in
 t

h
e
 c

o
m

in
g
 y

e
a
rs

.

T
h
e

 f
ig

u
re

s
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 r

e
la

te
 t
o

 A
p
ri
l 
to

 A
u
g
u
s
t 

o
n
ly

, 
a
s
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r'
s
 f
ig

u
re

s
 w

e
re

 n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila

b
le

 a
t 
th

e
 t
im

e
 o

f 
ru

n
n
in

g
 t
h
is

 r
e
p
o
rt

. 

L
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 

c
o
m

p
o
s
ti
n
g
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e

 t
o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
. 
In

 t
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 

fi
v
e
 m

o
n
th

s
 o

f 
th

e
 y

e
a
r,

 t
h
e
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 c

o
m

p
o
s
te

d
 9

.4
6
%

 o
f 

it
s
 w

a
s
te

, 
w

e
ll 

a
b
o
v
e
 i
ts

 t
a
rg

e
t 
o

f 
7
.3

9
%

. 
T

h
is

 c
a
n
 b

e
 a

tt
ri
b
u
te

d
 t

o
 t

h
e
 g

a
rd

e
n
 w

a
s
te

 c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 p

ilo
t 

a
n
d
 t

h
e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 l
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 

g
a
rd

e
n
 

w
a
s
te

 c
o
lle

c
te

d
 a

t 
h
o
u

s
e
h
o
ld

 w
a
s
te

 s
it
e
s
. 
T

h
is

 w
a
s
 h

e
lp

e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 w

e
t 
s
u
m

m
e
r 

e
x
p

e
ri
e
n
c
e
d
 w

h
ic

h
 p

ro
m

o
te

d
 g

ra
s
s
 g

ro
w

th
. 
Y

e
a
r 

e
n

d
 p

ro
je

c
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
d

ic
a
te

 t
h
a
t 

th
e
 t

o
n
n
a
g
e
 o

f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

 w
a
s
te

 c
o
m

p
o
s
te

d
 w

ill
 e

x
c
e
e
d
 t

h
e
 t

a
rg

e
t 

s
e
t 

a
n
d
 t

h
e
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
p
re

d
ic

te
d
 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 r

e
v
is

e
d

 a
c
c
o
rd

in
g
ly

 h
o

w
e
v
e
r,

 d
u
e
 t
o
 s

e
a
s
o

n
a
l 
v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n

 l
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 
c
o
m

p
o

s
ti
n
g
 i
t 
m

a
y
 n

o
t 

re
a
c
h
 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e
ls

 a
c
h
ie

v
e
d
 y

e
a
r 

to
 d

a
te

.

L
e
e

d
s
 i
s
 b

e
h
in

d
 s

o
m

e
 o

th
e
r 

c
o
re

 c
it
ie

s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a

m
o
u
n
t 

o
f 
w

a
s
te

 c
o
m

p
o
s
te

d
. 
H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 t
h
e
 c

it
y
w

id
e
 r

o
ll 

o
u
t 
o
f 
g
a
rd

e
n

 w
a
s
te

 c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n

s
 a

n
d
 f
o
o
d
 w

a
s
te

 c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
s
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 w

a
s
te

 s
tr

a
te

g
y
, 

a
g
re

e
d
 b

y
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B

o
a
rd

, 
w

ill
 s

e
e
 t

h
e
 c

o
m

p
o
s
ti
n
g
 r

a
te

 r
is

e
 s

ti
ll 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

in
 t

h
e
 c

o
m

in
g
 y

e
a
rs

.

T
h
e

 f
ig

u
re

s
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 r

e
la

te
 t
o

 A
p
ri
l 
to

 A
u
g
u
s
t 

o
n
ly

, 
a
s
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r'
s
 f
ig

u
re

s
 w

e
re

 n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila

b
le

 a
t 
th

e
 t
im

e
 o

f 
ru

n
n
in

g
 t
h
is

 r
e
p
o
rt

.

T
h
e

 s
lig

h
t 

d
ip

 i
n
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
th

e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d

 p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 o

n
 B

V
8
2
a

 a
n
d
 b

. 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
n
 t
h
is

 a
re

a
 i
s
 a

s
s
is

te
d
 b

y
 a

 c
o
n
tr

a
c
to

r 
w

h
o

 u
s
e
s
 S

O
R

T
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
s
 t

o
 g

e
n
e
ra

te
 e

n
e
rg

y
 f

ro
m

 w
a
s
te

.

T
h
e

 f
ig

u
re

s
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 r

e
la

te
 t
o

 A
p
ri
l 
to

 A
u
g
u
s
t 

o
n
ly

, 
a
s
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r'
s
 f
ig

u
re

s
 w

e
re

 n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila

b
le

 a
t 
th

e
 t
im

e
 o

f 
ru

n
n
in

g
 t
h
is

 r
e
p
o
rt

.

T
h
e

 s
lig

h
t 

d
ip

 i
n
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
th

e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d

 p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 o

n
 B

V
8
2
a

 a
n
d
 b

. 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
n
 t
h
is

 a
re

a
 i
s
 a

s
s
is

te
d
 b

y
 a

 c
o
n
tr

a
c
to

r 
w

h
o

 u
s
e
s
 S

O
R

T
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
s
 t

o
 g

e
n
e
ra

te
 e

n
e
rg

y
 f

ro
m

 w
a
s
te

.

Page 43



E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 2
0
0
7
/0
8

R
e
fe

re
n

c
e

T
it
le

S
e
rv

ic
e

F
re

q
u
e
n
c
y

&
 

M
e
a
s
u
re

G
o
o
d
 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

2
0
0
6
/0

7
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d

2
0
0
7
/0

8
 

T
a
rg

e
t

C
u
rr

e
n
t 

P
o

s
it
io

n
 a

s
 

a
t 
3
0
th

 

S
e

p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
7

P
re

d
ic

te
d
 

F
u
ll 

Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

Y
e
a
r 

o
n
 Y

e
a
r 

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

T
re

n
d
 

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q

u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

B
o
tt

o
m

 

Q
u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0

0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

A
v
e
ra

g
e
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d
 

d
a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

p
o
s
it
io

n

1
 =

 T
o
p

8
 =

 B
o
tt

o
m

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0

5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a

r-
E

n
d
 

d
a

ta
)

D
a
ta

 Q
u
a
lit

y
 

Is
s
u
e
s

B
V

-8
2
d

(i
)

C
P

-R
C

5
2

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
h
o
u
s
e
h

o
ld

 w
a
s
te

 a
ri
s
in

g
s
 w

h
ic

h
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 l
a
n
d
fi
lle

d

R
e
fu

s
e
 

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 &

 

W
a
s
te

 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
F

a
ll

7
7
.0

9
7
4
.5

2
7

2
.9

5
7
3
.5

0
↑

5
9
.4

1
7
7
.4

5
5
.3

6
4

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

B
V

-8
2
d

(i
i)

T
h
e

 t
o
n

n
a

g
e
 o

f 
h
o
u
s
e

h
o
ld

 w
a

s
te

 a
ri
s
in

g
s
 w

h
ic

h
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e

n
 

la
n
d

fi
lle

d

R
e
fu

s
e
 

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 &

 

W
a
s
te

 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

N
u
m

e
ri
c
a
l

F
a
ll

2
6
0
4
1
6
.0

0
2

5
3
3
5
7
.0

0
1
0
9

1
8
8
.0

0
2
4
5
5
3
4
.0

0
↑

5
3
8
9
2
.2

1
8
7
7
6
4

1
2
1
7
6
3

6
N

o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

B
V

-8
4
a

C
P

A
-E

2
6

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
k
ilo

g
ra

m
s
 o

f 
h
o
u
s
e

h
o
ld

 w
a

s
te

 c
o
lle

c
te

d
 p

e
r 

h
e
a
d
 o

f 

p
o
p

u
la

ti
o
n

R
e
fu

s
e
 

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 &

 

W
a
s
te

 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

K
G

F
a
ll

4
6
7
.1

8
4
6
7
.2

1
1

9
9
.5

2
4
6
7
.2

1
↔

3
9
4

4
8
0

4
5
8
.7

4
N

o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

B
V

-8
4
b

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 c

h
a
n
g
e
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 p

re
v
io

u
s
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
y
e
a
r 

in
 t
h
e

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
k
ilo

g
ra

m
s
 o

f 
h
o
u
s
e

h
o
ld

 w
a
s
te

 c
o
lle

c
te

d
 p

e
r 

h
e
a
d
 o

f 
p
o
p

u
la

ti
o
n

R
e
fu

s
e
 

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 &

 

W
a
s
te

 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
F

a
ll

1
.0

8
0
.0

1
-3

.8
0

-0
.9

6
↑

-3
.7

9
1
.0

1
-2

.9
9

5
N

o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

B
V

-9
1

C
P

A
-E

7
A

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
 r

e
s
id

e
n
t 
in

 t
h
e
 a

u
th

o
ri
ty

's
 a

re
a
 s

e
rv

ic
e
d
 b

y
 

a
 k

e
rb

s
id

e
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
re

c
y
c
la

b
le

s

R
e
fu

s
e
 

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 &

 

W
a
s
te

 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
R

is
e

9
2
.4

0
9
5
.0

0
9

2
.6

4
9
2
.6

4
↑

1
0
0

9
3
.5

9
0
.2

4
S

o
m

e
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

T
h
e

 f
ig

u
re

s
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 r

e
la

te
 t
o

 A
p
ri
l 
to

 A
u
g
u
s
t 

o
n
ly

, 
a
s
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r'
s
 f
ig

u
re

s
 w

e
re

 n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila

b
le

 a
t 
th

e
 t
im

e
 o

f 
ru

n
n
in

g
 t
h
is

 r
e
p
o
rt

. 

T
h
e

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
k
g
s
 o

f 
h
o
u
s
e
h

o
ld

 w
a
s
te

 c
o
lle

c
te

d
 p

e
r 

h
e
a
d

 h
a
s
 r

e
d

u
c
e
d
 b

y
 7

.8
8
 k

g
s
 o

n
 t
h
e
 s

a
m

e
 p

e
ri
o
d
 l
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r.

 T
h
is

 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

s
s
is

te
d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o
n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 o

f 
2
7
,1

0
0
 a

s
 w

e
 h

a
v
e
 a

 g
re

a
te

r 
n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

re
s
id

e
n
ts

 t
o
 d

iv
id

e
 o

u
r 

w
a
s
te

 a
ri
s
in

g
s
 b

e
tw

e
e

n
. 
H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 o
u

r 
w

a
s
te

 a
ri
s
in

g
 y

e
a
r 

to
 d

a
te

 h
a
s
 o

n
ly

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e

d
 b

y
 2

9
3
 t
o
n
n
e

s
 w

h
ic

h
 i
s
 p

o
s
it
iv

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ri
n
g
 t
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
n
e
w

 r
e
s
id

e
n
ts

. 

T
h
e

 f
ig

u
re

s
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 r

e
la

te
 t
o

 A
p
ri
l 
to

 A
u
g
u
s
t 

o
n
ly

, 
a
s
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r'
s
 f
ig

u
re

s
 w

e
re

 n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila

b
le

 a
t 
th

e
 t
im

e
 o

f 
ru

n
n
in

g
 t
h
is

 r
e
p
o
rt

. 

T
h
e

 b
e
tt

e
r 

th
a

n
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

 s
e
e
n
 i
n

 q
u
a
rt

e
r 

o
n
e
 c

o
n
ti
n
u

e
s
 a

n
d
 p

ro
je

c
ti
o

n
s
 i
n
d
ic

a
te

 t
h
a
t 

w
e
 w

ill
 e

x
c
e
e
d
 o

u
r 

y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
 t
a
rg

e
t.
 F

o
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

d
e
ta

il 
p
le

a
s
e
 s

e
e
 c

o
m

m
e
n

ts
 f

o
r 

B
V

8
4
a
.

T
h
e

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 i
s
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g

a
ti
n
g
 w

h
y
 s

o
m

e
 h

o
u
s
e
h

o
ld

s
 d

o
 n

o
t 

h
a
v
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 a

 k
e
rb

s
id

e
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
re

c
y
c
la

b
le

s
 t
o
 a

s
s
e
s
s
 w

h
a
t 
a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
s
 a

re
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

. 
H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 t
h
e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 i
n
 t

h
e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

fo
r 

a
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t

o
 r

e
c
y
c
lin

g
 i
n
 2

0
0
7
/0

8
. 

N
e
v
e
rt

h
e
le

s
s
, 

th
e
 w

a
s
te

 s
tr

a
te

g
y
 f
o
r 

L
e
e
d
s
 s

e
ts

 o
u
t 
th

e
 c

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 c

o
m

m
it
m

e
n
t 
to

 e
x
te

n
d
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 k

e
rb

s
id

e
 r

e
c
y
c
lin

g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

s
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 a

g
re

e
d
 r

o
ll 

o
u
t 

o
f 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

c
it
y
w

id
e
 k

e
rb

s
id

e
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 (

i.
e
. 

fo
o
d
 a

n
d
 g

a
rd

e
n
 w

a
s
te

).

W
it
h

 r
e
g

a
rd

 t
o

 d
a
ta

 q
u

a
lit

y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
, 
c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 t
h

e
re

 a
re

 c
o
n
c
e
rn

s
 o

v
e
r 

th
e
 m

o
v
e
 f
ro

m
 S

u
p
e
rb

a
s
e
 t
o
 a

 n
e
w

 G
IS

 b
a
s
e
d

 s
y
s
te

m
; 
h
o
w

e
v
e
r,

 i
t 
is

 e
x
p
e
c
te

d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
s
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 w

ill
 b

e
 e

a
s
e
d
 a

s
 t

h
e
 p

ro
je

c
t 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
e
s
.

T
h
e

 f
ig

u
re

s
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 r

e
la

te
 t
o

 A
p
ri
l 
to

 A
u
g
u
s
t 

o
n
ly

, 
a
s
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r'
s
 f
ig

u
re

s
 w

e
re

 n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila

b
le

 a
t 
th

e
 t
im

e
 o

f 
ru

n
n
in

g
 t
h
is

 r
e
p
o
rt

. 

In
 t
h

e
 f
ir
s
t 

fi
v
e

 m
o
n
th

s
 o

f 
th

e
 y

e
a
r,

 t
h
e

 t
o
n
n
a
g
e

 o
f 
w

a
s
te

 s
e

n
t 
to

 l
a
n

d
fi
ll 

h
a
s
 r

e
d
u
c
e

d
 b

y
 6

.3
7
%

 c
o
m

p
a
re

d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s

a
m

e
 p

e
ri
o
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p

re
v
io

u
s
 y

e
a
r.

 A
s
s
u
m

in
g
 w

e
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 a

t 
th

is
 r

a
te

, 
w

e
 a

re
 i
n
 l
in

e
 t

o
 e

x
c
e
e

d
 o

u
r 

y
e
a
r-

e
n
d
 t

a
rg

e
t.

 P
ro

je
c
ti
o
n

s
 s

u
g
g
e
s
te

d
 a

 y
e
a
r 

e
n
d

 f
ig

u
re

 o
f 
a

ro
u
n
d
 7

3
.5

0
%

. 
T

h
e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 o

n
 t
h
is

 P
I 
is

 d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 r

e
la

te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 m
a
d
e
 o

n
 B

V
P

I 
8
2
a
 a

n
d
 b

.

T
h
e

 f
ig

u
re

s
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 r

e
la

te
 t
o

 A
p
ri
l 
to

 A
u
g
u
s
t 

o
n
ly

, 
a
s
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r'
s
 f
ig

u
re

s
 w

e
re

 n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila

b
le

 a
t 
th

e
 t
im

e
 o

f 
ru

n
n
in

g
 t
h
is

 r
e
p
o
rt

. 

In
 t
h

e
 f
ir
s
t 

fi
v
e

 m
o
n
th

s
 o

f 
th

e
 y

e
a
r,

 t
h
e

 t
o
n
n
a
g
e

 o
f 
w

a
s
te

 s
e

n
t 
to

 l
a
n

d
fi
ll 

h
a
s
 r

e
d
u
c
e

d
 b

y
 6

.3
7
%

 c
o
m

p
a
re

d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s

a
m

e
 p

e
ri
o
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p

re
v
io

u
s
 y

e
a
r.

 A
s
s
u
m

in
g
 w

e
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 a

t 
th

is
 r

a
te

, 
w

e
 a

re
 i
n
 l
in

e
 t

o
 e

x
c
e
e

d
 o

u
r 

y
e
a
r-

e
n
d
 t

a
rg

e
t.

 P
ro

je
c
ti
o
n

s
 s

u
g
g
e
s
te

d
 a

 y
e
a
r 

e
n
d

 f
ig

u
re

 o
f 
a

ro
u
n
d
 7

3
.5

0
%

. 
T

h
e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 o

n
 t
h
is

 P
I 
is

 d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 r

e
la

te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 m
a
d
e
 o

n
 B

V
P

I 
8
2
a
 a

n
d
 b

.

Page 44



E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 2
0
0
7
/0
8

R
e
fe

re
n

c
e

T
it
le

S
e
rv

ic
e

F
re

q
u
e
n
c
y

&
 

M
e
a
s
u
re

G
o
o
d
 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

2
0
0
6
/0

7
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d

2
0
0
7
/0

8
 

T
a
rg

e
t

C
u
rr

e
n
t 

P
o

s
it
io

n
 a

s
 

a
t 
3
0
th

 

S
e

p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
7

P
re

d
ic

te
d
 

F
u
ll 

Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

Y
e
a
r 

o
n
 Y

e
a
r 

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

T
re

n
d
 

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q

u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

B
o
tt

o
m

 

Q
u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0

0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

A
v
e
ra

g
e
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d
 

d
a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

p
o
s
it
io

n

1
 =

 T
o
p

8
 =

 B
o
tt

o
m

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0

5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a

r-
E

n
d
 

d
a

ta
)

D
a
ta

 Q
u
a
lit

y
 

Is
s
u
e
s

B
V

-9
1
b

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
h
o
u
s
e
h

o
ld

s
 r

e
s
id

e
n
t 
in

 t
h
e
 a

u
th

o
ri
ty

's
 a

re
a
 s

e
rv

e
d
 b

y
 

a
 k

e
rb

s
id

e
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
a
t 
le

a
s
t 
tw

o
 r

e
c
y
c
la

b
le

s

R
e
fu

s
e
 

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 &

 

W
a
s
te

 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
R

is
e

9
2
.4

0
9
5
.0

0
9

2
.6

4
9
2
.6

4
↑

1
0
0

9
0
.1

6
4
.3

3
S

o
m

e
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

L
K

I-
8
2
 A

&
B

 (
I)

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
h
o
u
s
e
h

o
ld

 w
a
s
te

 a
ri
s
in

g
s
 s

e
n
t 

b
y
 t
h
e
 a

u
th

o
ri
ty

 f
o
r 

re
c
y
c
lin

g
 o

r 
c
o

m
p
o
s
ti
n

g

R
e
fu

s
e
 

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 &

 

W
a
s
te

 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

M
o
n
th

ly

%
R

is
e

2
2
.3

0
2
5
.4

6
2

6
.6

6
2
6
.0

8
↑

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

L
K

I-
8
2
A

&
B

 (
ii)

T
o
ta

l 
to

n
n

a
g
e

 o
f 
w

a
s
te

 a
ri
s
in

g
s
 s

e
n
t 
fo

r 
re

c
y
c
lin

g
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

p
o
s
ti
n
g

R
e
fu

s
e
 

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 &

 

W
a
s
te

 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

M
o
n
th

ly

N
u
m

b
e
r

R
is

e
7
4
9
7
1
.0

0
8
6
5
6
0
.0

0
3
9

8
9
2
.0

0
8
7
4
2
8
.0

0
↑

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

L
K

I-
R

C
1

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
h
o

u
s
e
h
o
ld

 c
o
lle

c
ti
o

n
s
 m

is
s
e
d
 p

e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o
n
s

R
e
fu

s
e
 

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 &

 

W
a
s
te

 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

n
u
m

e
ri
c
a
l

F
a
ll

8
5
.0

0
9
5
.0

0
3

3
.9

5
9
5
.0

0
↓

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

S
o
m

e
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

L
K

I-
R

C
1
b

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
h
o
u
s
e
h

o
ld

 w
a
s
te

 c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
s
, 
c
o

lle
c
te

d
 p

e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0

 

c
o
lle

c
ti
o

n
s

R
e
fu

s
e
 

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 &

 

W
a
s
te

 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
R

is
e

9
9
.9

0
9
9
.9

0
9

9
.9

7
9
9
.9

0
↔

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

T
h
e

 f
ig

u
re

s
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 r

e
la

te
 t
o

 A
p
ri
l 
to

 A
u
g
u
s
t 

o
n
ly

, 
a
s
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r'
s
 f
ig

u
re

s
 w

e
re

 n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila

b
le

 a
t 
th

e
 t
im

e
 o

f 
ru

n
n
in

g
 t
h
is

 r
e
p
o
rt

. 

C
o
m

b
in

e
d

 r
e
c
y
c
lin

g
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

p
o
s
ti
n
g
 r

a
te

s
 c

o
n

ti
n
u
e
 t
o

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
. 
F

o
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

d
e
ta

ils
, 
p
le

a
s
e
 s

e
e
 t
h
e

 c
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 p
ro

v
id

e
d
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
B

V
P

I 
8
2
a
 a

n
d
 B

V
P

I 
8
2
b
.

T
h
e

 f
ig

u
re

s
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 r

e
la

te
 t
o

 A
p
ri
l 
to

 A
u
g
u
s
t 

o
n
ly

, 
a
s
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r'
s
 f
ig

u
re

s
 w

e
re

 n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila

b
le

 a
t 
th

e
 t
im

e
 o

f 
ru

n
n
in

g
 t
h
is

 r
e
p
o
rt

. 

C
o
m

b
in

e
d

 r
e
c
y
c
lin

g
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

p
o
s
ti
n
g
 r

a
te

s
 c

o
n

ti
n
u
e
 t
o

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
. 
F

o
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

d
e
ta

ils
, 
p
le

a
s
e
 s

e
e
 t
h
e

 c
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 p
ro

v
id

e
d
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
B

V
P

I 
8
2
a
 a

n
d
 B

V
P

I 
8
2
b
.

T
h
e

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 i
ts

 p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 o

n
 t

h
is

 i
n
d
ic

a
to

r 
a
n
d
 i
s
 o

n
 t
ra

c
k
 t

o
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
 i
ts

 y
e

a
r 

e
n
d
 t
a
rg

e
t.
 

T
h
e

 2
0
0

7
/0

8
 t

a
rg

e
t 
w

a
s
 s

e
t 
a
t 

th
a
t 
le

v
e
l 
to

 r
e
fl
e
c
t 
th

e
 f

a
c
t 
th

a
t 
th

e
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

is
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
in

g
 m

o
re

 c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
s
 o

f 
w

a
s
te

 t
h
a
n
 i
t 
e
v
e
r 

h
a
s
 b

e
fo

re
. 
T

h
e
 f
u
ll 

y
e
a
r 

e
ff
e

c
t 

o
f 

th
e
 g

a
rd

e
n

 w
a
s
te

 p
ilo

t 
(d

e
liv

e
re

d
 t

o
 2

0
,0

0
0

 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
) 

w
a
s
 a

c
c
o
u
n
te

d
 f

o
r 

in
 t

h
e
 t

a
rg

e
t 

s
e
tt

in
g
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
. 
H

o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 o

n
 t
h
e
 g

a
rd

e
n
 w

a
s
te

 c
o
lle

c
ti
o

n
 p

ilo
t 
re

c
e
iv

e
 a

 f
o
rt

n
ig

h
tl
y
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t

h
e
 s

u
m

m
e
r 

m
o
n

th
s
 a

n
d
 a

 f
o
u
r 

w
e
e
k
ly

 c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n

 i
n
 t
h
e
 w

in
te

r 
m

o
n
th

s
 a

n
d

 t
h
e
 t

a
rg

e
t 

w
a
s
 s

e
t 

to
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 

th
is

 f
a
c
t.

 I
n
 2

0
0
7
/0

8
, 

th
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 w

ill
 c

o
lle

c
t 

o
v
e
r 

2
0
 

m
ill

io
n
 b

in
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 m

o
re

 c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
s
 y

o
u
 i
n
tr

o
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e

 m
o
re

 r
is

k
 t
h

e
re

 i
s
 t
h
a
t 
s
o
m

e
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o
n
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 m

is
s
e
d
.

T
h
e

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 i
ts

 p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 o

n
 t

h
is

 i
n
d
ic

a
to

r 
a
n
d
 i
s
 o

n
 t
ra

c
k
 t

o
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
 i
ts

 y
e

a
r 

e
n
d
 t
a
rg

e
t.
 

T
h
e

 2
0
0

7
/0

8
 t

a
rg

e
t 
w

a
s
 s

e
t 
a
t 

th
a
t 
le

v
e
l 
to

 r
e
fl
e
c
t 
th

e
 f

a
c
t 
th

a
t 
th

e
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

is
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
in

g
 m

o
re

 c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
s
 o

f 
w

a
s
te

 t
h
a
n
 i
t 
e
v
e
r 

h
a
s
 b

e
fo

re
. 
T

h
e
 f
u
ll 

y
e
a
r 

e
ff
e

c
t 

o
f 

th
e
 g

a
rd

e
n

 w
a
s
te

 p
ilo

t 
(d

e
liv

e
re

d
 t

o
 2

0
,0

0
0

 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
) 

w
a
s
 a

c
c
o
u
n
te

d
 f

o
r 

in
 t

h
e
 t

a
rg

e
t 

s
e
tt

in
g
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
. 
H

o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 o

n
 t
h
e
 g

a
rd

e
n
 w

a
s
te

 c
o
lle

c
ti
o

n
 p

ilo
t 
re

c
e
iv

e
 a

 f
o
rt

n
ig

h
tl
y
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t

h
e
 s

u
m

m
e
r 

m
o
n

th
s
 a

n
d
 a

 f
o
u
r 

w
e
e
k
ly

 c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n

 i
n
 t
h
e
 w

in
te

r 
m

o
n
th

s
 a

n
d

 t
h
e
 t

a
rg

e
t 

w
a
s
 s

e
t 

to
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 

th
is

 f
a
c
t.

 I
n
 2

0
0
7
/0

8
, 

th
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 w

ill
 c

o
lle

c
t 

o
v
e
r 

2
0
 

m
ill

io
n
 b

in
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 m

o
re

 c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
s
 y

o
u
 i
n
tr

o
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e

 m
o
re

 r
is

k
 t
h

e
re

 i
s
 t
h
a
t 
s
o
m

e
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o
n
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 m

is
s
e
d
.

T
h
e

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 i
s
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g

a
ti
n
g
 w

h
y
 s

o
m

e
 h

o
u
s
e
h

o
ld

s
 d

o
 n

o
t 

h
a
v
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 a

 k
e
rb

s
id

e
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
re

c
y
c
la

b
le

s
 t
o
 a

s
s
e
s
s
 w

h
a
t 
a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
s
 a

re
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

. 
H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 t
h
e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 i
n
 t

h
e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

fo
r 

a
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t

o
 r

e
c
y
c
lin

g
 i
n
 2

0
0
7
/0

8
. 

N
e
v
e
rt

h
e
le

s
s
, 

th
e
 w

a
s
te

 s
tr

a
te

g
y
 f
o
r 

L
e
e
d
s
 s

e
ts

 o
u
t 
th

e
 c

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 c

o
m

m
it
m

e
n
t 
to

 e
x
te

n
d
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 k

e
rb

s
id

e
 r

e
c
y
c
lin

g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

s
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 a

g
re

e
d
 r

o
ll 

o
u
t 

o
f 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

c
it
y
w

id
e
 k

e
rb

s
id

e
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 (

i.
e
. 

fo
o
d
 a

n
d
 g

a
rd

e
n
 w

a
s
te

).

W
it
h

 r
e
g

a
rd

 t
o

 d
a
ta

 q
u

a
lit

y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
, 
c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 t
h

e
re

 a
re

 c
o
n
c
e
rn

s
 o

v
e
r 

th
e
 m

o
v
e
 f
ro

m
 S

u
p
e
rb

a
s
e
 t
o
 a

 n
e
w

 G
IS

 b
a
s
e
d

 s
y
s
te

m
; 
h
o
w

e
v
e
r,

 i
t 
is

 e
x
p
e
c
te

d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
s
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 w

ill
 b

e
 e

a
s
e
d
 a

s
 t

h
e
 p

ro
je

c
t 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
e
s
.

Page 45



E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 2
0
0
7
/0
8

R
e
fe

re
n

c
e

T
it
le

S
e
rv

ic
e

F
re

q
u
e
n
c
y

&
 

M
e
a
s
u
re

G
o
o
d
 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

2
0
0
6
/0

7
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d

2
0
0
7
/0

8
 

T
a
rg

e
t

C
u
rr

e
n
t 

P
o

s
it
io

n
 a

s
 

a
t 
3
0
th

 

S
e

p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
7

P
re

d
ic

te
d
 

F
u
ll 

Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

Y
e
a
r 

o
n
 Y

e
a
r 

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

T
re

n
d
 

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q

u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

B
o
tt

o
m

 

Q
u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0

0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

A
v
e
ra

g
e
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d
 

d
a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

p
o
s
it
io

n

1
 =

 T
o
p

8
 =

 B
o
tt

o
m

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0

5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a

r-
E

n
d
 

d
a

ta
)

D
a
ta

 Q
u
a
lit

y
 

Is
s
u
e
s

B
V

-1
9
9

a

C
P

-S
C

5
0
 C

P
A

-

E
4
  

 L
A

A
-

S
S

C
4

T
h
e

 p
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
re

le
v
a
n
t 
la

n
d
 a

n
d
 h

ig
h
w

a
y
s
 (

e
x
p
re

s
s
e
d
 a

s
 a

 

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
) 

th
a
t 
is

 a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 a

s
 h

a
v
in

g
 c

o
m

b
in

e
d
 d

e
p

o
s
it
s
 o

f 
lit

te
r 

a
n
d

 d
e
tr

it
u
s
 t
h

a
t 
fa

ll 
b

e
lo

w
 a

n
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 l
e
v
e

l

S
tr

e
e
t 

C
le

a
n
s
in

g

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
F

a
ll

1
7
.3

0
1
6
.0

0
1

5
.0

0
1
6
.0

0
↑

8
.8

2
1

1
8
.1

5
N

o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

B
V

-1
9
9

b
T

h
e

 p
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
re

le
v
a
n
t 
la

n
d
 a

n
d
 h

ig
h
w

a
y
s
 (

e
x
p
re

s
s
e
d
 a

s
 a

 

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
) 

fr
o
m

 w
h
ic

h
 u

n
a
c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 l
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 
g
ra

ff
it
i 
a
re

 v
is

ib
le

S
tr

e
e
t 

C
le

a
n
s
in

g

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
F

a
ll

6
.0

0
7
.0

0
1

1
.0

0
8
.0

0
↓

1
6

1
1

6
N

o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

B
V

-1
9
9

c
T

h
e

 p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n
 o

f 
re

le
v
a
n
t 
la

n
d
 a

n
d
 h

ig
h
w

a
y
s
 (

e
x
p
re

s
s
e
d
 a

s
 a

 

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
) 

fr
o
m

 w
h
ic

h
 u

n
a
c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 l
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 
fl
y
-p

o
s
ti
n
g
 a

re
 

v
is

ib
le

S
tr

e
e
t 

C
le

a
n
s
in

g

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
F

a
ll

1
.0

0
1
.0

0
2
.0

0
1
.0

0
↔

0
2

3
1

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

B
V

-1
9
9

d
T

h
e

 y
e
a

r-
o
n
-y

e
a
r 

re
d
u

c
ti
o
n
 i
n

 t
h
e
 t
o
ta

l 
n
u
m

b
e

r 
o
f 
in

c
id

e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 

in
c
re

a
s
e

 i
n
 t
o

ta
l 
n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
e
n

fo
rc

e
m

e
n
t 
a
c
ti
o
n

s
 t
a
k
e
n

 t
o
 d

e
a
l 
w

it
h

 

fl
y
 t

ip
p
in

g

S
tr

e
e
t 

C
le

a
n
s
in

g

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

L
e
v
e
l

F
a
ll

3
.0

0
2
.0

0
1
.0

0
2
.0

0
↑

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

Im
p

ro
v
e

m
e
n
ts

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 m

a
d

e
 t
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

re
d
u

c
e
 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e

ls
 o

f 
lit

te
r 

w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 c

it
y
. 

In
 s

p
it
e
 o

f 
th

e
 s

m
o
k
in

g
 b

a
n
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 f
a
c
t 
th

a
t 
n
a
ti
o
n
a
lly

 s
m

o
k
in

g
 r

e
la

te
d
 l
it
te

r 
h
a
s
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e

d
, 

o
u
r 

le
v
e
ls

 o
f 

lit
te

r 
h
a
v
e
 r

e
d
u
c
e
d
 i
n
 t

h
e
 m

a
jo

ri
ty

 o
f 

a
re

a
s
 s

u
rv

e
y
e
d
 c

o
m

p
a
re

d
 t

o
 

th
e
 s

a
m

e
 p

e
ri
o
d
 l
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r.

 

D
e
tr

it
u
s
 l
e

v
e
ls

 h
a
v
e
 s

e
e
n
 a

n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e

 b
u
t 
th

is
 m

a
y
 b

e
 a

tt
ri
b
u
te

d
 t
o

 t
h
e
 u

n
s
e
a
s
o
n
a
b

ly
 h

e
a
v
y
 r

a
in

fa
ll 

e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
d
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 s

h
if
t 
S

tr
e
e
ts

c
e
n
e
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 t

o
 a

s
s
is

t 
w

it
h
 t

h
e
 p

ro
b
le

m
s
 t

h
e
 f

lo
o
d
in

g
 c

a
u
s
e
d

. 

W
h

ils
t 
a

t 
p

re
s
e
n
t 
w

e
 a

re
 e

x
c
e

e
d
in

g
 o

u
r 

ta
rg

e
t 

o
f 
1
6
%

, 
to

 m
a
in

ta
in

 t
h
is

 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 w

e
 w

ill
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 a

d
d
re

s
s
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 s

u
rr

o
u
n

d
in

g
 t
h
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
m

e
c
h
a
n
ic

a
l 
a
n
d
 n

o
n
 m

e
c
h
a
n
ic

a
l 
c
le

a
n
in

g
 m

e
th

o
d
s
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 c

le
a
n
s
in

g
 o

f 
tr

a
ff

ic
 i
s
la

n
d
s
. 

It
s
 s

h
o
u

ld
 a

ls
o

 b
e
 n

o
te

d
, 
th

a
t 

th
e
 l
e
v
e

l 
o
f 
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

 a
c
h
ie

v
e
d
 i
s
 b

e
in

g
 a

s
s
is

te
d
 b

y
 a

c
ti
v
e
 e

n
fo

rc
e

m
e
n
t 
a
c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e

 c
it
y
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 o

f 
th

e
 e

n
v
ir
o
n

m
e
n
ta

l 
p
ri
d
e
 t

e
a

m
s
 (

fu
n
d
e
d
 b

y
 N

R
F

) 
in

 c
le

a
n
in

g
 u

p
 m

a
n
y
 o

f 
th

e
 m

o
s
t 

d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 a

re
a
s
 o

f 
th

e
 c

it
y
.

L
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 

g
ra

ff
it
i 
h
a
v
e

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e

d
 c

o
m

p
a
re

d
 t
o
 t

h
e
 s

a
m

e
 p

e
ri
o
d
 l
a
s
t 

y
e
a
r.

 A
n
 e

x
p
la

n
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

th
is

 i
s
 t

h
e
 t
im

in
g
s
 o

f 
th

e
 s

u
rv

e
y
s
 a

n
d
 t
h

e
 a

re
a
s
 s

u
rv

e
y
e

d
. 
B

o
th

 H
y
d
e
 P

a
rk

 &
 W

o
o
d
h
o
u
s
e
 a

n
d
 H

e
a
d
in

g
ly

 w
e
re

 s
u

rv
e
y
e
d
 i
n
 t

h
e
 e

a
rl
y
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 y

e
a
r.

 T
ra

d
it
io

n
a
lly

, 

a
s
 r

e
c
o

g
n

is
e
d

 b
y
 E

N
C

A
M

S
, 
g

ra
ff
it
i 
le

v
e
ls

 a
re

 p
re

v
a
le

n
t 
in

 a
re

a
s
 w

it
h
 a

 h
ig

h
 s

tu
d
e
n

t 
p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
. 
In

 o
rd

e
r 

to
 c

o
m

b
a
t 

th
e
s
e
 p

ro
b
le

m
s
, 
a
 h

o
t 
s
p
o
t 
te

a
m

 i
s
 o

p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
in

 t
h
e
 i
n
n

e
r 

N
o
rt

h
 W

e
s
t 

a
re

a
 b

u
t 

th
e
 t

e
a
m

 o
ft

e
n
 f

in
d
 t

h
a
t 

a
s
 q

u
ic

k
ly

 a
s
 t

h
e

y
 r

e
m

o
v
e
 g

ra
ff

it
i 
in

 

th
e
s
e
 a

re
a
s
, 
it
 r

e
a
p
p
e

a
rs

. 

H
o
w

e
v
e

r,
 a

lt
h

o
u
g
h
 o

u
r 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 h

a
s
 d

e
te

ri
o
ra

te
d
, 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

a
n
a
ly

s
e
s
 s

h
o
w

s
 t
h
a
t 

o
u
r 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 o

n
ly

 n
a
rr

o
w

ly
 f

e
ll 

b
e
lo

w
 a

n
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 l
e
v
e
l.
 T

o
 a

d
d
re

s
s
 t

h
e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 i
d
e
n

ti
fi
e
d
, 

th
e
 s

u
rv

e
y
 m

a
n
a
g
e
r 

p
la

n
s
 t

o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 t

h
e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 c

o
-o

rd
in

a
ti
o
n
 

b
e
tw

e
e
n

 t
h
e
 g

ra
ff
it
i 
re

m
o
v
a
l 
te

a
m

 a
n
d

 t
h
e
 s

u
rv

e
y
 m

a
n

a
g
e

rs
. 
In

 a
d

d
it
io

n
, 
a
 t
a
s
k
 g

ro
u
p
 i
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
 o

f 
b
e
in

g
 s

e
t 

u
p
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 a

im
 o

f 
u
s
in

g
 t
h
e
 w

id
e
r 

D
L
E

Q
S

 s
u
rv

e
y
 (

a
 m

o
re

 e
x
te

n
s
iv

e
 s

u
rv

e
y
 w

h
ic

h
 u

s
e
s
 m

u
lt
ip

le
 i
n
d
ic

a
to

rs
 o

f 
c
le

a
n
lin

e
s
s
 f

ro
m

 w
h
ic

h
 B

V
1
9
9
 

is
 d

e
ri
v
e

d
) 

to
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 i
s
s
u
e
s
 t
h

a
t 
n
e
e
d

 a
d
d
re

s
s
in

g
, 
s
u
c
h
 a

s
 t
h
is

.

A
lt
h

o
u
g

h
 i
t 
is

 b
e
lie

v
e
d

 t
h
a
t 
th

a
t 
o
u
r 

s
c
o
re

 w
ill

 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 i
n
 f
u
tu

re
 s

u
rv

e
y
s
 w

e
 h

a
v
e
 a

d
ju

s
te

d
 t
h
e
 e

x
p
e

c
te

d
 y

e
a
r 

e
n
d
 r

e
s
u
lt
 t
o
 8

%
.

O
u
r 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 o

n
 t

h
is

 i
n
d
ic

a
to

r 
h
a
s
 d

e
te

ri
o
ra

te
d
 s

lig
h
tl
y
 a

s
 l
e
v
e

ls
 o

f 
fl
y
-p

o
s
ti
n
g
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 i
n
 s

e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 r
e
ta

il 
a
re

a
s
. 
T

h
is

 i
s
n
't 

a
n
 i
s
s
u
e
 a

n
d
 w

e
 e

x
p
e
c
t 
th

a
t 

fu
tu

re
 s

u
rv

e
y
s
 w

ill
 e

n
s
u
re

 w
e
 s

ti
ll 

a
c
h
ie

v
e
 o

u
r 

y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
 t

a
rg

e
t.

O
u
r 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
n
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
 t
o

 t
h
is

 i
n
d

ic
a
to

r 
is

 a
g
a
in

 r
a

te
d
 a

s
 `

v
e
ry

 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
' (

th
e
 b

e
s
t 
ra

ti
n
g
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

).
 T

h
is

 i
s
 d

u
e

 t
o
 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
in

c
id

e
n
ts

 r
e
p
o
rt

e
d
 r

e
d
u

c
in

g
 o

n
 t

h
e
 s

a
m

e
 p

e
ri
o
d
 l
a
s
t 

y
e
a
r 

b
y
 1

1
6
2
, 

w
h
ils

t 
th

e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

e
n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
 h

a
v
e
 r

is
e
n
 b

y
 

2
5
2

8
.

Page 46



E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 2
0
0
7
/0
8

R
e
fe

re
n

c
e

T
it
le

S
e
rv

ic
e

F
re

q
u
e
n
c
y

&
 

M
e
a
s
u
re

G
o
o
d
 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

2
0
0
6
/0

7
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d

2
0
0
7
/0

8
 

T
a
rg

e
t

C
u
rr

e
n
t 

P
o

s
it
io

n
 a

s
 

a
t 
3
0
th

 

S
e

p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
7

P
re

d
ic

te
d
 

F
u
ll 

Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

Y
e
a
r 

o
n
 Y

e
a
r 

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

T
re

n
d
 

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q

u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

A
ll 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 

B
o
tt

o
m

 

Q
u
a
rt

ile
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0

0
5
/0

6
 Y

e
a
r-

E
n
d
 d

a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

A
v
e
ra

g
e
 

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0
5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a
r-

E
n
d
 

d
a
ta

)

C
o
re

 C
it
y
 

p
o
s
it
io

n

1
 =

 T
o
p

8
 =

 B
o
tt

o
m

(B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

2
0
0

5
/0

6
 

Y
e
a

r-
E

n
d
 

d
a

ta
)

D
a
ta

 Q
u
a
lit

y
 

Is
s
u
e
s

B
V

-2
1
8

a
P

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
n
e
w

 r
e

p
o
rt

s
 o

f 
a
b
a
n
d
o
n

e
d
 v

e
h
ic

le
s
 i
n
v
e

s
ti
g
a
te

d
 

w
it
h

in
 2

4
 h

o
u
rs

 o
f 
n
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n

S
tr

e
e
t 

C
le

a
n
s
in

g

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
R

is
e

9
2
.5

4
9
2
.5

0
9

0
.3

2
9
0
.0

0
↓

9
6
.6

4
7
3

7
5
.9

3
3

S
o
m

e
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

B
V

-2
1
8

b

L
A

A
-S

S
C

5
7

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
a
b
a
n
d
o

n
e
d
 v

e
h

ic
le

s
 r

e
m

o
v
e
d
 w

it
h
in

 2
4

 h
o
u

rs
 f
ro

m
 

th
e
 p

o
in

t 
a

t 
w

h
ic

h
 t
h
e

 a
u
th

o
ri
ty

 i
s
 l
e
g
a

lly
 e

n
ti
tl
e

d
 t
o
 r

e
m

o
v
e
 t
h
e
 

v
e
h

ic
le

S
tr

e
e
t 

C
le

a
n
s
in

g

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

%
R

is
e

9
2
.1

7
9
0
.0

0
7

9
.3

5
8
6
.0

0
↓

9
5

6
1
.1

1
7
4
.2

2
5

S
o
m

e
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

L
K

I-
S

C
6

T
h
e

 a
v
e

ra
g
e
 t

im
e
 t
a
k
e

n
 t
o
 r

e
m

o
v
e
 f
ly

 t
ip

s
S

tr
e
e
t 

C
le

a
n
s
in

g

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

D
a
y
s

F
a
ll

1
.1

1
1
.1

5
1
.2

9
1
.1

5
↓

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s

C
o
m

m
e

n
ts

T
h
e

 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 r

e
p
o

rt
e
d
 i
s
 p

ro
v
is

io
n

a
l 
a
t 
th

is
 s

ta
g
e
 a

n
d
 m

a
y
 b

e
 a

d
v
e
rs

e
ly

 a
ff
e
c
te

d
 b

y
 a

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
jo

b
s
 t
h

a
t 
a
re

 s
ti
ll 

`p
e
n
d

in
g
'. 

T
h
e
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

is
 w

o
rk

in
g
 i
n
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 w
it
h
 t

h
e
 P

o
lic

e
 o

n
 a

b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d

 v
e
h
ic

le
s
 a

n
d
 a

 p
o
lic

e
 o

ff
ic

e
r 

h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 s

e
c
o
n
d
e
d
 t

o
 

th
e
 c

o
u

n
c
il 

to
 w

o
rk

 o
n

 t
h
is

 p
ro

je
c
t 
u
n
ti
l 
M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0
8
.

In
 t
h

e
 y

e
a

r 
to

 d
a
te

, 
th

e
re

 h
a
v
e

 b
e
e
n
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 o

n
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 t
h
e
 u

n
a
v
a
ila

b
ili

ty
 o

f 
p
o
lic

e
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 (

s
ic

k
n
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 r

e
ti
re

m
e
n
t)

. 
F

o
r 

th
is

 r
e
a
s
o
n

, 
th

e
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
p
re

d
ic

te
d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 c

h
a
n
g
e
d
 t

o
 9

0
%

.

It
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 n

o
te

d
 t
h
a

t 
p
ri
o
r 

to
 t
h
e
s
e
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

in
g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
, 
th

e
 p

a
rt

n
e

rs
h
ip

 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 p

o
lic

e
 w

a
s
 w

o
rk

in
g

 w
e
ll 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
d
a
y
s
 t
h

a
t 
a
n
 a

b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d

 v
e
h
ic

le
 i
s
 o

n
 t

h
e
 s

tr
e
e
t 

h
a
s
 f

a
lle

n
 f

ro
m

 a
n
 a

v
e
ra

g
e
 o

f 
8
 d

a
y
s
 t

o
 j
u
s
t 

3
.5

 h
o
u
rs

. 
T

h
is

 p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 h
a
s
 a

ls
o
 

a
s
s
is

te
d

 i
n
 r

e
d

u
c
in

g
 t
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
re

p
o
rt

s
 o

f 
a

b
a
n
d
o
n

e
d
 v

e
h
ic

le
s
 b

y
 1

2
%

 o
n
 t
h
e
 s

a
m

e
 p

e
ri
o
d
 l
a
s
t 

y
e
a
r.

 A
s
 t
h
is

 p
a

rt
n
e
rs

h
ip

 i
s
 f
u
n
d

e
d
 b

y
 N

R
F

 (
w

h
ic

h
 r

u
n
s
 o

u
t 

in
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0

8
),

 t
h
e
re

 m
a
y
 b

e
 a

n
 a

d
v
e
rs

e
 e

ff
e

c
t 

o
n
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
n
 f

u
tu

re
 y

e
a

rs
. 

In
 t
e

rm
s
 o

f 
d
a

ta
 q

u
a
lit

y
, 
w

o
rk

 i
s
 u

n
d
e
rw

a
y
 t
o
 r

e
s
o
lv

e
 t
h

e
 s

it
u
a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 'p

e
n
d
in

g
 j
o
b
s
' w

it
h
 a

 t
ra

in
in

g
 s

e
s
s
io

n
 b

e
in

g
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
a
lly

 b
o
o
k
e
d
 f
o
r 

N
o
v
e
m

b
e

r 
to

 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 t

h
e
 a

d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
v
e
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
.

T
h
e

 c
o
u

n
c
il 

u
s
e
s
 a

 c
o

n
tr

a
c
to

r 
b
a
s
e
d
 i
n
 D

o
n
c
a

s
te

r 
(D

o
n
c
a

s
te

r 
M

o
to

r 
S

p
a
re

s
) 

fo
r 

th
e
 r

e
m

o
v
a
l 
o
f 
a
b
a

n
d
o
n
e
d
 v

e
h
ic

le
s
.

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 h

a
s
 d

e
te

ri
o
ra

te
d

 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 
fi
v
e
 m

o
n
th

s
 o

f 
th

e
 y

e
a
r 

d
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 e

ff
e
c
ts

 o
f 
th

e
 f
lo

o
d
in

g
 e

x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
d
 i
n
 J

u
n
e
 a

n
d
 J

u
ly

. 
T

h
e
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
to

r 
w

a
s
 u

n
a
b
le

 t
o
 m

a
in

ta
in

 i
ts

 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 d

u
e
 t

o
 t

h
e
ir
 p

re
m

is
e
s
 b

e
in

g
 f

lo
o
d
e
d
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 n

e
e
d
 t

o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 

a
s
s
is

ta
n

c
e
 t
o
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
. 

T
h
is

 r
e
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 a

 m
in

o
r 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
v
e
h

ic
le

s
 b

e
in

g
 p

ic
k
e
d
 u

p
 o

u
ts

id
e
 t
h
e
 2

4
 h

o
u
r 

ti
m

e
 w

in
d
o
w

. 
H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 t
o
 s

e
t 
th

is
 i
n
 c

o
n
te

x
t,
 t
h
e
 m

a
x
im

u
m

 t
im

e
 o

v
e
r 

th
e
 2

4
 h

o
u
r 

d
e
a
d
lin

e
 w

a
s
 1

.5
 h

o
u
rs

. 
 A

lt
h
o
u
g
h
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 t

o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 o

v
e
r 

th
e
 c

o
m

in
g
 

m
o
n

th
s
 i
t 

is
 u

n
lik

e
ly

 t
h

a
t 
th

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 w

ill
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
 i
ts

 y
e

a
r 

e
n
d
 t
a
rg

e
t.
 A

s
 s

u
c
h
, 
th

e
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
p
re

d
ic

te
d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 f
ig

u
re

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 r

e
v
is

e
d
 t
o
 8

6
%

.

A
lt
h

o
u
g

h
 o

u
r 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 h

a
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 o

n
 t
h

e
 l
a
s
t 
q
u

a
rt

e
r 

a
n
d
 i
s
 a

n
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n

t 
o
n
 o

u
r 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 s

a
m

e
 p

e
ri
o
d
 l
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r,

 w
e
 a

re
 s

ti
ll 

n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie

v
in

g
 o

u
r 

ta
rg

e
ts

 b
y
 a

 s
m

a
ll 

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
. 

A
ls

o
, 

th
e
 v

a
s
t 

m
a
jo

ri
ty

 o
f 

th
e
 j
o
b
s
 u

s
e

d
 t

o
 c

a
lc

u
la

te
 t

h
is

 

P
I 
w

e
re

 c
re

w
 `

s
p
o
ts

' a
n
d
 w

it
h
o

u
t 
th

e
s
e

 t
h
e
 f
ig

u
re

 r
e
p
o

rt
e
d

 w
o
u
ld

 b
e
 h

ig
h
e
r.

 

R
e
s
p
o
n

s
iv

e
n
e

s
s
 t
o
 j
o

b
s
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 t
y
p
e
 a

n
d
 s

iz
e

 o
f 
fl
y
 t
ip

s
 b

e
in

g
 r

e
c
o

v
e
re

d
 w

ill
 b

e
 e

x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
.

W
it
h

 r
e
g

a
rd

 t
o

 d
a
ta

 q
u

a
lit

y
, 
th

e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 n

o
w

 b
e
e
n

 r
e
s
o
lv

e
d
.

Page 47



Page 48

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (Environment and Neighbourhoods) 
 
Date: 21st November 2007 
 
Subject: Outcomes of research into the housing market in Leeds 
 

        
 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 

1.1 At the beginning of the municipal year, Members of the Board requested 
information on the Housing Market Assessment, which linked into discussions 
around the recommendations following an inquiry into Affordable Housing. 

 
 
2.0 Information submitted to the Board 
 

2.1 Attached to this report is a report on the outcomes of research into the housing 
market in Leeds that has been provided by the department. 

 
 
3.0 Recommendation 
 

3.1 Members are requested to note the information provided and make comments 
and recommendations as appropriate. 

 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
 

 

 

Originator:P Marrington  
 
Tel: 3951151 

 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report)  
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 49



Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank



    ITEM 10 (a)  
 
 
Report of the Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods 
 
Scrutiny Board (Environment and Neighbourhoods) 
 
Date:         21st November 2007 
 
Subject:  Outcomes of research into the housing market in Leeds  
 

        
 
 
1.0   Introduction 

1.1 Over the past year, a number of pieces of research have been commissioned by 
both the council and private sector housing providers to provide a robust evidence 
base from which to plan the future of housing in Leeds.  The research undertaken 
includes: 

• Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

• Research into Demand for Council Housing 

• City Centre Housing research 

• Housing and Economic growth in the Leeds City Region research 

• Student Housing research 

• West Yorkshire BME Housing research 

• West Yorkshire Private Rented Sector research 

1.2 The Council, in conjunction with the Leeds Housing Partnership, commissioned the 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (HMA).  Communities and Local Government 
require this assessment to review future demand across all housing tenures. 

1.3 In addition, as a linked piece of research, the Demand for Council Housing research 
focused on the movement and changes that have occurred over recent years in the 

Specific implications for:  

 
Ethnic minorities 
  
Women 
 
Disabled people  
 
Narrowing the gap 

Electoral wards affected:  

All 
 
 
 
 
 

       Ward Members consulted 
  (referred to in report) 
 

 

 

 

Originator: Ernie Gray/ 
Simeon Perry 

Tel: x76765/ 50503 

 

Page 51



supply and demand of social housing, and to understand who was accessing 
council homes.  

1.4 Both reports were completed in summer 2007.  The HMA involved:  

• a review of secondary data, and other research and evidence;  

• a survey of 3,543 households, assessing housing demand both across tenure 
and across the city;  

• additional reports on older people, Black and Minority Ethnic needs, and rural 
housing needs in the city. 

1.5 The HMA stated that 1889 new affordable homes per annum were required to meet 
housing needs in the city.  The Demand for Social Housing research predominantly 
analysed the drivers for demand, including a detailed analysis of the current 
customer profiles of those who want council housing.  

1.6 The Demand for Social Housing research supported the HMA in showing 
considerably more demand than supply of social housing, and recommended a 
number of measures to increase supply.  In addition, it showed that the future tenant 
base is changing, due to rehousing those in greater housing need.  As a result, a 
change in the way housing management services are provided will be required. 

The research into housing and employment growth in the Leeds City Region 
identified a need to improve the supply of housing, and the quality and range of the 
housing offered, if continued economic growth is to continue.  Housing for low paid 
workers is as important as provision of high quality housing options for high earners. 

The  external research carried out by DTZ into city centre housing that was 
highlighted in the local press, found that demand for city living had not proved to be 
as robust as initially anticipated.  There is potentially an oversupply of apartments, as 
shown by the relatively high level of empty properties, especially in the ‘fringe’ city 
centre developments.  It also showed that there could be future demand from low 
paid city centre workers for cheaper rented housing in Leeds City Centre. 

The increase in purpose built accommodation for students has led to unlet shared 
housing in the Leeds 6, area and action is now needed to bring those back into use. 

2.0 Presentation submitted to the Board 

2.1 The analysis from all this research has been placed into a presentation for the 
Board to comment on. The presentation sets out the following key areas for further 
discussion. 

• An overview of the research. 

• The current Leeds Housing Markets – key issues across the housing market 
zones. 

• Emerging demand for both owner occupied and social housing. 

• The change in the size of properties across the city. 

• Entry level salaries for buyers across the city. 

Page 52



• An overall assessment of the targets to increase affordable housing and current 
delivery. 

• The effects of the changes to the levels of affordable housing on a scheme. 

2.2 Members should note that officers from Development Department in conjunction 
with officers from Environment and Neighbourhoods are starting the work to 
produce the Supplementary Document on Affordable Housing that will replace the 
existing Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) on Affordable Housing. 

2.3 The Housing Market Assessment for Leeds has identified the need to set affordable 
housing provision between 25 to 40%. The Regional Spatial Strategy envisages 30 
to 40 % affordable housing across Leeds. The Supplementary Planning Document 
will need to conform to the regional objectives. 

3.0 Recommendations 

3.1 Members are requested to consider the information in the presentation and 
comment on key issues identified. 

 

 

Page 53



Page 54

This page is intentionally left blank



1

The New Housing Market in Leeds

Evidence Base

• Strategic Housing Market Assessment

• Research into Demand for Council 
Housing

• City centre housing research

• Housing and Economic growth in the 
Leeds City Region research

• Student housing research

• West Yorkshire BME housing research

• West Yorkshire private rented sector 
research

Affordable
Housing is 
now a key 

issue for the 
Government

Housing Green Paper

More Homes

• 3million new homes by 2020

• Annual House building target 
increased to 240,000

• 45,000 new homes for  social 
rent

• 25,000 shared ownership

• Local housing companies

Housing Green Paper

Building homes more quickly

• unlocking the planning system

• releasing land for development 

Greener Homes

• High environmental standards

• Carbon zero developments by 2016

What is changing the Housing Market 
in Leeds?

Demographic changes

• Increasing population

• Net in-migration

Successful local economy

• Employment/commuterism

• student population

Page 55



2

Patterns of Demand

Households seeking to buy

5.9%

9.6%

2.3%

1 bed

52.1%

71.2%

33.1%

1 – 2 bed

73.6%

86.5%

70.6%

2 – 3 

beds

47.8%

28.8%

66.7%

3+ beds

ALL

Newly forming 

households

Existing

Households

Patterns of Demand

Households seeking to rent (social housing)

31.9%71.5%67.9%21.6%ALL

13.3%71.1%86.3%29.0%
Newly forming 

households

50.5%71.8%49.5%14.1%Existing Households

3+ beds2 – 3 beds1 – 2 bed1 bed 

50%

25%

0%

75%

100

1995 - 2000 2000 - 2003 2003 - 2007

Supply of New Homes
(Completions Flats/Houses)

6.8%

30.1%

63.7%

65.7%

57.9%

30.1%

22.6%

12.0%

11.7%

1995-2000

2000-03

2003-07

1 bedroom 2 - 3 Bedroom 4+ Bedroom

Supply of New Homes
(Completions property size)

£25,000
£45,000
£65,000
£85,000

£105,000
£125,000
£145,000
£165,000
£185,000

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Leeds Y&H Region West Yorks

Average house price (Regional) 1999 -2007

Source: Land Registry House Price Index report 2006

197% 190% 194% 220% 244%

London Westminster Croydon England & Wales Leeds

Average percentage  house price increase 
2000 - 2007

Page 56



3

Joint Income needed to 

afford entry level house 

property (2006)

(Source: Land Registry)

Affordability

Hyde Park £56,700
Chapel Allerton £56,500
Kirkstall £52,600
Chapeltown £41,300
Stanningley £40,500
Bramley £39,100
North Seacroft £38,800
North Gipton £35,000
Harehills £33,000

Annual joint income needed to 
afford entry level price

Collingham £128,700
Adel £92,000
Bardsey £82,100
Headingley £77,900
Alwoodley £72,900
Guiseley £67,300
Otley £67,100
Roundhay £62,500
Aberford £61,100

Salaries in Leeds: 2007

HGVHGV driverdriver

17,20017,200 --££19,000 (source 19,000 (source –– Yorkshire Post)Yorkshire Post)

Deputy Sister (St JamesDeputy Sister (St James’’))

££22,88622,886 –– ££31,004 (Source 31,004 (Source NHSNHS Recruiting)Recruiting)

New Police OfficerNew Police Officer

Starting Salary Starting Salary ££23,454 (23,454 (HansardHansard Feb 2007)Feb 2007)

Newly qualified teacherNewly qualified teacher

££20,13320,133 –– ££29,427 (Education Leeds)29,427 (Education Leeds)

Environmental Health Officer (post qualification)Environmental Health Officer (post qualification)

StartingStarting salary salary ££20,895 (Leeds City Council)20,895 (Leeds City Council)

Catering Team Leader Catering Team Leader 

££14,500 (source 14,500 (source –– Yorkshire Post)Yorkshire Post)

What is

happening in

different parts

of the city?

Housing Market zones

source Housing Market Assessments 2002 & 2007

City Centre

Inner Urban/’inner rim’ areas

Inner Suburban areas

Outer Suburban areas

Outer Areas & villages

Housing Market zones

source Housing Market Assessments 2002 & 2007

City Centre

Inner Urban/’inner rim’ areas

Inner Suburban areas

Outer Suburban areas

Outer Areas & villages

Outer Areas & villages 

• Limited new supply

• Need joint income of  

over 100,000 to afford 

entry level

• Escalating demand

• Little social housing 

and few vacancies 

arising

Outer Areas & villages 

• Limited new supply

• Need joint income of  

over 100,000 to afford 

entry level

• Escalating demand

• Little social housing 

and few vacancies 

arising

Page 57



4

Housing Market zones

source Housing Market Assessments 2002 & 2007

City Centre

Inner Urban/’inner rim’ areas

Inner Suburban areas

Outer Suburban areas

Outer Areas & villages

Outer Suburban

•Over  £65,000 per year 

joint income needed to 

afford entry level

•Vacancies in social 

housing reducing 

substantially

•Limited new supply of 

social housing and few 

vacancies arising

Outer Suburban

•Over  £65,000 per year 

joint income needed to 

afford entry level

•Vacancies in social 

housing reducing 

substantially

•Limited new supply of 

social housing and few 

vacancies arising

Housing Market zones

source Housing Market Assessments 2002 & 2007

City Centre

Inner Urban/’inner rim’ areas

Inner Suburban areas

Outer Suburban areas

Outer Areas & villages

Inner Suburban

•Limited new supply

•Need joint income of  

over £100,000 to afford 

entry level  

•Impact of student 

housing market

•Escalating demand

•Reducing social 

housing stock and 

vacancies 

Inner Suburban

•Limited new supply

•Need joint income of  

over £100,000 to afford 

entry level  

•Impact of student 

housing market

•Escalating demand

•Reducing social 

housing stock and 

vacancies 

Housing Market zones

source Housing Market Assessments 2002 & 2007

City Centre

Inner Urban/’inner rim’ areas

Inner Suburban areas

Outer Suburban areas

Outer Areas & villages

Inner Urban/’inner 

rim’

•Significant new build in 

EASEL and potentially at 

Middleton

•Largest proportional 

increase in prices; 

•Over 23,000per year 

needed to afford entry level

•Attractive for investors.

Inner Urban/’inner 

rim’

•Significant new build in 

EASEL and potentially at 

Middleton

•Largest proportional 

increase in prices; 

•Over 23,000per year 

needed to afford entry level

•Attractive for investors.

Housing Market zones

source Housing Market Assessments 2002 & 2007

City Centre

Inner Urban/’inner rim’ areas

Inner Suburban areas

Outer Suburban areas

Outer Areas & villages

City Centre

•Investment market still 

buoyant

•Oversupply of 1 bed 

apartments?

•Sustainability of further 

supply

•Reducing owner 

occupier demand?

City Centre

•Investment market still 

buoyant

•Oversupply of 1 bed 

apartments?

•Sustainability of further 

supply

•Reducing owner 

occupier demand?

How does 
this affect 
choices of 
tenure?

Shared Equity & Sub Market Rent

“Intermediate Housing”

• Still very small part of the 
housing market

• Only 128 new units added 
last year

• Still lack of awareness and 
reluctance to take up

• 35% of households in 
Housing Assessment Survey 
reported interest

Page 58



5

Private Rented housing

• Increasing option of choice

• Buy to let

• Average rents high 

• affordable on low to average 
incomes through sharing

• asylum seekers/migrants 

• discharge of homelessness 
duty

• “Churning”

Social Housing

• Vastly reduced social 
housing stock.

• Tenant base changing. 

• Demand buoyant. 

• Vacancies falling.

• Increasingly used for 
statutory duties.

• Reduced mobility within 
the tenure.

What can 

we do?

Market Housing

Social Housing

Low Cost Home 

Ownership

The old 
housing
ladder

Affordable housing for rent(up to £60 per week)

Intermediate Housing – sub-market rents£60 - £100 per week for those unable to afford market prices

Intermediate Housing – Discounted Sale/Shared OwnershipPurchaser buys a stake and RSL retains the rest.For those unable to afford market prices

‘Starter Homes’/ Low Cost Market housing(e.g. Debut, IKEA, BoKlok £60 - £120,000 For 1st time buyers)

Market Housing for Sale/rentAll prices and types

Housing
Options 
Advice

Assistance 
to Home 

Ownership

The new 
housing
ladder

71%

2- 3 

bedrooms

71%

2- 3 

bedrooms

Government’s Housing Needs ModelGovernment’s Housing Needs Model

Affordable Housing

1,9001,900

x 15 yearsx 15 years

==2850028500

1,1001,100

x15yearsx15years

=16500=16500

Leeds Strategic 
Housing Partnership 

Target

Housing Market 
Assessment

Page 59



6

2200 1400 500

0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

Full Market Intermediate Housing Social Rent

Government’s Housing Needs ModelGovernment’s Housing Needs Model Annual New Build Targets 2011 - 2021Annual New Build Targets 2011 - 2021

4200

1900
11001100 240240

Current performance

Strategic Partnership

HMA assessment

Whole Market

Total New BuildTotal New Build Affordable HomesAffordable Homes

9003300

0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

Home ownership For rent.

New opportunities for home ownershipNew opportunities for home ownership

Home ownership includes full market 

& shared equity (shared ownership/equity, low cost)
Roundhay/Moortown

A scheme of 150 properties in 

Rounday/Moortown Current arrangements

Other Low CostFull Market Social Rent

Page 60



7

New arrangements

Full Market Shared Equity Sub Market Rent Social Rent

Housing Market zones

source Housing Market Assessments 2002 & 2007

City Centre

Inner Urban/’inner rim’ areas

Inner Suburban areas

Outer Suburban areas

Outer Areas & villages

LCC sites for development

SwarcliffeLittle LondonHolbeck & BeestonPFI schemes
Phase 1 (2008–11)

Phase 2 (2011-13)

Phase 3 (2013–15)

EASEL

Risks of not acting to increase 
affordable housing

• Increasing number of low paid workers 
unable to access housing 

• Home ownership unaffordable to those on 
average incomes

• Workers unable to find housing may look 
to other towns/cities

The next steps

• LCC Leadership Team 

• Strategic Housing 
Partnership

• Consultation with 
Political Groups

• Planning Policy & 
Guidance

• Influence on future 
changes & developments

Page 61



Page 62

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report of the Chief Environmental Health Officer 
Scrutiny Board (Environment & Neighbourhoods) 
Date: 21st November 2007 
 
Subject: Rodent Control in Leeds 
 

        
 
 

1. Executive Summary  
 
1.1 This report provides information for Members on the incidence of rodents in 

Leeds, the Council’s obligations under the prevention of Damage by Pests 
Act, the structure and performance of the Pest Control Service and the 
further opportunities to develop the service and improve service standards. 

 
2. Background 

 
2.1 Public health is at the traditional heart of municipal service and the control of 

pests is a crucial element of this. Local authorities have a plethora of public 
health responsibilities placed upon them, including a number relating to the 
control of rodents. 

 
2.2 The principal legislative requirements of Local Authorities in relation to pest 

control are to: 
 

• Destroy rats and mice on land occupied by a Local Authority and to 
keep such land free from rats and mice as far as reasonably practicable. 

• Enforce the duties of owners and occupiers of land to rid their land of 
potential hazards which cause pest problems. 

 
2.3 To meet this duty, the Council provides a district-wide reactive pest control 

service to survey and treat for rodents, insects and other pests. It is a well 
established service and is usually the first port of call for residents 
experiencing problems with pests.  

 
2.4 A range of other services provided by the Council also support the control of 

rodents. These include street cleansing services, refuse collection, control of 
litter from fast food premises, fly tipping, returning derelict and empty 
properties back into use and the control of defective drains and sewers. 

 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected: All 

 
 

 

 

Originator: Keith Gibson 
 
Tel:2476243  

 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report)  
 

Agenda Item 11

Page 63



These services and activities all assist in reducing the numbers of rodents, 
particularly the rat population, by removing sources of food and harborage 
for the pests. 

 
 

3 Rats and Mice in Leeds  
 

3.1 It is impossible to put a figure on the number of rats and mice in Leeds as 
the population changes rapidly and is extremely difficult to monitor. However, 
comparative data is available both nationally and locally which demonstrates 
changes in the rat population in terms of increases / decreases and hotspot 
areas. 

 
3.2 The main source of such information is the trend in requests for pest control 

services made by residents. This source is clearly not an absolute measure 
as the numbers reported are affected by residents who tolerate pest 
problems, treat the pests themselves or choose to use private contractors. 
This information is supplemented by local surveys undertaken by 
Environmental Health staff when hot-spots of pest activity become apparent. 
Data is also obtained from Yorkshire Water who undertake treatments for 
rats in sewers. 

 
3.3 Whilst the number and location of requests for pest control services is not an 

exact science, it provides a good indication of rodent activity in the city.  
 

3.4 Table no1 below details the number of requests for service made to the 
Leeds pest control service for rats and mice over the last 5 years. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Table 1  
Requests for service Rats and Mice in Leeds 2003 to date showing the year on year 
change and percentage change from 2003 
 

Number of 
requests 
for service 

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 to Oct  

 
RATS  

2443 1875 4723 3753 2785 
4774* 
 

Change 
from 2003 
 

- -24% +93% +53% +95% * 

Change, yr 
on yr 

 
- 

 
-24% 

 
+151% 

 
-20% 

 
+27% * 

 
MICE  

463 424 784 447 248 
425* 
 

Change 
from 2003 

- -8.4% +69% -3.4% -8.3% * 

Change, yr 
on yr  

- -8.4% +84% -57% -5% * 

 
* Full year estimates 
 

Page 64



4.         The National picture 
 

4.1 The annual National Rodent Survey conducted by the National Pest 
Technicians Association (NPTA) is the best source of data on national trends 
in rodent populations. This data also relies on collating requests for service 
received by participating local authorities. The survey has been undertaken 
in the same format for a number of years so is a good indication of the 
national trend over time. 

 
4.2 Table no2 shows the latest available data for the year on year increase in 

requests for service for the common brown rat and house mice from 1998/9 
to 2005/6. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.3 The  sighting of the common brown rat has increased year on year except for 
a reduction in the trend during 2004/5,  whereas the house mouse numbers 
fell from 1998/9 to 2003/4 but has shown a substantial increase to 12.5 % 
between then and 2005/6. 

 
4.4 The NPTA also provide regional statistics. The Yorkshire region year on year 

increase at 2005/6 being 6% for the brown rat and 10% for the house 
mouse. This compares favourably with the national average of 13% for the 
brown rat and 14% for house mice. The highest levels of increase for 2005/6 
were reported at 39% for brown rats in Northern Ireland and 29% for the 
house mice in the South East. 

 
 
 
 

Table 2  
 
NPTA  National data Common Brown Rat  
 
1998 to 2005 year on year increase 39.% 
 

% 
Increase 

98/99 99/200 01/02 02/03 03/04 04/05 05/06 

RATS 18% 24% 29% 32% 34% 26% 32% 
 

 
 
NPTA  National data House Mouse  
 
1998 to 2005 year on year increase 12.5% 
 

% 
Increase 

98/99 99/200 01/02 02/03 03/04 04/05 05/06 

RATS -2% -7% -7.5 % -8.5% -8.5% -1.5% 12.5% 
 

 

Page 65



5. Problems associated with Rats and Mice 
 
5.1 Problems with rats and mice in the environment can be divided into two main 

areas: the health risks and the economic costs in terms of damage caused to 
property and goods.  

 
5.2 The main health risk posed to humans is from parasites and pathogens 

carried by rats and mice on their bodies and excreted in faeces and urine; 
the most common pathogens being Salmonella and Leptospira  species. The 
incidence of Salmonella species in humans is more commonly associated 
with poor food hygiene practices than a direct connection to rodents. 
Leptospira (an organism that causes Weils Disease) is however, directly 
associated with rats, in Leeds one case has been reported over the summer 
this year, previous to this the last reported case of this infection in was in 
2003. 

 
5.3 In addition, the presence of rats and mice in close proximity or in the home, 

can exacerbate stress and allergies and of course there is also the risk of the 
direct contamination of food stuffs.  

 
5.4 Economic damage includes the costs associated with spoilage or loss of 

food stuff, damage to buildings by burrowing or gnawing of electric, gas and 
water pipes etc. Other costs include lost productivity from people being 
forced to take time off sick, the cost of treatment / drugs and of course the 
costs associated with treating the rats and mice either by the Council, home 
owners or the private companies which are affected.   

 
 

6. The Pest Control Service in Leeds 
 

6.1 The Pest Control Service is provided through the following:  
 

• Pest Control Manager  

• Senior Technician 

• 3 Technicians 

• 21/2  Admin officers 

• An external contractor (working in partnership with the Council to 
undertake the bulk of the reactive work on domestic premises). 

• Customer Services Officers at the Corporate Contact Centre who 
answer incoming calls and give advice.  

 
6.2 The service serves a wide and established customer base including 

businesses, institutions e.g. Leeds University, Leeds Teaching Hospitals 
NHS Trust, other council departments, the ALMOs and of course the 
general public. These services comprise of:- 

 

• Undertaking re-active pest control treatments and associated works on 
request from the general public, businesses and other Council bodies in 
partnership with Rentokil Pest Control. 

 

Page 66



• Entering into contracts with businesses and other Council departments 
to provide programmed pest prevention services.  

 

• Provision of a consultative service within environmental health and to 
other council departments e.g. expert advice and joint visits with food 
safety team and general advice to members of the public around insect 
identification, “self help” treatments and other issues. 

 

• Provision of the dedicated “Silver phone number” manned by corporate 
contact centre staff who process requests for service and provide 
general advice on the treatment of pests where customers do not wish 
to use our services for which we make a charge. 

 

• Provision of a website and contact point (pests@leeds.gov.uk) which 
provides access for customer service, advice and information on pest 
identification and DIY treatment of pests.  

 
6.3 The Councils current charging policy includes the provision of a number of 

free services to the residents of Leeds. These are a free service for rats in 
or at residential premises, a free service for wasps’ nests to the elderly in 
receipt of Pensioner’s Credit and free consultancy / insect identification for 
all service users. A charge is made for all other services with some 
exceptions around where area treatments for extensive infestations where it 
is not always possible to establish any one person as being responsible. 

 
6.4 Table 3 below details the current charges which have been set for 2007/8 

 

PEST RESIDENTIAL 

Rats (Owner occupier) 

 

Free 

Rats (Landlord of rented property) 
 

£75.00    (£63.83 + VAT) 

Mice 
 

£75.00    (£63.83 + VAT) 

  

Insects general (fleas, cockroaches, 
bedbugs, pharaohs ants) 
 

£100.00  (£85.11 + VAT) 

Insects other (flies, ants, silverfish, 
woodlice etc)   
 

£50.00    (£42.55 + VAT) 

  

Wasps 
 
(OAP pensioners credit) 

£50. 00    (£42.55 + VAT) 
 
Free 

  

Squirrels 
 

£100. 00  (£85.11 + VAT) 

 *All prices are for full 
treatment  

Page 67



 
6.5  Following an extensive review of the pest control service, changes have 

been implemented over the last two years to provide a more efficient and 
responsive service. These changes have included:- 

 

• The extension of working hours to include some services early evenings 
and every Saturday morning. 

• The introduction of an appointments system for visits, to allow 
treatments to take place at the customer’s convenience. 

• The installation and use of an IT system to log, monitor and track 
requests for service. 

• the use of the corporate call centre to provide a front of office resource 
to give practical advice and log requests for service. 

• The use of electronic up-front payment for chargeable services reducing 
dramatically the cost of invoicing and payment collection. 

• Following a competitive tendering process, a partnership arrangement 
with Rentokil has been established to provide the reactive domestic pest 
control service for Leeds  

• The provision of minor pest proofing services for customers when 
Rentokil technicians are on site. 

 
6.6 To ensure that Rentokil have a significant financial interest in particular in 

reducing the overall rat population in Leeds (and therefore the number of 
request for service to treat rats).The contractual arrangements require that 
Rentokil do not to charge the Council for the treatment of rats on or at 
domestic premises. Rentokil’s fee is based on a positive percentage of the 
income received from chargeable domestic pest control work only (see 
table 3), which is undertaken by them as part of the contract.  

 

6.7 Rentokil were awarded the contract at the beginning of June 2007. Seven 
dedicated staff are employed to service the contract including three 
technicians who were transferred to the company as part of the TUPE 
contractual arrangements. These staff have been supplemented further by 
Rentokil over the busy months of August and September. 

 
6.8 As with most new contracts, there have been teething problems. In this 

case, these have mainly stemmed from IT system issues which are relied 
upon for adequate reporting and monitoring arrangements both by the 
Council and the contractor. There are still a number of improvements and 
changes to be implemented over the coming months. The problems have 
unfortunately been compounded by the high level of demand for the service 
at the time the contract commenced, with wasp treatments being 
exceptionally high during the late summer. The graph below illustrates the 
requests for service received between March 06 and September 07 for 
comparison. 

 

Page 68



 
  
 
 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

6.9 Regular meetings are held with the contractor to discuss problems, 
performance and opportunities to improve the service. Continual monitoring 
of the service and ongoing customer satisfaction information is being 
gathered and assessed to judge performance. 

 
7. Service Performance Data 

  
7.1 The provision of the Caps Uniform IT system (although not yet fully 

developed) has enabled the measurement of a range of performance data, 
the key measurements being :- 

1) The time taken from the customer calling the contact centre to an 
appointment to visit being made (target 1 working day) 

2) The time taken from contacting the customer to the first treatment  
(target 5 working days) 

3) The time taken for completing the treatment (varies due to type of pest 
but for rats and mice its 90% in15 working days) 

4) The time taken following completion of the treatment for it be closed 
out on the computer system (target 5 working days). 

 
7.2 Due difficulties mentioned earlier, it has not been possible to track all the 

above key measurements for the first quarter of the contract. Procedures 
are however now in place and this information will be available for all the 
requests for service from October.  

 
7.3 Data from the commencement of the contract is however available to show 

the time taken by Rentokil from start of treatment to finish, where the 
treatments have now been completed and the database updated. Table 4 

Pest Control Requests for service

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

Mar-

06

Apr-

06

May-

06

Jun-

06

Jul-

06

Aug-

06

Sep-

06

Oct-

06

Nov-

06

Dec-

06

Jan-

07

Feb-

07

Mar-

07

Apr-

07

May-

07

Jun-

07

Jul-

07

Aug-

07

Sep-

07

Month and Year

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
re

q
u
e
s
ts

Wasps & Bees Rats & Mice Rats in Gardens

Page 69



below details all pest control treatments which have been completed and 
closed out on the computer system. This shows LCC performance from 
January to April 2007 prior to the contract being let and Rentokil’s 
performance from June to September 2007 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The data shows that a number of requests for service have not yet been 
closed down. This can be explained by the treatment being ongoing, but it 
is more likely that the database has not been updated fully to close-out. 
Because of the process currently in place Rentokil are only able to up date 
the data base on completion of the treatments. Work is ongoing to resolve 
this and Rentokil technicians will be receiving PDA’s to record information 
from November onwards this should enable data to be input prior to 
completion of the treatment. 

 
 
 
 
 

 Table 4  
All pest treatments completed and closed out.  
LCC performance 1st January 2007 to April 30th 2007 
 

 
Total requests 

for service Total completed 

  No. % 

    

Jan 431 430 99% 

    

Feb 469 390 83% 

    

Mar 559 399 71% 

    

April 720 677 94% 

 
All pest treatments completed and closed out.  
Rentokil’s performance 1st June 2007 to 30th September 2007 
 

 
Total requests 

for service Total completed 

  No. % 

    

June 707 692 98% 

    

July 1152 1131 98% 

    

August 1282 1059 83% 

    

September 908 647 71% 

 

Page 70



7.4 Tables 5 and 6 below show the time in working days from start to finish of 
the treatment, for requests for service which have been fully closed-out.  

 
 

   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table 5  
Completion times for Rats and Mice  
LCC performance 1st January 2007 to April 30th 2007 
 
 Time to complete 

 
Total Total completed 

1 to 15 wkg days 1 to 25 wkg days 

  No. % No. % No. % 

        

Jan 390 389 99% 95 24% 294 75% 

        

Feb 351 337 69% 47 13% 290 83% 

        

Mar 345 328 95% 46 13% 282 82% 

        

April 566 540 95% 112 20% 428 76% 

        

 
Completion times for Rats and Mice  
Rentokil’s performance 1st June 2007 to 30th September 2007 
 
 Time to complete 

 
Total Total completed 

1 to 15 wkg days 1 to 25 wkg days 

  No. % No. % No. % 

        

June 457 442 97% 175 40% 248 56% 

        

July 365 348 95% 70 20% 93 27% 

        

August 419 233 56% 105 45% 149 64% 

        

September 377 148 39% 118 80% 132 89% 

        

 

Page 71



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
7.4 The percentage of requests for service completed by Rentokil within the key 

performance targets of 5, 15 and 25 working days has increased over the 3 
months of the contract (from 81% to 90%, 40% to 80% and 56% to 89% 
respectively). The percentage of requests for service completed and logged 
on the computer data base on which these figures are based for these early 
months of the contract is 87%. 

 
 

 
7.5 Rentokil have made a commitment to ensure that the computer data base is 

updated as soon as possible after the treatment works have been 
completed. Their processes have been reviewed, systems changed to 
accommodate this, and the new key performance measures in 7.1 above 

Table 6 
Completion times for pests other than rats & mice  
LCC performance 1st January 2007 to April 30th 2007 
 
 Time to complete 

 
Total Total completed 

1 to 5 working days 

  No. %age No. %age 

      

Jan 41 41 100% 10 24% 

      

Feb 118 53 45% 14 12% 

      

Mar 214 71 33% 28 13% 

      

April 154 137 89% 84 55% 

 
Completion times for pests other than rats & mice  
Rentokil’s performance 1st June 2007 to 30th September 2007 
 

 Time to complete 

 
Total Total completed 

1 to 5 working days 

  No. %age No. %age 

      

June 250 250 100% 202 81% 

      

July 787 783 99% 681 87% 

      

August 863 823 95% 752 91% 

      

September 531 499 94% 451 90% 

 

Page 72



agreed. A key problem has been having one point of reference which can 
be used to track requests for service and manage the work load. The whole 
process currently involves 3 separate computer systems (Siebel, Uniform 
and the contractors own system) with the gaps being filled in by email and 
phone text.   

 
7.6 Enhancements are awaiting to be completed to the IT and monitoring 

systems which will reduce a substantial amount of double keying, abortive 
back office work and make the service more responsive to customers. 
These enhancements include:- 

 

• A connector to allow the two databases in corporate call centre and the 
service to communicate. 

• The provision of printing and reporting facilities from CAP’s Uniform at  
Rentokil’s office to enable their back office staff to monitor work flows 
and progress daily. 

• The provision of hand held technology linking CAP’s Uniform directly to 
pest control technicians on site. 

• Use of CAP’s Uniform spatial GIS mapping capability to monitor 
requests for service across the city. 

 
 

7.7 Data on the quality of service is collected via on going customer feedback 
surveys. We are currently receiving returns from 40%  of our customers. 
The graphs below show all requests for service, including substantial 
numbers for the treatment of rats and mice. Customer comments for May 
2007 (prior to Rentokil being awarded the contract) are shown, to compare 
with comments from August, ie two months into the contract. 

 
 
 
 

 
                                            May 2007                                               August 2007 

               

How would you rate

the quality of our service

Poor 4%

Fair 17%

Good 43%

Excellent 

29%

Very Poor 

7%

How would you rate

the quality of our service

Poor 7%

Fair 7%

Good 46%

Excellent 

36%

Very Poor

4%

 
 

 
 

 

Page 73



                                              May 2007                                           August 2007 

                

Overall, how did we do?

Fair 17%

Good 39%

Excellent 

29%
Poor 5%

Very Poor 

10%

Overall, how did we do?

Fair 12%

Good 46%

Excellent 

32%

Poor 6%

Very Poor

4%

 
 

 
7.8 Although there have been difficulties during the early stages of the contract, 

the customer satisfaction feedback is an improvement on the service prior 
to the letting of the contact. For example, 72% of customers rated the 
quality of the service excellent or good prior to the contract, with an 
increase to 82% afterwards. Similarly, views on ‘overall how good did we 
do?’ increased from 68% to 78% and ‘very poor’ reduced from 10% before 
the contract to 4% after. 

 
7.9 Improvements are in hand to deal with the issues which have arisen during 

the first 3 months of the contract, however the ideal ITC solution with direct 
mobile contact with the pest control technicians and real time updating is 
yet to be delivered.    

 
 

8. Looking ahead and further opportunities  
 

8.1 Structural changes within Environment and Neighborhoods around the 
Smarter Working; Better Results agenda and the developments within the 
pest control service over the last 18 months have created opportunities 
which can be exploited to reduce the rodent population in Leeds.  

 
8.2 Rentokil have recently been awarded the Yorkshire Water contract for the 

proactive sewer-baiting treatment work in the city. This enables a much 
more coordinated approach to dealing with area treatments for rats. This, 
linked to Rentokil’s  contract with the Council to treat rats at nil cost has 
focused their work towards Leeds & also certain areas of the city 
experiencing hot spots. 

 
8.3 The in-house pest control resource is now able to fully attend to area 

treatments, which are more effective that merely responding to complaints 
of pests in hot spot areas. One issue which does contribute to increase of 
the rodent population is the overfeeding of wild birds and again, time freed 
up from dealing with demand work will enable effort to be placed into 
advising and educating residents. 

 

Page 74



8.4 The in-house pest control service provides programmed pest prevention 
services for businesses and other council departments and the income from 
this work supports the cost of pest control work generally. In the past, the 
pest control service has been unable to meet its responsibilities to 
businesses nor expand this commercial work because of the pressures to 
complete the day to day domestic reactive work. This is no longer the case 
and enhanced income targets have been set to maximize income from this 
source. 

 
8.5 Ongoing discussions to merge the Environmental Health and Enforcement 

Division currently in City Services will ensure that on the ground area based 
teams will have a wider remit to deal with issues such as  

• Refuse  

• Litter 

• Fly tipping 

• Derelict and empty properties  

• Defective drains and sewers 

• Waste from commercial premises, particularly food premises. 
 
This local focus and mix of skills in one team under one management 
group will provide better opportunities for the coordination of these 
activities (all of which contribute to the control of rodents by denying them 
access to food and harbourage).  

 
8.6 The activities above are about looking at  a change of focus, moving away 

from just  pest control into pest management, working with Rentokil, the 
area action teams, residents and businesses not only to eradicate 
infestations but also to reduce the chances of future pest problems. 

 
 

9 Conclusions 
 
9.1 Indications both nationally and locally in Leeds are that the rodent 

population is on the increase. However in terms of the national picture, the 
recorded increase in West Yorkshire for 2005 is well below the national 
average. In terms of Leeds data for 2007, it does predict a significant 
increase on last years figures, but because of the cyclical nature of 
infestation trends, this would be only be a 2% increase on 2005. 

 
9.2 There are real risks in terms of health associated with rats and mice 

because of the parasites and pathogens they carry. It is difficult to link these 
directly with the infectious disease data which is collected for Leeds other 
than the 2 cases of Weils disease noted in the above text. From January to 
October 2007, 146 cases of Salmonella were reported in Leeds and most of 
these cases will be linked with poor food handling practices, however a 
small number of cases could be due to contact with rodents. 

 
9.3 The changes to the pest control service  in Leeds and the contracting out of 

domestic reactive work has created opportunities to develop and improve 
the service, some of which will be evident in future months. There have 
been difficulties in the first 3 months of the contract, particularly in terms of 

Page 75



performance data. Whilst this is being addressed, the results of the 
customer satisfaction surveys indicate that the service is perceived as being 
better than prior to the contractor-provided service. 

 
9.4 To substantially reduce the level of rats and mice in Leeds the focus of the 

pest control service needs to change from control to management. This will 
not be achieved with out the support of residents, businesses, our partner 
Rentokil, Yorkshire Water and activities around the ‘cleaner and greener’ 
agenda and other council departments. 

 
 

10. Recommendations  
 

10.1 Scrutiny board are recommended to note the content of this report 
regarding the population of rats and mice in Leeds, the Pest Control 
Service, the contract with Rentokil, the current performance data and the 
improvements which are underway and proposed to be completed in the 
future. 

   
10.2 That a further report be presented to Scrutiny Board to provide an update 

on contractor performance in particular that reflects the first six months of 
the contract period. 

 

Page 76



 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny Support and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (Environment and Neighbourhoods) 
 
Date: 21st November 2007 
 
Subject: Scrutiny Board Environment and Neighbourhoods - Inquiry into the Council’s 

CO2 emission Targets - Notes of the meeting of a Working Group held on 1st     
November 2007 

 
 

        
 
 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 At its meeting on June 14th 2007, the Board agreed to include on its work 

programme an inquiry into the Council’s Climate Change agenda.  Given that this is 
a wide ranging term, the Board subsequently agreed that the focus of the inquiry 
should be on the Council’s own CO2 emissions and the associated reduction 
targets.  

 
1.2 The Board has established a Working Group to undertake the majority of the 

evidence gathering for this Inquiry and met for the first time on 1st November 2007. 
 
1.3 Attached as Appendix 1 is a detailed note of this first meeting. The Working Group 

has identified a number of preliminary recommendations.  Further meetings of the 
Working Group will be held and these will be reported back to the full Board. 

 
2.0 Recommendation 
 
2.1 The Board is requested to: 

 
(i) Consider the attached note of the Working Group meeting and endorse its 

preliminary recommendations.  
 
(ii) Note that further meetings of the Working Group will be held and reported back 

to the full Board.   
 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Ethnic minorities 
  
Women 
 
Disabled people  
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  All 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ward Members consulted 
  (referred to in report) 

 

 

 

Originator: S Winfield  
 
Tel: 24 74707   

 

Agenda Item 12

Page 77



Page 78

This page is intentionally left blank



 
          Appendix 1 
          
 
Scrutiny Board Environment and Neighbourhoods - Inquiry into the Council’s 

CO2 emission Targets 
 

 
Notes of the meeting of a Working Group held on 1st November 2007 
 
Present:   Councillor Anderson 
  Councillor A Blackburn 
  Martin Farrington 
  Tom Knowland 
  George Munson 
  Nick Towers 
 
Background Information 
 
In January and February 2003, the former Scrutiny Board (Development and 
Sustainability) conducted an Inquiry into energy matters and published its final report 
and recommendations in April 2003.  
 
The Scrutiny Board concluded its investigations with the following recommendations: 

 
Recommendation 1 
That the Executive Member with accountability for energy matters champions 
all aspects of the Council’s energy responsibilities, taking a proactive role in 
promoting good practice throughout the city, as well as monitoring the 
Council’s own progress.  

 
Recommendation 2 
That the Council establishes a Working Group to draw up proposals to make 
progress against the 30% target and the action statements set out in the Leeds 
HECA Strategy and also effectively deliver the revised Fuel Poverty Strategy.  
 
Recommendation 3 
That the Working Group develops inter-agency co-operation with relevant 
stakeholders, including the Voluntary and Community sectors, to help deliver 
energy efficiency improvements. 
 
Recommendation 4 
Following the success of the Prescription for Health Improvement scheme, we 
recommend that the lessons learned from that initiative are rolled out across 
the City.  

 
Recommendation 5 
That, in implementing its fuel poverty strategy, the Council continues to 
maintain a watching brief on CO2 levels. 

 

Page 79



Recommendation 6 
That the Working Group reviews the role of Development Control and Building 
Control in setting and enforcing energy efficiency standards in the private 
sector.  Also, that, as the development agency for the Allerton Bywater 
Millennium Village, English Partnerships and other partnering organisations 
be stimulated into promoting the scheme as an exemplar of best practice 
where appropriate. 
 
Recommendation 7 
That the Energy Unit provide support to the Working Group to develop costing 
information for progressing the Leeds HECA Strategy. 
 
Recommendation 8 
That the Council explore all the opportunities available for accessing 
additional funding streams to help address the Council’s below average HECA 
performance and to start making in-roads to meeting the Government’s Fuel 
Poverty objectives. 
 
 
Recommendation 9 
That consideration be given to extending the remit of the Energy Efficiency 
Advice Centre (EEAC) to involve providing energy advice to small businesses 
within the City. 
 
Recommendation 10 
That serious consideration is given to provide additional staff to the Energy 
Advice Unit in Leeds, subject to an acceptable Business Plan. 
 
Recommendation 11 
That Local Members and ALMO Boards are briefed immediately on issues 
relating to energy matters and that further training and/or ongoing briefing 
sessions are supported at all levels of the Authority to ensure Local Members, 
officers and community representatives are kept fully aware of the issues and 
need relative to energy and fuel poverty.  
 
Recommendation 12 
That training is targeted specifically at officers, particularly front line officers, 
to raise awareness about energy efficiency measures relating to both work and 
home environments. 
 
Recommendation 13 
That costing information be produced for the Energy and Water Management 
Plan to enable monitoring.  
 
Recommendation 14 
That the Energy and Water Management Working Group explore options for 
incentivising departments to reduce their day to day energy consumption 

 
 
 

Page 80



Recommendation 15 
That the Head of Asset Management and the Acting Director of 
Neighbourhoods and Housing draw up an action plan, to be endorsed by the 
Executive Member, to respond to the Board’s recommendations and provide 
progress reports to Scrutiny. 
 
 
 
In July 2003, the Development Services Scrutiny Board considered the formal 
response and action plan to these recommendations from the Development and 
Neighbourhoods and Housing Departments.  At its January 2004 meeting, the Board 
also considered a progress report from the Development Department on the 
implementation of the action plan. 
 
After considering the formal response from both Departments on the 
recommendations arising from the Inquiry, the Board requested that future progress 
reports relating to energy housing issues be referred to the Neighbourhoods and 
Housing Scrutiny Board for action/determination.  
 
However, the Board welcomed the action plan and also welcomed the news of major 
progress in purchasing green energy for Council buildings.  
 
At its January 2004 meeting, the Board received a progress report on the 
Development Services energy issues. The Board commended the Department on 
the achievements made to date and in particular on winning the Carbon Trust 
Innovation Award in the category 'Larger Companies and Public Sector 
Organisations'.  
 
The Board requested that further updates on energy matters continue to be 
submitted to future Scrutiny Board meetings. 
 
In September 2007 Scrutiny Board (Environment and Neighbourhoods) agreed to 
include on the work programme an inquiry into the Council’s Climate Change 
agenda.  Given that this is a wide ranging term, the Chair suggested that the focus of 
the inquiry should be on the Council’s own CO2 emissions and the associated 
reduction targets.  
 
The Inquiry would look at the following areas; 
 

• Review of the DEFRA indicators relating to CO2 reduction; the 
definitions, targets and current performance. 

 

• Resourcing the climate change agenda in general and specifically with 
regard to reducing CO2 emissions 

 

• Role of external advisers/bodies in helping the Council to reduce its 
CO2 emissions 

 

• Energy management and the work of the departmental champions 
 

Page 81



• Future Council estate – sustainable building 
 

• Travel policies for staff and fleet management 
 

 
 
Working Group Meeting 1st November 2007 
 
The first session of the Working Group looked at the following areas; a review of the 
policy drivers, targets and current performance.  The papers provided to Members 
focused on the International and National policy background, the identification of key 
policies, existing targets and future target setting and the current performance 
baseline. 

Current performance baseline 

The pie chart below shows total corporate emissions for Leeds City Council for the 
year 2006/07 amounted to 95,000 tonnes of CO2.  It is hoped that emissions 
associated with staff travel for official duties and for employee commute can be 
included by 2008/09. 
 

Corporate emissions (tonnes of CO2 and percentage)

Buildings

79000

83%

Fleet

9700

10%

Street lighting

5300

6%

Waste

800

1%

 
 
This indicates that in 2006/07 emissions from the Leeds City Council building stock 
is approximately 61% lower than they were in 1991/2.  However, if we discount the 
CO2 reductions associated with purchasing green electricity (66,000 tonnes of CO2 in 
2005/06) then this figure reduces to 28%.  Figures for other elements of the baseline 
have not been calculated yet. 

Page 82



Existing targets and future target setting 

Currently, local authorities do not have any specific targets relating to reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions.   
 
However, LCC has already committed through the Energy and Water Management 
Plan to achieve a 15% reduction in CO2 emissions from our building stock between 
2004-08, which we are well on target to meet.   
 
It is possible that local authorities will be forced to adopt targets in future, potentially 
emerging through: 
 

• Climate Change Bill; 

• Carbon Reduction Commitment; 

• Comprehensive Area Assessment 
 
The developing Leeds Climate Change Strategy will contain an emissions target for 
the city.  This has yet to be agreed, but is likely to be in the order of 60-90% below 
1990 levels by 2050, with an interim target for 2025, to reflect current scientific 
developments. 
 
 
Comments and initial conclusions and recommendations 
 
The Working Group concurs with officer’s views that CAA and LAAs provide a strong 
opportunity to access specific new resources to tackle climate change within Leeds.   
 

Recommendation 1 
 
That at least one of the 35 LAA priorities for Leeds focuses on climate change to 
provide much needed new resources.   
 

 
The signing of the Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change by the Council in 
June 2006 is a clear statement that the Council identifies climate change as a 
strategic issue for the City.  Members acknowledge the development of a holistic 
climate change strategy for Leeds, which will contain specific actions both to reduce 
emissions from our estate, from the whole city and to adapt to climate change.  This 
should be published by June 2008. 
 
Members noted that the Joint Commitment drawn up by the Core Cities and to be 
launched in November 2007 contains a series of commitments from both 
Government and the cities including the commitment to; 
 

• Achieve or exceed targets for reducing CO2 emissions, increasing air quality 
standards and reducing landfill in line with the new Climate Change Bill and 
related legislation.  

• Reduce our own energy consumption and work jointly on increasing renewable 
energy generation, e.g. through Energy Service Companies 

 

Page 83



Members also note that the Core Cities Group has just been advised that the Carbon 
Trust has selected Leeds, Manchester and Bristol as the partners of choice.  This 
reflects the high level of commitment in each local authority and their local partners 
together with appropriate mechanisms to turn advice into action. LCC has much to 
gain from this professional advice and should use it to further strengthen the Leeds 
Climate Change Strategy. 
 
 
Energy Performance in Building Directive (EPBD) 
 
It is acknowledged that at this current stage the absence of government software is 
preventing the issue of Energy Certificates.  However it is also acknowledged that a 
thorough data validation exercise is taking place in lieu of the arrival of the software. 
 
However the Working Group would endorse the following recommendation 
 

Recommendation 2 
 
That all major sites are surveyed as soon as possible and where the certificates are 
poor, a clear plan of action to improve them up to the maximum feasible and viable 
score is drawn up 
 

 
Carbon Reduction Commitment 
 
Members of the Working Group acknowledge that Leeds City Council is likely to be 
part of the Carbon Reduction Commitment given our £20m utility bill.   
 
This provides an additional fiscal incentive to increase efforts to reduce emissions 
from our buildings.  However, if we do not prepare sufficiently for the introduction of 
the CRC there is potential to leave the council exposed to significant financial risks 
from poor pricing of auctioned credits and from poor management of trading 
arrangements.  
 
This will have budgetary implications and will need to be factored into the 2009 
budget calculations 
 

Recommendation 3 
 
That the CRC implications are factored into the 2009 budget calculations 

 
Street Lighting 

 
LCC is replacing all street lights with more efficient ones as part of a multi-million 
pound PFI contract.  This will reduce emissions by approximately 15%.  The Working 
Group would recommend that the potential for further reductions be reviewed such 
as the potential for altering the times that street lights are on and potentially through 
selective dimming late at night. 
 

Page 84



Recommendation 4 
 
That the potential for further reductions by the use of street lights be reviewed such 
as the potential for altering the times that street lights are on and potentially through 
selective dimming late at night. 

 
 
 
Reducing emissions from future buildings  
 
The Working Group endorses the officer recommendation that a policy be brought in 
to use Whole Life Costing analysis when specifying new LCC buildings or major 
refurbishments, linked to a ring-fenced fund to pay additional capital where revenue 
costs will recoup this within a 10 year period.  

Recommendation 5 

 
That a policy be brought in to use Whole Life Costing analysis when specifying new 
LCC buildings or major refurbishments, linked to a ring-fenced fund to pay additional 
capital where revenue costs will recoup this within a 10 year period.  
 

 
 
Fleet Management 
 
The Working Group concurs with the view that omissions from the Council’s fleet can 
be overlooked.  It is recommended that a review of this activity be undertaken within 
the context of the Green Travel Plan and that this should include a review of mileage 
rates. 
 

Recommendation 6 
 
That a review of fleet managements and operation is undertaken within the context 
of the Green Travel Plan and that this should include a review of mileage rates. 

 

Page 85



Page 86

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny Support and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (Environment and Neighbourhoods) 
 
Date: 21st November 2007 
 
Subject: Work Programme 
 

        
 
 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 The attached appendix provides Members with a copy of the Board’s current Work 

Programme (Appendix 1).  
 
1.2 At appendix 2 is the Forward Plan for November to February 2008. 
 
 
2.0 Recommendation 
 
2.1 The Board is requested to: 

 
(i) Determine any additional items for the Work Programme. 
 
(ii) Receive and make any changes to the attached Work Programme following 

decisions made at today’s meeting. 
 
 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Ethnic minorities 
  
Women 
 
Disabled people  
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  All 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ward Members consulted 
  (referred to in report) 

 

 

 

Originator: S Winfield  
 
Tel: 24 74707   

 

Agenda Item 13

Page 87



Page 88

This page is intentionally left blank



S
C
R
U
T
IN
Y
 B
O
A
R
D
 (
E
N
V
IR
O
N
M
E
N
T
 A
N
D
 N
E
IG
H
B
O
U
R
H
O
O
D
S
) 
W
O
R
K
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 (
O
C
T
O
B
E
R
) 
2
0
0
7
 

K
e
y
: 
 

C
C
F
A
 /
 R
F
S
 –
 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 c
a
ll 
fo
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
 /
 r
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

R
P
 –
  
R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
o
lic
y
 

D
P
 –
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w
 p
o
lic
y
 

M
S
R
 –
 M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
M
 –
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

B
 –
 B
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 (
In
c
lu
d
in
g
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
) 

S
C
 –
 S
ta
tu
to
ry
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

C
I 
–
 C
a
ll 
in
 

It
e
m
 

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

N
o
te
s
 

T
y
p
e
 o
f 

it
e
m
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
 –
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7
 

 
 

 
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

T
o
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 a
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
ra
c
k
in
g
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 r
e
s
u
lt
in
g
 f
ro
m
 

p
re
v
io
u
s
 i
n
q
u
ir
ie
s
. 

 
P
M
 

W
a
s
te
 

T
o
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 R
e
p
o
rt
 

 
R
P
 

L
e
tt
in
g
s
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
 

T
o
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 o
n
e
. 

 
R
P
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
 –
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
8
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
 –
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
8
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

T
o
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

re
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 

T
h
is
 i
s
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 

b
e
 s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 B
o
a
rd
’s
 w
o
rk
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 e
v
e
ry
 t
h
re
e
 m
o
n
th
s
. 

P
M
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
 –
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
 –
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
 

 
 

 
 

Page 89



S
C
R
U
T
IN
Y
 B
O
A
R
D
 (
E
N
V
IR
O
N
M
E
N
T
 A
N
D
 N
E
IG
H
B
O
U
R
H
O
O
D
S
) 
W
O
R
K
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 (
O
C
T
O
B
E
R
) 
2
0
0
7
 

K
e
y
: 
 

C
C
F
A
 /
 R
F
S
 –
 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 c
a
ll 
fo
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
 /
 r
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

R
P
 –
  
R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
o
lic
y
 

D
P
 –
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w
 p
o
lic
y
 

M
S
R
 –
 M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
M
 –
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

B
 –
 B
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 (
In
c
lu
d
in
g
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
) 

S
C
 –
 S
ta
tu
to
ry
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

C
I 
–
 C
a
ll 
in
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

U
n
s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 I
te
m
s
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 G
ro
u
p
s
 

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 g
ro
u
p
 

M
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 u
p
d
a
te
 

D
a
te
s
 o
f 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

C
O
2
 E
m
is
s
io
n
s
 i
n
q
u
ir
y
 

 
C
llr
 A
n
d
e
rs
o
n
 

C
llr
 A
 B
la
c
k
b
u
rn
 

F
ir
s
t 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 h
e
ld
 

1
/1
1
/0
7
 

O
th
e
r 
T
B
C
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 90



L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

 
F
O

R
W

A
R

D
 P

L
A

N
 O

F
 K

E
Y
 D

E
C

IS
IO

N
S

 
F
o
r 
th
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 1
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7
 t
o
 2
9
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
8
 

 

K
e
y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
s
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 M

a
k
e
r 

E
x
p
e
c
te

d
 

D
a
te

 o
f 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
  

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 b

e
 

C
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
 

M
a
k
e
r 

L
e
a
d
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

(T
o
 w
h
o
m
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 m
a
d
e
) 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 A
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 

L
o
n
g
 T
e
rm
 C
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
H
ir
e
 o
f 

V
e
h
ic
le
s
 

T
o
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
a
 

fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
t 

fo
r 
th
e
 l
o
n
g
 t
e
rm
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
 

h
ir
e
 o
f 
v
e
h
ic
le
s
  

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

 

1
/1
1
/0
7
 

P
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

  

T
e
n
d
e
r 
D
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
 

 
D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 A
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 

th
e
 S
p
o
t 
h
ir
e
 o
f 
V
e
h
ic
le
s
 

w
it
h
o
u
t 
D
ri
v
e
rs
 

T
o
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
a
 

fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
t 

fo
r 
th
e
 s
p
o
t 
h
ir
e
 o
f 

v
e
h
ic
le
s
 w
it
h
o
u
t 
d
ri
v
e
rs
. 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

 

1
/1
1
/0
7
 

P
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

  

T
e
n
d
e
r 
D
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
 

 
D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

 

B
e
e
s
to
n
 H
ill
 a
n
d
 H
o
lb
e
c
k
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 P
F
I 
S
c
h
e
m
e
 

T
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 s
u
b
m
is
s
io
n
 o
f 

th
e
 O
u
tl
in
e
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 C
a
s
e
 t
o
 

C
L
G
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
 :
 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 

a
n
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
) 

 

1
4
/1
1
/0
7
 

W
a
rd
 M
e
m
b
e
rs
, 
A
ir
e
 

V
a
lle
y
 H
o
m
e
s
 L
e
e
d
s
, 

R
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 (
c
o
m
p
le
te
d
) 

  

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m
a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 

 

Page 91



 
K

e
y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
s
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 M

a
k
e
r 

E
x
p
e
c
te

d
 

D
a
te

 o
f 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
  

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 b

e
 

C
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
 

M
a
k
e
r 

L
e
a
d
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

(T
o
 w
h
o
m
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 m
a
d
e
) 

A
re
a
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
R
e
v
ie
w
 

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
 r
e
p
o
rt
 c
o
v
e
ri
n
g
 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
re
a
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 C
it
y
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

th
e
 1
0
 A
re
a
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
s
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
: 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 

a
n
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
) 

 

1
4
/1
1
/0
7
 

A
ll 
e
le
c
te
d
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
 

h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 

a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
is
 w
o
rk
 

  

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m
a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 

th
e
 a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 

 

B
e
e
s
to
n
 G
ro
u
p
 R
e
p
a
ir
 (
p
h
a
s
e
 4
) 

T
o
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 i
n
je
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
£
2
.0
9
9
m
 

o
f 
R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
 

m
o
n
e
y
 a
n
d
 £
2
3
3
.3
k
 f
ro
m
 o
w
n
e
r 

o
c
c
u
p
ie
rs
 a
n
d
 t
o
 a
u
th
o
ri
s
e
 

S
c
h
e
m
e
 E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
£
2
.3
3
3
m
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
: 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 

a
n
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
) 

 

1
4
/1
1
/0
7
 

   

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m
a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 

th
e
 a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 

 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
H
o
lb
e
c
k
, 
P
h
a
s
e
 

3
 
A
u
th
o
ri
s
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 

e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 t
o
 t
h
e
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 

£
2
m
. 
A
u
th
o
ri
s
e
 o
ff
ic
e
rs
 t
o
 

c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
 a
c
q
u
is
it
io
n
 o
f 

p
ro
p
o
e
rt
ie
s
 b
y
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 

a
g
re
e
m
e
n
t.
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
: 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 

a
n
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
) 

 

1
4
/1
1
/0
7
 

   

T
h
e
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
to
 b
e
 

is
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 

m
a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 

th
e
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 

 

H
o
m
e
 E
n
e
rg
y
 C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 A
c
t 

1
1
th
 R
e
p
o
rt
 

A
p
p
ro
v
a
l 
fo
r 
re
le
a
s
e
 t
o
 D
E
F
R
A
, 

s
ig
n
in
g
 o
ff
 b
y
 C
h
ie
f 
O
ff
ic
e
r 
p
ri
o
r 

to
 r
e
le
a
s
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 3
0
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 

d
e
a
d
lin
e
 a
n
d
 f
o
r 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

th
e
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
: 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 

a
n
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
) 

 

1
9
/1
2
/0
7
 

N
o
n
e
 

  

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m
a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 

th
e
 a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 

 

Page 92



 
K

e
y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
s
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 M

a
k
e
r 

E
x
p
e
c
te

d
 

D
a
te

 o
f 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
  

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 b

e
 

C
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
 

M
a
k
e
r 

L
e
a
d
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

(T
o
 w
h
o
m
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 m
a
d
e
) 

H
e
a
d
in
g
le
y
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 S
c
h
o
o
l 

M
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 a
re
 

a
s
k
e
d
: 
i.
 t
o
 a
d
v
is
e
 i
f 
th
e
y
 w
is
h
 t
o
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 r
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fr
o
m
 H
e
a
d
in
g
le
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
T
ru
s
t 
(H
D
T
) 
to
 b
e
 

g
iv
e
n
 a
n
 i
n
-p
ri
n
c
ip
le
 a
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
th
a
t 

th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
w
ill
 g
ra
n
t 
a
 l
o
n
g
-

le
a
s
e
h
o
ld
 i
n
te
re
s
t 
a
t 
n
il 
p
re
m
iu
m
 

a
n
d
 a
t 
a
 p
e
p
p
e
rc
o
rn
 r
e
n
t 
s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 

th
e
 T
ru
s
t 
d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
ti
n
g
 b
y
 3
0
 J
u
n
e
 

2
0
0
8
 t
h
a
t 
it
’s
 f
u
ll 
fu
n
d
in
g
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

T
ru
s
t 
a
g
re
e
in
g
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 o
n
 a
ll 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ty
 f
o
r 

d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 

fr
o
m
 t
h
e
 H
e
a
d
in
g
le
y
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

C
e
n
tr
e
 f
o
r 
a
 p
e
ri
o
d
 o
f 
2
5
 y
e
a
rs
. 
 

ii.
 t
o
 a
d
v
is
e
 i
f 
th
e
y
 w
is
h
 t
o
 a
c
c
e
p
t 
th
e
 

re
q
u
e
s
t 
fr
o
m
 H
D
T
 f
o
r 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
to
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 T
ru
s
t’
s
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 A
s
s
e
t 
T
ra
n
s
fe
r 
F
u
n
d
 

a
n
d
, 
if
 M
e
m
b
e
rs
 d
o
 d
e
te
rm
in
e
 t
o
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 T
ru
s
t:
 

iii
. 
s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 t
h
e
 T
ru
s
t 
b
e
in
g
 a
b
le
 t
o
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
 i
t’
s
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

a
n
d
 o
p
e
n
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 H
E
A
R
T
 

c
e
n
tr
e
 t
o
 i
n
s
tr
u
c
t 
o
ff
ic
e
rs
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
, 
a
t 
a
n
d
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 

ti
m
e
, 
fo
r 
th
e
 d
is
p
o
s
a
l 
o
f 
th
e
 

H
e
a
d
in
g
le
y
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 C
e
n
tr
e
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
: 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 

a
n
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
) 

 

1
4
/1
1
/0
7
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
–
 O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
0
7
  

  

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m
a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 

th
e
 a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
it
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

 

 

Page 93



  N
O

T
E

S
 

 K
e
y
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
  
a
re
 t
h
o
s
e
 e
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
: 

•
 
w
h
ic
h
 r
e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 i
n
c
u
rr
in
g
 e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 o
r 
m
a
k
in
g
 s
a
v
in
g
s
 o
v
e
r 
£
5
0
0
,0
0
0
 p
e
r 
a
n
n
u
m
, 
o
r 

•
 
a
re
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
e
ff
e
c
t 
o
n
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 l
iv
in
g
 o
r 
w
o
rk
in
g
 i
n
 a
n
 a
re
a
 c
o
m
p
ri
s
in
g
 t
w
o
 o
r 
m
o
re
 w
a
rd
s
 

 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B

o
a
rd

 P
o
rt

fo
li
o
s
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 M

e
m

b
e
r 

 

C
e
n
tr
a
l 
a
n
d
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
M
a
rk
 H
a
rr
is
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
A
n
d
re
w
 C
a
rt
e
r 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
S
te
v
e
 S
m
it
h
 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 a
n
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
J
o
h
n
 L
e
s
lie
 C
a
rt
e
r 

L
e
is
u
re
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
J
o
h
n
 P
ro
c
te
r 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
  

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
R
ic
h
a
rd
 B
re
tt
 

L
e
a
rn
in
g
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
R
ic
h
a
rd
 H
a
rk
e
r 

A
d
u
lt
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
P
e
te
r 
H
a
rr
a
n
d
 

L
e
a
d
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 L
a
b
o
u
r 
G
ro
u
p
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
K
e
it
h
 W
a
k
e
fi
e
ld
 

L
e
a
d
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 M
o
rl
e
y
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
G
ro
u
p
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
R
o
b
e
rt
 F
in
n
ig
a
n
 

A
d
v
is
o
ry
 M
e
m
b
e
r 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
J
u
d
it
h
 B
la
k
e
 

 In
 c
a
s
e
s
 w
h
e
re
 K
e
y
 D
e
c
is
io
n
s
 t
o
 b
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 b
y
 t
h
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 a
re
 n
o
t 
in
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P
la
n
, 
5
 d
a
y
s
 n
o
ti
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 i
n
te
n
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 s
u
c
h
 

d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 g
iv
e
n
 b
y
 w
a
y
 o
f 
th
e
 a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 
 

Page 94



   
L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

 
B

U
D

G
E

T
 A

N
D

 P
O

L
IC

Y
 F

R
A

M
E

W
O

R
K

 D
E

C
IS

IO
N

S
 

 D
e
c
is

io
n
s
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 M

a
k
e
r 

E
x
p
e
c
te

d
 D

a
te

 o
f 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 b

e
 

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 M

a
k
e
r 

L
e
a
d
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

  
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 N
O

T
E

S
: 

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 C
o
n
s
ti
tu
ti
o
n
, 
in
 A
rt
ic
le
 4
, 
d
e
fi
n
e
s
 t
h
o
s
e
 p
la
n
s
 a
n
d
 s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 w
h
ic
h
 m
a
k
e
 u
p
 t
h
e
 B
u
d
g
e
t 
a
n
d
 P
o
lic
y
 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
. 
D
e
ta
ils
 o
f 
th
e
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
re
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 F
o
rw
a
rd
 P
la
n
 a
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 B
u
d
g
e
t 
a
n
d
 P
o
lic
y
 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
. 
 

 F
u
ll 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
( 
a
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
f 
a
ll 
M
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il)
 a
re
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 f
o
r 
th
e
 a
d
o
p
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 B
u
d
g
e
t 
a
n
d
 P
o
lic
y
 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
. 

Page 95



Page 96

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	7 Minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	8 Minutes of the Executive Board
	17 Oct 07

	9 Performance Report Quarter 2 2007/08
	Guidance on Indicators
	Indicators

	10 Outcomes of Research into the Housing Market in Leeds
	Report
	Presentation

	11 Rodent Control in Leeds
	12 CO2 Emissions
	Note of Working Group

	13 Work Programme
	Work Programme
	Forward Plan


